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SIMON PROPERTY GROUP, INC

FROM THE CHAIRMAN, CEO &PRESIDENT

DEAR FELLOW
SHAREHOLDERS,

By and large, | don’t reflect on the past, including Simon Property
Group’s (“SPG”, “Simon” or the “Company”) accomplishments; however,
milestones, including anniversaries, are a time to reflect. They also can
provide perspective and help guide future actions. In other words, learn
from mistakes made and double down on what has been successful.
Here at SPG, we have done that and learned where we are proficient

and where we need to improve.

With that in mind, December 2023 marked three decades since
Simon became a publicly traded company. It is with a sense of
accomplishment that | address you on this significant milestone in our
Company’s history. This 30-year journey has been an adventure (some
may call it a rollercoaster) of growth, resilience, perseverance, and
innovation in becoming the world’s preeminent owner and operator
of best-in-class retail real estate properties, with scale.

From those early days of being public

to SPG’s 30th anniversary, our successes
are testaments to the collective efforts,
vision, and unwavering support of many.

Our ability to navigate the ups and
downs of the last 30 years and hone

in on what our core competencies are,
while learning from missteps, has led

to the Company we have today. We are
strong, prosperous and poised for future
growth. We embraced our past, but
our instincts were to grow in scale and
quality, find new markets and product
types, create a fortress balance sheet,
and innovate (think outside the box).
Always focused on both the micro (how
to make the property better) and the
macro (positioning the Company for
decades to come). We met challenges
with determination, capitalized on
opportunities when we identified them
and maintained our relentless pursuit
of operating excellence. Some fun facts
backing this up:

From our base of 115 properties

in 1993, we have acquired more
than 300 properties, developed
more than 50 and disposed of
approximately 250, resulting in our
current domestic portfolio of 215
high-quality properties. The average
occupancy of our portfolio increased
from 85.6% to 95.8%; retailer sales
productivity increased from $240
per square foot to $743 per square
foot; and average base minimum rent
increased from $16.91to $56.82.

We expanded globally and today have
35 international outlets, including
world-renowned outlets in Asia.

Our portfolio is differentiated by
product type, geography, and
enclosed and open-air centers,
primarily located in large and
growing catchment areas.

We are the largest landlord to the
world’s most important retailers as
we are focused on a well-curated
merchandise mix that generates
high sales productivity.



Desert Hills Premium Outlets, Cabazon, CA

e QOur diversified tenant mix is
always changing and adapting, best
illustrated by the fact that, compared
to 30 years ago, only one retailer
at that time is still a current top 10
tenant. Evolving retailers is the only
constant and is not feared, but part of
our everyday business as it allows us
to meet the ever-changing demands
of the consumer.

Growth can lead to over-expansion

that risks the financial soundness of a
company and, let’s face it, we have seen
this with other real estate companies

in our sector time and again. This

has not happened at SPG as our top
management team and strong balance
sheet (always a priority) enabled us

to grow, but also manage through
exogenous events, such as the Great
Financial Crisis and Covid, as well as
seismic changes in our industry including
the growth of digital commerce.

Consistent outperformance in cash
flow growth, value creation and returns
to shareholders, have been, and we
expect will continue to be, hallmarks

of Simon. We are committed to our

leasing activities, efficient property
management, rigorous capital allocation
criteria, and a disciplined capital
structure. This commitment enables

us to produce impressive financial
results and maintain flexibility so we
can be opportunistic. It is with great
appreciation and admiration for the
entire organization that | would like to
highlight some of our achievements over
the last three decades (1993 — 2023):

e Consolidated revenue increased
from $424 million to nearly
$5.7 billion (9% CAGR).

e Funds from Operations (“FFO”),
an important industry measure,
increased 30-times, from
approximately $150 million to
nearly $4.7 billion (12% CAGR).

e QOur beneficial interest of combined
Net Operating Income (“NOI”)
has increased from approximately
8300 million to more than
$6.2 billion (11% CAGR).

e Total market capitalization has
increased from approximately
$3 billion to $90 billion.

e Our balance sheet became investment
grade rated in 1995 and has received
an A rating since 2006.
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We have paid over $42 billion
in dividends to shareholders.

e Ownership of SPG common
stock provided a total return
to shareholders of 3,100%.

During the last 30 years, many pundits
have tried to kill off retail real estate
(especially enclosed malls) and yet, even
with the drumbeat of these constant
naysayers, this has only made us more
focused, determined to prove them
wrong. The combination of our historical
successes and our vision of where we
want to take SPG in the future reinforces
our optimism.

We have shopping centers in our portfolio
that have been in business for more than
60 years. These centers are still growing
today, with many generating $100 million
or more in annual NOI, as they are in
great locations, have a large and loyal
customer base, and have a diverse set of
tenants. No other real estate type has the
longevity, including the NOI generation
and embedded future growth, that these
centers have. Yes, they change, evolve,
adapt, but they grow! Our portfolio
cannot be replaced and is undervalued.
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The Forum Shops at Caesars Palace, Las Vegas, NV

When you consistently grow over multiple
decades, no matter the economic cycles
or competition you face, you develop an
understanding of your strengths and who
you are. This understanding, coupled with
our conviction, will fuel future growth.
We continually set the bar higher as
property owners and stewards of capital.
This is not new, and after 30 years, it’s fun
to look back, at least momentarily; but
more importantly, we are positioned to
make our future even more prosperous.

With that backdrop, let’s turn to our
2023 highlights.

FINANCIAL RESULTS AND
OPERATING METRICS

We posted record and sector-leading
financial results in 2023, including:

e Consolidated revenue increased
approximately 7% to $5.66 billion.

e Net income was $2.28 billion,
or $6.98 per diluted share.

e FFO was $4.69 billion, or $12.51
per diluted share (record).

e Our share of Domestic Property
NOI grew 4.8%, or $240 million
year-over-year, to $5.26 billion (record).

IV SIMON PROPERTY GROUP, INC

e Our share of Portfolio NOI, including
international properties on a constant
currency basis, grew 4.9%, or
$258 million, to $5.57 billion (record).

e \We generated approximately
$1.8 billion of cash flow, after our
dividend payments of $2.8 billion.

e Occupancy for our U.S. Malls and
Premium Outlets® increased 90 basis
points and ended the year at 95.8%,
The Mills® occupancy ended the year
at 97.8% and Taubman Realty Group
(“TRG”) ended at 95.7%.

e Reported retailer sales for our U.S.
Malls and Premium Outlets were
$743 per square foot. The Mills and
TRG recorded sales levels of $677
per square foot and $1,132 per square
foot, respectively.

e The total return on our stock,
including dividends, was more than
29% and outperformed the S&P 500.

DEVELOPMENT INCLUDING
THE ADDITION OF MIXED-USE
COMPONENTS

e \We completed thirteen redevelopment
projects across all our platforms in the
U.S. during the year.

e \We opened 36 anchor/specialty
tenants in 2023 and expect to open
at least 50 over the next two years.

e \We continue to add mixed-use
components to our market-leading
real estate with more than 750 hotel
and residential units to open in 2024
and 2025 at high-quality centers
such as St. Johns Town Center in
Jacksonville, Florida, and Northgate
Station in Seattle, Washington; with
entitlements for approximately 2,200
units/keys to be added over the next
several years.

e \We continue to build new projects.
We will open a new Premium Outlet
Center in Tulsa, Oklahoma, in the fall
of this year.

e Supply and demand are in our favor
(less supply and more demand); given
our financial strength, we continue
to look at specific high-quality new
development. We can build while
others need to rely on construction
financing and that is a tall order in
today’s financial climate.

INTERNATIONAL

e QOur international portfolio includes
23 Premium Outlets and 12 Designer
Outlets in 13 countries, a 22.4%
interest in Klépierre (which owns
more than 130 properties in 14
European countries), and four mall
properties in Asia.



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31
OPERATING DATA (IN MILLIONS)
Consolidated Revenue

Funds from Operations (FFO)

PER SHARE DATA

Net Income Per Diluted Share
FFO Per Diluted Share
Dividends Per Share

Common Stock Price at December 31

STOCK AND LIMITED PARTNERSHIP UNITS
OUTSTANDING

Shares of Common Stock (in thousands)
Limited Partnership Units (in thousands)

Total Common Stock and Limited Partnership Units

Total Equity Capitalization (in millions)

Total Market Capitalization® (in millions)

OTHER DATA®

Total Number of Properties in the U.S.
U.S. Square Footage (in thousands)

Total Number of International Properties

International Square Footage (in thousands)

(1) Including our share of consolidated and joint venture debt.

2023

$ 5,659
$ 4,686

$ 6.98
$ 1251
$ 7.45
$ 142.64

325,920
48,914
374,834

$ 53,537
$ 89,973

195
171,770
35
1,715

2022

$ 5,291
$ 4481

$ 652
$ 1.95
$ 6.90
$ 11748

326,954
47,303
374,257

$ 44,041
$ 75,566

196
172,623
34
11,487

(2) We also owned an 84% interest in The Taubman Realty Group (TRG) which owns 24 regional, super-regional, and outlet malls in the U.S. and Asia.

Consolidated Beneficial Interest FFO Per
Revenue of Combined NOI Diluted Share
$ in billion $ in billion
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This annual report contains a number of forward-looking statements. For more information, refer to the
Company’s fourth quarter and full-year 2023 results and SEC filings on our website at investors.simon.com.
This report also references non-GAAP financial measures including funds from operations, or FFO, and net
operating income, or NOI. These financial measures are commonly used in the real estate industry and we
believe they provide useful information to investors when used in conjunction with GAAP measures. For a
definition of FFO and reconciliations of each of the non-GAAP measures used in this report to the most
directly comparable GAAP measure, refer to the Company’s fourth quarter and full-year 2023 results and
SEC filings under Financials / Quarterly Reports at investors.simon.com.

Dividends
Declared Per

$6.00
$5.85
$6.90
$7.45

19 20 21 22 23

Scan the QR code For more
for Simon’s 2022 information,
Sustainability Report. visit simon.com.
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Sawgrass Mills, Sunrise, FL

“Consistent
outperformance in
cash flow growth, value
creation and returnsto
shareholders, have
been, and we expect
will continue to be,
hallmarks of Simon.”

e \We opened Paris-Giverny Designer
Outlet, a 228,000 square foot center
located in Vernon, France, our second
outlet in France.

e We have a significant expansion
under construction in South Korea at
the highly productive Busan Premium
Outlets, expected to open in the fall
of this year.

e \We have one new international
development project under
construction: Jakarta Premium
Outlets in Indonesia, expected to
open in 2025. Indonesia will be the
fourteenth country in which we have
developed a Premium Outlet. We can
build from Tulsa to Jakarta. Few can.

LEASING

e \We executed more than 4,500 leases
totaling over 18 million square feet
across the portfolio.

VI SIMON PROPERTY GROUP, INC

We continued the expansion of
luxury and highly desirable fashion
brands across our portfolio as we
executed multiple deals with many
of the world’s best brands. During
2023, we executed deals with
Bottega Veneta, Breitling, Celine,
Christian Louboutin, David Yurman,
Etro, Givenchy, Gucci, Saint Laurent,
and Tag Heuer, to name a few.

With brick-and-mortar stores as

the cornerstone to any retailer’s
successful strategy, we continued
to open locations for many formerly
online-only growth brands such as
Alo Yoga, FRAME, Gorjana, Glossier,
On, Rowan, Vuori, Warby Parker
and many others.

Restaurant activity is robust with
leading world-class restaurateurs
and best-in-class local operators.
We executed 59 new restaurant
deals and opened 41 restaurants
in 2023, with approximately 100
more in the pipeline.

We added interactive entertainment
operators to our properties, including
Malibu Jack’s, Meow Wolf and Suffolk
Punch, with future openings to include
GameTime, Pinstripes, Puttshack

and Round1. Demand is dramatically
increasing in this category.

MARKETING

e Our marketing efforts aim to

drive awareness, traffic and sales
for brands and retailers at our
properties through robust digital
content, best-in-class programming,
high-impact creative, and strategic
amplification of our storytelling.

Messaging and amplification
strategies are carefully curated
to reach and engage our target
audiences (e.g., Moms, Gen Z,
Tourists, Luxury, Multi-cultural)
and localized for each property
to drive footfall.

We held our second annual National
Outlet Shopping Day™ (“NOSD”)

at 97 properties, including certain
international locations, with over 400
retailer brands participating, providing
more than 5,300 unique offers and/or
experiences. In its second year, NOSD
generated over 3 million shopper
visits and more than 40 million media
impressions. More to come on this
first-to-market innovative event.

We hosted over 4,500 events,
including seasonal shopping
experiences, concert series,
fashion events, back-to-school,
and holiday activations.



National Outlet Shopping Day

e \We added more than 50 placemaking

experiences, such as murals,
sculptures, museum pop-ups, art
shows, photo opportunities and
educational exhibits to successfully
enhance the overall shopping
environment and further solidify our
properties as the preferred gathering
place for our communities.

We generated over 3.5 billion
advertising impressions and 11 million
clicks to Simon websites across all
paid media campaigns, as well as
nearly 550 million views of Simon
content across video-first campaigns
such as back-to-school and holiday.

We developed social media
campaigns resulting in over

900 million impressions and

150 million video views, including

a successful user-generated content
(“UGC”) Holiday TikTok campaign.
Over 950 content creators delivered
nearly 1,000 TikTok videos, resulting
in 82 million impressions over six
weeks across 31 properties.

We expanded the VIP Shopper Club
and Mall Insider programs to over
20 million members, through various
programs including collaborations
with retailers and other brands in

an effort to acquire new members.

e \We garnered more than 4,000 media
hits reaching a total audience of
4.2 billion, including stories around
new stores, events, unique amenities,
back-to-school shopping, holiday
shopping and more.

e \We partnered closely with innovative
brands like TYR Sports, Radio Flyer
and Melissa and Doug, strategically
crafting marketing initiatives that had
a pivotal role in the successful launch

of their first-ever retail store locations.

SIMON BRAND VENTURES

e Simon Brand Ventures provides
brands and retailers with unique
opportunities to engage shoppers
through a variety of media and
activation opportunities tailored to
their specific needs, supported by
an unrivaled team of local, regional
and national sales representatives
committed to delivering turnkey,
results-driven solutions to our clients.

e Our unmatched go-to-market strategy
leads the industry, consistently
outperforming industry benchmarks
and delivering significant impact
for our customers and Company,
including revenue growth of 7% in
2023, which exceeded the previous
record level of 2019.

INNOVATION

e \We complement investments in

our physical product with investments
in emerging technologies that

focus on merging the best of
physical and digital concepts to
create today’s interactive retail
marketplace and enhance the
consumer shopping experience.

An example of this is the
first-of-its-kind Simon Search™

tool, which allows shoppers to
search real-time in-store inventory
from participating stores in our
centers across all of Simon’s digital
touchpoints (web, mobile app and
in-center digital directories). This tool
helps ensure shoppers will be able

to find the exact products they are
looking for when they visit our centers.
Over 70 retailers with more than
4,000 store locations and 1.7 million
product variants participated in 2023
and the list continues to grow. Simon
shoppers conduct more than 2 million
product searches per month, driving
additional exposure, store visits and
sales for participating retailers.

We grew the cardholder base for the
Simon American Express Credit Card
powered by Cardless and enhanced
the value proposition for cardholders,
increasing cash back for all spend in
Simon properties from 3% to 5%.
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SouthPark, Charlotte, NC

e We continued to grow our
omni-channel support services for
retailers and brands in our properties
through reverse logistics capabilities
and micro-fulfillment centers with
Fillogic and omni-channel services
offered by Dropit.

e \We adopted multi-destination
wayfinding within our sites and
apps to help shoppers plan the
most efficient routes for their
shopping trips.

e We continue to invest in technologies
that help reduce our operating costs,
as well as our carbon footprint, and
that will enhance our best-in-class
operating margin.

OTHER PLATFORM
INVESTMENTS

e \We have a long track record of
making smart and profitable non-real
estate investments. We are very
pleased with our investments to
date that have been made in leading
companies and brands involved
in retail operations, intellectual
property assets and licensing, and
e-commerce marketplaces. These
investments are synergistic to our
Company but are not material.

VIl SIMON PROPERTY GROUP, INC

At year-end, we had an ownership
interest in Authentic Brands Group
(“ABG”), a world-class intellectual
property, brand development,
marketing and entertainment
company. The ABG licensing platform
includes more than 50 brands.

Our retail investments include
SPARC Group (“SPARC”) and
JCPenney. SPARC includes seven
brands—Aéropostale, Brooks
Brothers, Eddie Bauer, Forever 21,
Lucky Brand, Nautica and Reebok.
Total sales for these retailers were
approximately $11.5 billion in 2023,
SPARC entered a partnership with
SHEIN, a global integrated online
marketplace for fashion, beauty, and
lifestyle products. Under the terms
of the agreement, SHEIN acquired
an approximate one-third interest
in SPARC Group, reducing our
ownership interest from 50% to 33%.

Shop Premium Outlets (“SPO”), the
preeminent online outlet marketplace,
significantly outpaced expectations,
with gross merchandise value
increasing more than 75% in 2023.
We expect continued growth in SPO
as we add more world-class brands to
the SPO marketplace.

MAGGIANO'S

COMMUNITY IMPACT

e Qur centers are more than places

to shop, dine and be entertained.
We strive to make our shopping
destinations sources of pride for
those that live and work in the
communities we serve through

our involvement, engagement, and
support of their community priorities.

During the year, we connected with
hundreds of nonprofit organizations,
supported disaster relief efforts,
collected over 15,000 donations,
from new/gently used clothing to toys
for the holiday season, and aided in
raising nearly $2.5 million in funds

for events such as Fashion Funds the
Cure for the National Pediatric Cancer
Foundation, Shop with a Cop, military
support for Wreaths Across America,
and Susan G. Komen national Shop
with Purpose Campaign and breast
cancer awareness walks.

We maintained affiliation with Give
Back Box® which provides a convenient
way for consumers to donate gently
used clothing, shoes, and accessories
to help those in need. Donations in
2023 were triple those in 2022 with
over 4,200 boxes shipped.



“We have paid more We have paid more than $42 billion e QOur balance sheet provides a
than $42 billion in in d|V|der?ds over our 30-year history distinct advantage and should not
. . as a public company. At our current be overlooked. We have strong
dividends over our dividend rate, by the second quarter investment grade credit ratings of
30-year history as a of 2024, we will have cumulatively A-/A3, financial flexibility and access
pu blic Company.” paid approximately $135.00 per share to multiple sources of capital that,
in dividends since our IPO. Quite an when coupled with our excess cash
I — impressive number considering that flow, enable us to pursue growth
our IPO price was $22.25 per share! opportunities.
e Our properties deliver more than o ‘o
$5 billion in revenue to state and Our dividend payout ratio i CLOSING

local governments through property
tax payments and sales tax generated
from tenants’ sales. This is greatly
appreciated by the communities
where we operate.

We are most proud of Simon

Youth Foundation (“SYF”), which,

in 2023, celebrated 25 years of
helping thousands of students reach
graduation day each year. Through
32 Simon Youth Academies in 12
states, and in partnership with

local public school districts, SYF
has maintained an average lifetime
graduation rate of 91% with more
than 28,000 students graduated and
has awarded more than $21 million
in scholarships. SYF alumni are
graduates from State and Community
Colleges, Historically Black Colleges
and Universities (HBCUs), and lvy

League schools. We humbly ask for our

shareholders to learn more about SYF

and support the cause (www.syf.org).

RETURNING CAPITAL
TO SHAREHOLDERS

e Capital returned to shareholders in
2023 totaled $2.9 billion, comprised
of $2.8 billion in dividends and
$140 million in share buybacks.

Common stock dividends paid

in 2023 were $7.45 per share, an
increase of 8.0% from 2022, and
we expect to distribute at least $7.80
per share in 2024.

approximately 60% and is
well covered.

Earlier this year, your Board of
Directors authorized a new $2 billion
stock repurchase program.

BALANCE SHEET
e Thoughtful balance sheet

management is a fundamental
strength of our Company, and we
continue to have the strongest
balance sheet in our industry. This is
critical with all the current noise on
the commercial real estate front. Our
ability to access capital is unmatched.

We were highly active in the debt
capital markets, completing more

than $12 billion of financing activities:

- We completed three senior notes
offerings totaling approximately
$3.1 billion.

- We recast and upsized our
primary revolving credit facility
to $5.0 billion.

- We completed $4.0 billion
of secured loan refinancings
and extensions.

Our liquidity was nearly $11 billion
at year-end.

In summary, we have learned a lot over

the past 30 years that will guide us
as we continue to drive SPG forward.

Our business has always changed, and

it will continue to do so, but our people,

our vision, our financial discipline, and

our culture will continue to be our
guiding light. We will continue to be

innovative, creating memorable, unique

experiences for shoppers, retailers and
communities alike. Our sound financial

position will enable us to invest in future

growth opportunities.

| look forward to another rewarding
year in 2024. With the hard work of
my colleagues at Simon we anticipate
delivering the kind of results you, our
shareholders, have come to expect
from us. | want to thank our Board of

Directors for their input and guidance.

| also thank you, our shareholders, for
your support and confidence. Your
comments and thoughts are always
welcome and appreciated.

DAVID SIMON

Chairman,
Chief Executive Officer & President
March 20, 2024
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Jakarta Premium Outlets, Jakarta, Indonesia Paris-Giverny Designer Outlet, Vernon, France

REDEVELOPM

Towne East Square, Wichita, KS Northgate Station, Seattle, WA

The Falls, Miami, FL
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Phipps Plaza, Atlanta, GA

Coral Square, Coral Springs, FL

Sawgrass Mills, Sunrise, FL

Grapevine Mills, Grapevine, TX

The Westchester, White Plains, NY
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EXPLANATORY NOTE

This report combines the annual reports on Form 10-K for the annual period ended December 31, 2023 of Simon
Property Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and Simon Property Group, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership. Unless
stated otherwise or the context otherwise requires, references to “Simon” mean Simon Property Group, Inc. and references
to the “Operating Partnership” mean Simon Property Group, L.P. References to “we,” “us” and “our” mean collectively
Simon, the Operating Partnership and those entities/subsidiaries owned or controlled by Simon and/or the Operating
Partnership.

Simon is a real estate investment trust, or REIT, under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the
Internal Revenue Code. We are structured as an umbrella partnership REIT under which substantially all of our business
is conducted through the Operating Partnership, Simon’s majority-owned partnership subsidiary, for which Simon is the
general partner. As of December 31, 2023, Simon owned an approximate 87.0% ownership interest in the Operating
Partnership, with the remaining 13.0% ownership interest owned by limited partners. As the sole general partner of the
Operating Partnership, Simon has exclusive control of the Operating Partnership’s day-to-day management.

We operate Simon and the Operating Partnership as one business. The management of Simon consists of the same
members as the management of the Operating Partnership. As general partner with control of the Operating Partnership,
Simon consolidates the Operating Partnership for financial reporting purposes, and Simon has no material assets or
liabilities other than its investment in the Operating Partnership. Therefore, the assets and liabilities of Simon and the
Operating Partnership are the same on their respective financial statements.

We believe that combining the annual reports on Form 10-K of Simon and the Operating Partnership into this single
report provides the following benefits:

e enhances investors’ understanding of Simon and the Operating Partnership by enabling investors to view the
business as a whole in the same manner as management views and operates the business;

e eliminates duplicative disclosure and provides a more streamlined presentation since substantially all of the
disclosure in this report applies to both Simon and the Operating Partnership; and

e creates time and cost efficiencies through the preparation of one combined report instead of two separate reports.

We believe it is important for investors to understand the few differences between Simon and the Operating
Partnership in the context of how we operate as a consolidated company. The primary difference is that Simon itself does
not conduct business, other than acting as the general partner of the Operating Partnership and issuing equity or
equity-related instruments from time to time. In addition, Simon itself does not incur any indebtedness, as all debt is incurred
by the Operating Partnership or entities/subsidiaries owned or controlled by the Operating Partnership.

The Operating Partnership holds, directly or indirectly, substantially all of our assets, including our ownership
interests in our joint ventures. The Operating Partnership conducts substantially all of our business and is structured as a
partnership with no publicly traded equity. Except for the net proceeds from equity issuances by Simon, which are
contributed to the capital of the Operating Partnership in exchange for, in the case of common stock issuances by Simon,
common units of partnership interest in the Operating Partnership, or units, or, in the case of preferred stock issuances by
Simon, preferred units of partnership interest in the Operating Partnership, or preferred units, the Operating Partnership,
directly or indirectly, generates the capital required by our business through its operations, the incurrence of indebtedness,
proceeds received from the disposition of certain properties and joint ventures and the issuance of units or preferred units
to third parties.

The presentation of stockholders’ equity, partners’ equity and noncontrolling interests are the main areas of
difference between the consolidated financial statements of Simon and those of the Operating Partnership. The differences
between stockholders’ equity and partners’ equity result from differences in the equity issued at the Simon and Operating
Partnership levels. The units held by limited partners in the Operating Partnership are accounted for as partners’ equity in
the Operating Partnership’s financial statements and as noncontrolling interests in Simon’s financial statements. The
noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partnership’s financial statements include the interests of unaffiliated partners in
various consolidated partnerships. The noncontrolling interests in Simon’s financial statements include the same
noncontrolling interests at the Operating Partnership level and, as previously stated, the units held by limited partners of
the Operating Partnership. Although classified differently, total equity of Simon and the Operating Partnership is the same.



To help investors understand the differences between Simon and the Operating Partnership, this report provides:
e separate consolidated financial statements for Simon and the Operating Partnership;

e a single set of notes to such consolidated financial statements that includes separate discussions of
noncontrolling interests and stockholders’ equity or partners’ equity, accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss) and per share and per unit data, as applicable;

e a combined Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations section
that also includes discrete information related to each entity; and

e separate Partll, Iltem 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer
Purchases of Equity Securities sections related to each entity.

This report also includes separate Part Il, Item 9A. Controls and Procedures sections and separate Exhibits 31 and
32 certifications for each of Simon and the Operating Partnership in order to establish that the requisite certifications have
been made and that Simon and the Operating Partnership are each compliant with Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C. §1350. The separate discussions of Simon and the Operating
Partnership in this report should be read in conjunction with each other to understand our results on a consolidated basis
and how management operates our business.

In order to highlight the differences between Simon and the Operating Partnership, the separate sections in this
report for Simon and the Operating Partnership specifically refer to Simon and the Operating Partnership. In the sections
that combine disclosure of Simon and the Operating Partnership, this report refers to actions or holdings of Simon and the
Operating Partnership as being “our” actions or holdings. Although the Operating Partnership is generally the entity that
directly or indirectly enters into contracts and joint ventures, holds assets and incurs debt, we believe that references to

we,” “us” or “our” in this context is appropriate because the business is one enterprise and we operate substantially all of
our business through the Operating Partnership.
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Part |
Item 1. Business

Simon Property Group, Inc. is a Delaware corporation that operates as a self-administered and self-managed real
estate investment trust, or REIT, under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Internal Revenue Code.
REITs will generally not be liable for U.S. federal corporate income taxes as long as they distribute not less than 100% of
their REIT taxable income. Simon Property Group, L.P. is our majority-owned Delaware partnership subsidiary that owns
all of our real estate properties and other assets. Unless stated otherwise or the context otherwise requires, references to
"Simon" mean Simon Property Group, Inc. and references to the "Operating Partnership" mean Simon Property Group,
L.P. References to "we," "us" and "our" mean collectively Simon, the Operating Partnership and those entities/subsidiaries
owned or controlled by Simon and/or the Operating Partnership. According to the Operating Partnership's partnership
agreement, the Operating Partnership is required to pay all expenses of Simon.

We own, develop and manage premier shopping, dining, entertainment and mixed-use destinations, which consist
primarily of malls, Premium Outlets®, and The Mills®. As of December 31, 2023, we owned or held an interest in
195 income-producing properties in the United States, which consisted of 93 malls, 69 Premium Outlets, 14 Mills, six
lifestyle centers, and 13 other retail properties in 37 states and Puerto Rico. We also own an 84% noncontrolling interest
in The Taubman Realty Group, LLC, or TRG, which has an interest in 24 regional, super-regional, and outlet malls in the
U.S. and Asia. Internationally, as of December 31, 2023, we had ownership interests in 35 Premium Outlets and Designer
Outlet properties primarily located in Asia, Europe and Canada. As of December 31, 2023, we also owned a 22.4% equity
stake in Klépierre SA, or Klépierre, a publicly traded, Paris-based real estate company, which owns, or has an interest in,
shopping centers located in 14 countries in Europe. We also own investments in retail operations (J.C. Penney and SPARC
Group); an intellectual property and licensing venture (Authentic Brands Group, LLC, or ABG); an e-commerce venture
(Rue Gilt Groupe, or RGG), and Jamestown (a global real estate investment and management company), collectively, our
other platform investments.

For a description of our operational strategies and developments in our business during 2023, see Item 7,
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of this Form 10-K.

Other Policies

The following is a discussion of our investment policies, financing policies, conflict of interest policies and policies
with respect to certain other activities. One or more of these policies may be amended or rescinded from time to time
without a stockholder vote.

Investment Policies

While we emphasize equity real estate investments, we may also provide secured financing to or invest in equity or
debt securities of other entities engaged in real estate activities or securities of other issuers consistent with Simon’s
qualification as a REIT. However, any of these investments would be subject to the percentage ownership limitations and
gross income tests necessary for REIT qualification. These REIT limitations mean that Simon cannot make an investment
that would cause its real estate assets to be less than 75% of its total assets. Simon must also derive at least 75% of its
gross income directly or indirectly from investments relating to real property or mortgages on real property, including “rents
from real property,” dividends from other REITs and, in certain circumstances, interest from certain types of temporary
investments. In addition, Simon must also derive at least 95% of its gross income from such real property investments, and
from dividends, interest and gains from the sale or dispositions of stock or securities or from other combinations of the
foregoing.

Subject to Simon’s REIT limitations, we may invest in the securities of other issuers in connection with acquisitions
of indirect interests in real estate. Such an investment would normally be in the form of general or limited partnership or
membership interests in special purpose partnerships and limited liability companies that own one or more properties. We
may, in the future, acquire all or substantially all of the securities or assets of other REITs, management companies or
similar entities where such investments would be consistent with our investment policies. Additionally we have and may in
the future make investments in entities engaged in non-real estate activities, primarily through a taxable REIT subsidiary,
similar to the investments we currently hold in certain retail operations.



Financing Policies

Because Simon’s REIT qualification requires us to distribute at least 90% of its REIT taxable income, we regularly
access the debt markets to raise the funds necessary to finance acquisitions, develop and redevelop properties, and
refinance maturing debt. We must comply with the covenants contained in our financing agreements that limit our ratio of
debt to total assets or market value, as defined. For example, the Operating Partnership’s lines of credit and the indentures
for the Operating Partnership’s debt securities contain covenants that restrict the total amount of debt of the Operating
Partnership to 65%, or 60% in relation to certain debt, of total assets, as defined under the related agreements, and secured
debt to 50% of total assets. In addition, these agreements contain other covenants requiring compliance with financial
ratios. Furthermore, the amount of debt that we may incur is limited as a practical matter by our desire to maintain
acceptable ratings for the debt securities of the Operating Partnership. We strive to maintain investment grade ratings at
all times for various business reasons, including their effect on our ability to access attractive capital, but we cannot assure
you that we will be able to do so in the future.

If Simon’s Board of Directors determines to seek additional capital, we may raise such capital by offering equity or
incurring debt, creating joint ventures with existing ownership interests in properties, entering into joint venture
arrangements for new development projects, retaining cash flows or a combination of these methods. If Simon’s Board of
Directors determines to raise equity capital, it may, without stockholder approval, issue additional shares of common stock
or other capital stock. Simon’s Board of Directors may issue a number of shares up to the amount of our authorized capital
or may issue units in any manner and on such terms and for such consideration as it deems appropriate. We may also
raise additional capital by issuing common units of partnership interest in the Operating Partnership, or units. Such
securities also may include additional classes of Simon'’s preferred stock or preferred units of partnership interest in the
Operating Partnership, or preferred units, which may be convertible into common stock or units, as the case may be.
Existing stockholders and unitholders have no preemptive right to purchase shares or units in any subsequent issuances
of securities by us. Any issuance of equity could dilute a stockholder’s investment in Simon or a limited partner’s investment
in the Operating Partnership.

We expect most future borrowings will be made through the Operating Partnership or its subsidiaries. We might,
however, incur borrowings through other entities that would be reloaned to the Operating Partnership. Borrowings may be
in the form of bank borrowings, publicly and privately placed debt instruments, or purchase money obligations to the sellers
of properties. Any such indebtedness may be secured or unsecured. Any such indebtedness may also have full or limited
recourse to the borrower or be cross-collateralized with other debt, or may be fully or partially guaranteed by the Operating
Partnership. We issue unsecured debt securities through the Operating Partnership, but we may issue other debt securities
which may be convertible into common or preferred stock or be accompanied by warrants to purchase common or preferred
stock. We also may sell or securitize our lease receivables. Although we may borrow to fund the payment of dividends, we
currently have no expectation that we will regularly do so.

The Operating Partnership has a $5.0 billion unsecured revolving credit facility, or the Credit Facility, and a $3.5
billion supplemental unsecured revolving credit facility, or Supplemental Facility, or together, the Credit Facilities. The Credit
Facility can be increased in the form of additional commitments in an aggregate amount not to exceed $1.0 billion, for a
total aggregate size of $6.0 billion, subject to obtaining additional lender commitments and satisfying certain customary
conditions precedent. The initial maturity date of the Credit Facility is June 30, 2027. The Credit Facility can be extended
for two additional six-month periods to June 30, 2028, at our sole option, subject to satisfying certain customary conditions
precedent.

Borrowings under the Credit Facility bear interest, at our election, at either (i) (x) for Term Benchmark Loans, the
Adjusted Term SOFR Rate, the applicable Local Rate, the Adjusted EURIBOR Rate, or the Adjusted TIBOR Rate, (y) for
RFR Loans, if denominated in Sterling, SONIA plus a benchmark adjustment and if denominated in Dollars, Daily Simple
SOFR plus a benchmark adjustment, or (z) for Daily SOFR Loans, the Adjusted Floating Overnight Daily SOFR Rate, in
each case of clauses (x) through (z) above, plus a margin determined by our corporate credit rating of between 0.650%
and 1.400% or (ii) for loans denominated in U.S. Dollars only, the base rate (which rate is equal to the greatest of the prime
rate, the federal funds effective rate plus 0.500% or Adjusted Term SOFR Rate for one month plus 1.000%) (the “Base
Rate”), plus a margin determined by our corporate credit rating of between 0.000% and 0.400%. The Credit Facility includes
a facility fee determined by our corporate credit rating of between 0.100% and 0.300% on the aggregate revolving
commitments under the Credit Facility. Based upon our current credit ratings, the interest rate on the Credit Facility is
SOFR plus 72.5 basis points, plus a spread adjustment to account for the transition from LIBOR to SOFR.

The Supplemental Facility’s initial borrowing capacity of $3.5 billion may be increased to $4.5 billion during its term.
The initial maturity date of the Supplemental Facility is January 31, 2026 and can be extended for an additional year to
January 31, 2027 at our sole option, subject to our continued compliance with the terms thereof.



Borrowings under the Supplemental Facility bear interest, at our election, at either (i) (x) for Term Benchmark Loans,
the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate, the applicable Local Rate, the Adjusted EURIBOR Rate, or the Adjusted TIBOR Rate,
(y) for RFR Loans, if denominated in Sterling, SONIA plus a benchmark adjustment and if denominated in Dollars, Daily
Simple SOFR plus a benchmark adjustment, or (z) for Daily SOFR Loans, the Adjusted Floating Overnight Daily SOFR
Rate, in each case of clauses (x) through (z) above, plus a margin determined by our corporate credit rating of between
0.650% and 1.400% or (ii) for loans denominated in U.S. Dollars only, the base rate (which rate is equal to the greatest of
the prime rate, the federal funds effective rate plus 0.500% or Adjusted Term SOFR Rate for one month plus 1.000%) (the
“Base Rate”), plus a margin determined by our corporate credit rating of between 0.000% and 0.400%. The Supplemental
Facility includes a facility fee determined by our corporate credit rating of between 0.100% and 0.300% on the aggregate
revolving commitments under the Supplemental Facility. Based upon our current credit ratings, the interest rate on the
Supplemental Facility is SOFR plus 72.5 basis points, plus a spread adjustment to account for the transition from LIBOR
to SOFR.

The Operating Partnership also has available a global unsecured commercial paper note program, or Commercial
Paper program, of $2.0 billion, or the non-U.S. dollar equivalent thereof. The Operating Partnership may issue unsecured
commercial paper notes, denominated in U.S. dollars, Euro and other currencies. Notes issued in non-U.S. currencies may
be issued by one or more subsidiaries of the Operating Partnership and are guaranteed by the Operating Partnership.
Notes are sold under customary terms in the U.S. and Euro commercial paper note markets and rank (either by themselves
or as a result of the guarantee described above) pari passu with the Operating Partnership’s other unsecured senior
indebtedness. The Commercial Paper program is supported by the Credit Facilities and, if necessary or appropriate, we
may make one or more draws under the Credit Facilities to pay amounts outstanding from time to time on the Commercial
Paper program.

We may also finance our business through the following:

¢ issuance of shares of common stock or preferred stock or warrants to purchase the same;
¢ issuance of additional units;

¢ issuance of preferred units;

¢ issuance of other securities, including unsecured notes and mortgage debt;

e draws on our Credit Facilities;

¢ borrowings under the Commercial Paper program; or

¢ sale or exchange of ownership interests in properties.

The Operating Partnership may also issue units to contributors of properties or other partnership interests which
may permit the contributor to defer tax gain recognition under the Internal Revenue Code.

We do not have a policy limiting the number or amount of mortgages that may be placed on any particular property.

Mortgage financing instruments, however, typically limit additional indebtedness on such properties. Additionally,
the Credit Facilities, our unsecured note indentures and other contracts may limit our ability to borrow and contain limits on
mortgage indebtedness we may incur as well as certain financial covenants we must maintain.

Typically, we invest in or form special purpose entities to assist us in obtaining secured permanent financing at
attractive terms. Permanent financing may be structured as a mortgage loan on a single property, or on a group of
properties, and generally requires us to provide a mortgage lien on the property or properties in favor of an institutional
third party, as a joint venture with a third party, or as a securitized financing. For securitized financings, we create special
purpose entities to own the properties. These special purpose entities, which are common in the real estate industry, are
structured so that they would not be consolidated in a bankruptcy proceeding involving a parent company. We decide upon
the structure of the financing based upon the best terms then available to us and whether the proposed financing is
consistent with our other business objectives. For accounting purposes, we include the outstanding securitized debt of
special purpose entities owning consolidated properties as part of our consolidated indebtedness.

Conflict of Interest Policies

We maintain policies and have entered into agreements designed to reduce or eliminate potential conflicts of
interest. Simon has adopted governance principles governing the function, conduct, selection, orientation and duties of its
subsidiaries and Simon’s Board of Directors and the Company, as well as written charters for each of the standing



Committees of Simon’s Board of Directors. In addition, Simon’s Board of Directors has a Code of Business Conduct and
Ethics, which applies to all of its officers, directors, and employees and those of its subsidiaries. At least a majority of the
members of Simon’s Board of Directors must qualify, and do qualify, as independent under the listing standards of the New
York Stock Exchange, or NYSE, and cannot be affiliated with the Simon family, who are significant stockholders in Simon
and/or unitholders in the Operating Partnership. In addition, the Audit and Compensation and Human Capital Committees
of Simon’s Board of Directors are comprised entirely of independent members who meet the additional independence and
financial expert requirements of the NYSE as required.

The sale by the Operating Partnership of any property that it owns may have an adverse tax impact on the Simon
family or other limited partners of the Operating Partnership. Any transaction between us and the Simon family, including
property acquisitions, service and property management agreements and retail space leases, must be approved by the
Company’s Audit Committee.

In order to avoid any conflict of interest, the Simon charter requires that at least three-fourths of Simon’s independent
directors must authorize and require the Operating Partnership to sell any property it owns. Any such sale is subject to
applicable agreements with third parties. A noncompetition agreement executed by Herbert Simon, Simon’s Chairman
Emeritus, and a noncompetition agreement executed by David Simon, Simon’s Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and
President, which remains in effect notwithstanding the expiration of David Simon’s employment agreement in 2019, contain
covenants limiting their ability to participate in certain shopping center activities.

Policies With Respect To Certain Other Activities

We intend to make investments which are consistent with Simon’s qualification as a REIT, unless Simon’s Board of
Directors determines that it is no longer in Simon’s best interests to so qualify as a REIT. Simon’s Board of Directors may
make such a determination because of changing circumstances or changes in the REIT requirements. Simon has authority
to issue shares of its capital stock or other securities in exchange for property. We also have authority to repurchase or
otherwise reacquire Simon’s shares, the Operating Partnership’s units, or any other securities. On May 9, 2022, Simon’s
Board of Directors authorized a common stock repurchase plan commencing on May 16, 2022, or the Repurchase
Program. Under the program, the Company may purchase up to $2.0 billion of its common stock during the two-year period
ending May 16, 2024 in open market or privately negotiated transactions, at prices that the Company deems appropriate
and subject to market conditions, applicable law, and other factors deemed relevant in the Company’s sole discretion. On
February 8 ,2024, Simon’s Board of Directors authorized a new common stock repurchase program which replaces the
existing Repurchase Program immediately, where the Company may purchase up to $2.0 billion of its common stock over
the next 24 months. As Simon repurchases shares under these programs, the Operating Partnership repurchases an equal
number of units from Simon. Simon may also issue shares of its common stock, or pay cash at its option, to holders of units
in future periods upon exercise of such holders’ rights under the partnership agreement of the Operating Partnership. Our
policy prohibits us from making any loans to the directors or executive officers of Simon for any purpose. We may make
loans to the joint ventures in which we participate. Additionally, we may make or buy interests in loans secured by real
estate properties owned by others or make investments in companies that own real estate assets.

Competition

The retail real estate industry is dynamic and competitive. We compete with numerous merchandise distribution
channels, including malls, outlet centers, community/lifestyle centers, and other shopping centers in the United States and
abroad. We also compete with internet retailing sites and catalogs, including our tenants, which provide retailers with
distribution options beyond existing brick and mortar retail properties. The existence of competitive alternatives, accelerated
by the impact of COVID-19, could have a material adverse effect on our ability to lease space and on the level of rents we
can obtain. This results in competition for both the tenants to occupy the properties that we develop and manage as well
as for the acquisition of prime sites (including land for development and operating properties). We believe that there are
numerous factors that make our properties highly desirable to retailers, including:

¢ the quality, location and diversity of our properties;
e our management and operational expertise;

e our extensive experience and relationships with retailers, lenders and suppliers;

our marketing initiatives and consumer focused strategic corporate alliances; and

the sustainability of physical retail.



Certain Activities
During the past three years, we have:
e issued 61,251 shares of Simon common stock upon the exchange of units in the Operating Partnership;

o issued 579,197 restricted shares of Simon common stock and 72,442 long-term incentive performance units, or
LTIP units, net of forfeitures, under the Simon Property Group, L.P. 2019 Stock Incentive Plan, or the 2019 Plan;

e purchased 3,103,755 shares of Simon common stock in the open market for $321.0 million pursuant to our
Repurchase Program;

¢ issued 1,725,000 units in the Operating Partnership as part of the consideration for the acquisition of an additional
4% interest in TRG, bringing our noncontrolling ownership interest in TRG to 84%;

¢ redeemed 144,686 units in the Operating Partnership at an average price of $121.61 per unit in cash;

e amended the Credit Facility to transition the borrowing rates from LIBOR to successor benchmark indexes in
November 2021;

e amended, restated, extended, and increased our existing $4.0 billion unsecured revolving credit facility on
March 14, 2023 with a new $5.0 billion unsecured revolving credit facility.

e amended, restated, and extended the Supplemental Facility in October 2021;

e borrowed a maximum amount of $3.2 billion under the Credit Facilities; the outstanding amount of borrowings
under the Credit Facility was $305.0 million as of December 31, 2023. There were no borrowings under the
Supplemental Facility as of December 31, 2023;

¢ there were no outstanding borrowings of Commercial Paper notes as of December 31, 2023; and

¢ provided annual reports containing financial statements audited by our independent registered public accounting
firm and quarterly reports containing unaudited financial statements to our security holders.

Human Capital

At December 31, 2023, we and our affiliates employed approximately 3,000 persons at various properties and
offices throughout the United States, of which approximately 500 were part-time. Approximately 1,000 of these employees
were located at our corporate headquarters in Indianapolis, Indiana.

We believe our employees are the driving force behind our success. To ensure we continue to attract, develop and
retain the best talent across the organization, we invest in our employees and provide equal opportunities. We offer a
variety of ongoing talent programs that foster continual development, high performance and overall organizational
effectiveness, including a series of leadership development programs. We conduct an annual talent-assessment process
for selected business functions within our corporate and field organizations that includes plans for individual employee
career development and long-term leadership succession, and also conduct an annual performance appraisal process for
all regular employees.

We are focused on providing a work environment that is free from any form of discrimination or harassment for any
protected class and also embraces principles of inclusiveness. We have implemented a sustainable diversity and inclusion
strategy, including an internal policy, targeted solutions for employees and an annual process of assessment, action and
evaluation led by our human resources department.

Our compensation program is designed to, among other things, attract, retain and motivate talented and
experienced individuals using a mix of competitive salaries, bonuses, equity based awards and other benefits.

Government Regulations Affecting Our Properties

We are subject to federal, state and local environmental regulations that apply generally to the ownership of real
property and the operations conducted on real property. As of December 31, 2023, we are not aware of any environmental
conditions or material costs of complying with environmental or other regulations that would have a material adverse effect
on our overall business, financial condition, or results of operations. However, it is possible that we are not aware of, or
may become subject to, potential environmental liabilities or material costs of complying with governmental regulations that
could be material. See further discussion in Item 1A. Risk Factors.



Corporate Headquarters

Our corporate headquarters are located at 225 West Washington Street, Indianapolis, Indiana 46204, and our
telephone number is (317) 636-1600.

Available Information

Simon is a large accelerated filer (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or
the Exchange Act) and is required, pursuant to ltem 101 of Regulation S-K, to provide certain information regarding our
website and the availability of certain documents filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the
SEC. Our Internet website address is www.simon.com. Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q,
current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Exchange Act are available or may be accessed free of charge through the “About Simon/Investor Relations” section of
our Internet website as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the
SEC. Our Internet website and the information contained therein or connected thereto are not, and are not intended to be,
incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The following corporate governance documents are also available through the “About Simon/Investor Relations/
Governance” section of our Internet website or may be obtained in print form by request of our Investor Relations
Department: Governance Principles, Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, Audit Committee Charter, Compensation and
Human Capital Committees Charter, and Governance and Nominating Committee Charter.

In addition, we intend to disclose on our Internet website any amendments to, or waivers from, our Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics that are required to be publicly disclosed pursuant to rules of the SEC and the NYSE.

Information about our Executive Officers

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to Simon’s executive officers as of February 22, 2024.

Name Age Position

David Simon. .......... ... .. .. .. ... 62 Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and President
JohnRulli........................... 67  Chief Administrative Officer

StevenE. Fivel....................... 63  General Counsel and Secretary

BrianJ.McDade ..................... 44  Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
AdamJ.Reuille .......... ... .. ... 49  Senior Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer

Donald G.Frey....................... 48 Treasurer and Executive Vice President

KevinM.Kelly ....................... 43 Assistant General Counsel and Assistant Secretary

The executive officers of Simon serve at the pleasure of Simon’s Board of Directors.

Mr. Simon has served as the Chairman of Simon’s Board of Directors since 2007, Chief Executive Officer of Simon
or its predecessor since 1995 and assumed the position of President in 2019. Mr. Simon has also been a director of Simon
or its predecessor since its incorporation in 1993. Mr. Simon was the President of Simon’s predecessor from 1993 to 1996.
He is the nephew of Herbert Simon.

Mr. Rulli serves as Simon’s Chief Administrative Officer. Mr. Rulli joined Melvin Simon & Associates, Inc., or MSA,
in 1988 and held various positions with MSA and Simon thereafter. Mr. Rulli became Chief Administrative Officer in 2007
and was promoted to Senior Executive Vice President in 2011.

Mr. Fivel serves as Simon’s General Counsel and Secretary. Prior to rejoining Simon in 2011 as Assistant General
Counsel and Assistant Secretary, Mr. Fivel served as Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary of
Brightpoint, Inc. Mr. Fivel was previously employed by MSA from 1988 until 1993 and then by Simon from 1993 to 1996.
Mr. Fivel was promoted to General Counsel and Secretary in 2017.

Mr. McDade serves as Simon’s Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. Mr. McDade joined Simon in
2007 as the Director of Capital Markets and was promoted to Senior Vice President of Capital Markets in 2013 and
Treasurer in 2014. He was promoted to Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer in 2018.

Mr. Reuille serves as Simon’s Senior Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer and prior to that as Simon'’s Vice
President and Corporate Controller. Mr. Reuille joined Simon in 2009 and was promoted to Senior Vice President and Chief
Accounting Officer in 2018.
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Mr. Frey serves as Simon’s Treasurer and Executive Vice President. Mr. Frey joined Simon in 2010 and most
recently served as Simon’s Assistant Treasurer and Senior Vice President prior to his current position which he was
promoted to in 2022. Before joining Simon, Mr. Frey was an attorney with Alston & Bird LLP and Dechert LLP.

Mr. Kelly serves as Simon’s Assistant General Counsel and Assistant Secretary. Mr. Kelly joined Simon in 2015 as
Senior Finance Counsel and was promoted to Senior Associate, General Counsel in 2020 prior to his current position which
he was promoted to in 2022. Prior to joining Simon, Mr. Kelly was an attorney with Sidley Austin, LLP and Fried, Frank,
Harris, Shriver & Jacobson.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

The following factors, among others, could cause our actual results to differ materially from those expressed or
implied in forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and presented elsewhere by our
management from time to time. These factors may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
liquidity, results of operations, funds from operations, or FFO, and prospects, which we refer to herein as a material adverse
effect on us or as materially and adversely affecting us, and you should carefully consider them. Additional risks and
uncertainties not presently known to us or which are currently not believed to be material may also affect our actual results.
We may update these factors in our future periodic reports.

Summary of Risk Factors

The following summarizes our material risk factors. However, this summary is not intended to be a comprehensive
and complete list of all risk factors identified by the Company. Refer to the following pages of this section for additional
details regarding these summarized risk factors and other additional risk factors identified by the Company.

e Conditions that adversely affect the general retail environment could materially and adversely affect us.

e  Some of our properties depend on anchor stores or other large nationally recognized tenants to attract shoppers
and we could be materially and adversely affected by the loss of one or more of these anchors or tenants.

o  We face potential adverse effects from tenant bankruptcies.
e Vacant space at our properties could materially and adversely affect us.

¢ We may not be able to lease newly developed properties to or renew leases and relet space at existing
properties with an appropriate mix of tenants or at desired rents, if at all.

e Acts of violence, civil unrest or criminal activity, actual or threatened terrorist attacks and inappropriate and
unacceptable behavior by consumers at our properties could adversely affect our business operations.

e We face a wide range of competition that could affect our ability to operate profitably, including e-commerce,
and the evolution of consumer preferences and purchasing habits.

e Epidemics, pandemics or other public health crisis, and governmental reactions thereto, could have a significant
negative impact on our and our tenants’ business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flow and
liquidity and our ability to access the capital markets, satisfy our debt service obligations and make distributions
to our shareholders.

e  Some of our properties are subject to potential natural or other disasters.
o  We face risks associated with climate change.
e  Some of our potential losses may not be covered by insurance.

e As owners of real estate, we can face liabilities for environmental contamination, and our efforts to identify
environmental liabilities may not be successful.

o  We face risks associated with the acquisition, development, redevelopment and expansion of properties.
o Real estate investments are relatively illiquid.

e Simon and certain subsidiaries of the Operating Partnership have elected to be taxed as REITs in the United
States. The failure to maintain Simon’s or the Subsidiary REITs’ qualifications as REITs or changes in
applicable tax laws or regulations could result in adverse tax consequences.

e If the Operating Partnership fails to qualify as a partnership for federal income tax purposes, we will cease to
qualify as a REIT and suffer other adverse consequences.
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Complying with REIT requirements might cause us to forgo otherwise attractive acquisition opportunities or
liquidate otherwise attractive investments.

Our ownership of TRSs is subject to certain restrictions, and we will be required to pay a 100% penalty tax on
certain income or deductions if our transactions with our TRSs are not conducted on arm’s-length terms.

Dividends payable by REITs generally do not qualify for the reduced tax rates available for some dividends,
which may negatively affect the value of our shares.

The tax imposed on REITs engaging in “prohibited transactions” may limit our ability to engage in transactions
which would be treated as sales for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

REIT distribution requirements could adversely affect our liquidity and our ability to execute our business plan.
Partnership tax audit rules could have a material adverse effect on us.

Legislative, administrative, regulatory or other actions affecting REITs, including positions taken by the IRS,
could have a material adverse effect on us and our investors.

Provisions in Simon’s charter and by-laws and in the Operating Partnership’s partnership agreement could
prevent a change of control.

We have a substantial debt burden that could affect our future operations.

The agreements that govern our indebtedness contain various covenants that impose restrictions on us that
might affect our ability to operate freely.

Disruption in the capital and credit markets may increase the cost of capital and may adversely affect our ability
to access external financings for our growth and ongoing debt service requirements.

Adverse changes in our credit ratings could affect our borrowing capacity and borrowing terms.

An increase in interest rates would increase our interest costs on variable rate debt and could adversely impact
our ability to refinance existing debt on attractive terms, or at all; our hedging interest rate protection
arrangements may not effectively limit our interest rate risk.

We have limited control with respect to some properties that are partially owned or managed by third parties,
which may adversely affect our ability to sell or refinance them.

The Operating Partnership guarantees debt or otherwise provides support for a number of joint venture
properties.

An increased focus on metrics and reporting related to environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) factors,
may impose additional costs and expose us to new risks.

Our success depends, in part, on our ability to attract, motivate, retain and develop talented employees, and
our failure to do so, including the loss of any one of our key personnel, could adversely impact our business.

We face risks associated with security breaches through cyber-attacks, cyber intrusions or otherwise, as well
as other significant disruptions of our computer systems, hardware, technology infrastructure, online sites and
related systems.

Our international activities may subject us to risks that are different from or greater than those associated with
our domestic operations.

Risk Related to Tenant Operations at Our Properties

Conditions that adversely affect the general retail environment could materially and adversely affect us.

Our primary source of revenue is derived from retail tenants which means that we could be materially and adversely
affected by conditions that materially and adversely affect the retail environment generally, including, without limitation:

domestic issues, such as government policies and regulations, tariffs, energy prices, market dynamics, rising
interest rates, inflation and limited growth in consumer income as well as from actual or perceived changes in
economic conditions, which can result from global events such as international trade disputes, a foreign debt
crisis, foreign currency volatility, natural disasters, war, such as the war in Ukraine and the conflict in Israel,
Gaza and surrounding areas, epidemics and pandemics, the fear of spread of contagious diseases, civil unrest
and terrorism;
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e levels of consumer spending, changes in consumer confidence, income levels, and fluctuations in seasonal
spending in the United States and internationally;

e supply chain disruptions and labor shortages;

e consumers avoiding in-person shopping generally, or at certain properties, due to a heightened level of concern
for safety in public places, whether due to consumer perception of increased risk of criminal activity and civil
unrest, including acts of terrorism, riots, random acts of violence, mass shootings, organized retail crime or
inappropriate or unacceptable behavior of other patrons, or due to heightened sensitivity to risks associated
with transmission of disease, as occurred during the COVID-19 pandemic;

e consumer perceptions of the safety, convenience and attractiveness of our properties;

e the impact on our retail tenants and demand for retail space at our properties from the increasing use of the
Internet by retailers and consumers;

e the creditworthiness of our retail tenants and the availability of new creditworthy tenants and the related impact
on our occupancy levels and lease income;

e local real estate conditions, such as an oversupply of, or reduction in demand for, retail space or retail goods,
decreases in rental rates and declines in real estate values;

o the willingness of retailers to lease space in our properties at attractive rents, or at all;

e changes in regional and local economies, which may be affected by increased rates of unemployment,
increased foreclosures, higher taxes, decreased tourism, industry slowdowns, adverse weather conditions, and
other factors;

e increased operating costs and capital expenditures, whether from acquisitions, developments, redevelopments,
replacing tenants or otherwise;

e reductions in international travel and tourism, resulting in fewer international retail consumers;

e changes in government policies and applicable laws and regulations, including tax, environmental, safety and
zoning and political inefficiencies; and

e epidemics, pandemics or other public health crises, like the COVID-19 pandemic, and the governmental
reaction thereto.

To the extent that any or a portion of these conditions occur, they are likely to impact the retail industry, our retail
tenants, the emergence of new tenants, our own investments in certain retailers and brands, the demand for retail space,
market rents and rent growth, the vacancy levels at our properties, the value of our properties, which could directly or
indirectly materially and adversely affect our financial condition, operating results and overall asset value.

Additionally, a portion of our lease income is derived from overage rents based on sales over a stated base amount
that directly depend on the sales volume of our retail tenants. Accordingly, declines in our tenants’ sales performance could
reduce the income produced by our properties. Over time, declines in our tenants’ sales performance can also negatively
impact our ability to sign new and renewal leases at desired rents.

Some of our properties depend on anchor stores or other large nationally recognized tenants to attract
shoppers and we could be materially and adversely affected by the loss of one or more of these anchors or tenants.

Our properties are typically anchored by department stores and other large nationally recognized tenants. Certain
of our anchors and other tenants have ceased their operations, downsized their brick-and-mortar presence or failed to
comply with their contractual obligations to us and others.

Sustained adverse pressure on the results of department stores and other national retailers may have a similarly
sustained adverse impact upon our own results. Certain department stores and other national retailers have experienced,
and may continue to experience for the foreseeable future (given uncertainty with respect to current and future
macroeconomic conditions and consumer confidence levels), considerable decreases in customer traffic in their retail
stores, increased competition from alternative retail options such as those accessible via the Internet and other forms of
pressure on their business models. As pressure on these department stores and other national retailers increases, their
ability to maintain their stores, meet their obligations both to us and to their external lenders and suppliers, withstand
takeover attempts or avoid bankruptcy and/or liquidation may be impaired and result in closures of their stores or their
seeking of a lease modification with us. Any lease modification could be unfavorable to us as the lessor and could decrease
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current or future effective rents or expense recovery charges. Certain other tenants are entitled to modify the economic or
other terms of, or terminate, their existing leases with us in the event of such closures. Additionally, corporate merger or
consolidation activity among department stores and other national retailers typically results in the closure of duplicate or
geographically overlapping store locations.

If a department store or large nationally recognized tenant were to close its stores at our properties, we may
experience difficulty and delay and incur significant expense in re-tenanting the space, as well as in leasing spaces in areas
adjacent to the vacant store, at attractive rates, or at all. Additionally, department store or tenant closures may result in
decreased customer traffic, which could lead to decreased sales at our properties. If the sales of stores operating in our
properties were to decline significantly due to the closing of anchor stores or other national retailers, adverse economic
conditions or other reasons, tenants may be unable to pay their minimum rents or expense recovery charges. In the event
of any default by a tenant, we may not be able to fully recover, and/or may experience delays and costs in enforcing our
rights as landlord to recover, amounts due to us under the terms of our leases with such parties.

We face potential adverse effects from tenant bankrupftcies.

Bankruptcy filings by retailers can occur regularly in the course of our operations. Although we have not seen an
increase in tenant bankruptcies in the last few years, in previous years a number of companies in the retail industry,
including certain of our tenants, declared bankruptcy. If a tenant files for bankruptcy, the tenant may have the right to reject
and terminate one or more of its leases with us, and we cannot be sure that it will affirm one or more of its leases and
continue to make rental payments to us in a timely manner. A bankruptcy filing by, or relating to, one of our tenants would
generally prohibit us from evicting this tenant, and bar all efforts by us to collect pre-bankruptcy debts from that tenant, or
from their property, unless we receive an order permitting us to do so from the bankruptcy court. In addition, we cannot
evict a tenant solely because of its bankruptcy. If a lease is assumed by the tenant in bankruptcy, all pre-bankruptcy
balances due under the lease must be paid to us in full. If a lease is rejected, the unsecured claim we hold against a
bankrupt tenant might be paid only to the extent that funds are available and only in the same percentage as is paid to all
other holders of unsecured claims, and there are restrictions under bankruptcy laws that limit the amount of the claim we
can make if a lease is rejected. As a result, it is likely that we would recover substantially less than the full value of any
unsecured claims we hold. In addition, we may make lease modifications either pre- or post-bankruptcy for certain tenants
undergoing significant financial distress in order for them to continue as a going concern. Furthermore, we may be required
to incur significant expense in re-tenanting the space formerly leased to the bankrupt tenant. We continually seek to re-
lease vacant spaces resulting from tenant terminations. The bankruptcy of a tenant, particularly an anchor tenant or a
national tenant with multiple locations, may require a substantial redevelopment of its space, the success of which cannot
be assured, and may make the re-tenanting of its space difficult and costly. Any such bankruptcies also make it more
difficult to lease the remainder of the space at the affected property or properties. Future tenant bankruptcies may strain
our resources and impact our ability to successfully execute our re-leasing strategy and could materially and adversely
affect us.

Vacant space at our properties could materially and adversely affect us.

Certain of our properties have had vacant space available for prospective tenants, and those properties may
continue to experience, and other properties may commence experiencing, such oversupply in the future. Among other
causes, (1) in recent years there had been an increased number of bankruptcies of anchor stores and other national
retailers, as well as store closures, and (2) there has been lower demand from retail tenants for space, due to certain
retailers increasing their use of e-commerce websites to distribute their merchandise. As a result of the increased
bargaining power of creditworthy retail tenants, there is downward pressure on our rental rates and occupancy levels, and
this increased bargaining power may also result in us having to increase our spend on tenant improvements and potentially
make other lease modifications in order to attract or retain tenants, any of which, in the aggregate, could materially and
adversely affect us.

We may not be able to lease newly developed properties to or renew leases and relet space at existing
properties with an appropriate mix of tenants or at desired rents, if at all.

We may not be able to lease new properties to an appropriate mix of tenants that generates optimal customer traffic.
Also, when leases for our existing properties expire, the premises may not be relet or the terms of reletting, including the
cost of allowances and concessions to tenants, may be less favorable than the current lease terms. Tenant preferences
for properties may also change over time, like recent trends towards right-sizing portfolios, repositioning space and
locations and pursuing new store concepts, and our properties may no longer align with such preferences. If we fail to
identify and secure the right blend of tenants at our newly developed and existing properties that offer diversified categories
and uses, such as retail, specialty entertainment, restaurants, and health and wellness, and that keep up with evolving
customer preferences, our properties may not appeal to the communities they serve. If we elect to pursue a “mixed use”
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redevelopment we expose ourselves to risks associated with each non-retail use (e.g., office, residential, hotel and
entertainment), and the performance of our retail tenants in such properties may be negatively impacted by delays in
opening and/or the performance of such non-retail uses. Additionally, an oversupply of space in the trade areas in which
our properties operate could reduce market rents, negatively impacting the terms upon which we lease our properties. To
the extent that our leasing goals are not achieved, we could be materially and adversely affected.

Acts of violence, civil unrest or criminal activity, actual or threatened terrorist attacks and inappropriate
and unacceptable behavior by consumers at our properties could adversely affect our business operations.

Because our properties are open to the public, they are exposed to risks related to acts of violence, civil unrest and
criminal activity as well as actual or threatened terrorist attacks that may be beyond our control or ability to prevent, and
recently there has been an increased risk of organized retail crime and physical violence, the severity and frequency of
which varies by market and location. If any of these incidents were to occur, the relevant property could face material
damage physically and reputationally, and the revenue generated by such property could be negatively impacted.
Consumers may also perceive a heightened threat of these risks due to increased crime in certain markets and negative
media attention. Concern around safety risk may impact the willingness of consumers, tenants and tenants’ employees to
shop and/or work at our properties, which could result in decreased consumer foot traffic and decreased sales at our
properties, directly and indirectly impacting our revenue and overall asset value.

We face a wide range of competition that could affect our ability to operate profitably, including e-
commerce, and the evolution of consumer preferences and purchasing habits.

Our properties compete with other forms of retailing such as pure online retail websites as well as other types of
retail properties such as single user freestanding discounters (Costco, Walmart and Target). In addition, many of our
tenants are omni-channel retailers who also distribute their products through online sales and provide options to consumers
like buy online pick up in store, buy online ship to store or buy online return to store. Our business currently is predominantly
reliant on consumer demand for shopping at physical stores, and our business could be materially and adversely affected
if we are unsuccessful in adapting our business to evolving consumer purchasing habits. The increased popularity of digital
and mobile technologies has accelerated the transition of a percentage of market share from shopping at physical stores
to web-based shopping, and the COVID-19 pandemic and restrictions intended to prevent its spread significantly increased
the utilization of e-commerce and may, particularly in certain market segments, accelerate the long-term penetration of
pure online retail. Although a brick-and-mortar presence may have a positive impact on retailers’ online sales, the increased
utilization of pure online shopping may lead to the closure of underperforming stores by retailers, which could impact our
occupancy levels and the rates that tenants are willing to pay to lease our space. Additionally, the increase in online
shopping may result in certain tenants underreporting sales at our properties which may materially and adversely impact
our collection of overage rent. Examples may include, retailers and restaurants not reporting curbside pick-up sales or
online sales fulfilled with store inventory, and tenants reducing store sales by including online returns processed in the
store

Epidemics, pandemics or other public health crisis, and governmental reactions thereto, could have a
significant negative impact on our and our tenants’ business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flow
and liquidity and our ability to access the capital markets, satisfy our debt service obligations and make
distributions to our shareholders.

Epidemics, pandemics or other health crises could have, a material negative impact on economic and market
conditions around the world and an adverse impact on economic activity in retail real estate, as occurred during the height
of the COVID-19 pandemic. Governments and other authorities could respond to epidemics, pandemics or other health
crises, by imposing or re-imposing measures intended to control the spread of disease, including restrictions on freedom
of movement, group gatherings and business operations such as travel bans, border closings, business closures,
quarantines, stay-at-home, shelter-in-place orders, density limitations and social distancing measures. Although we cannot
determine the severity of any such measures in the future, which depend on the government's recognition of the negative
impacts on local communities and infrastructure resulting from future mandates and associated government responses,
any restrictions could negatively impact us, our tenants and consumer behavior.

Demand for retail space and the profitability of our properties depends, in part, on the ability and willingness of
tenants to enter into and perform obligations under leases, and the willingness of customers to visit our properties. Even
without strict governmental restrictions, such as those put in place during the COVID-19 pandemic, the willingness of
consumers to visit our properties may be reduced and our tenants’ businesses adversely affected, based upon many
factors, including local transmission rates of disease, the development, availability, distribution, effectiveness and
acceptance of existing and new vaccines, the effectiveness and availability of cures or treatments, and overall sensitivity
to risks associated with the transmission of diseases. In addition, some of our properties are located at or within a close
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proximity to tourist destinations, and these properties and our tenants’ businesses may be heavily and adversely impacted
by reductions in travel and tourism resulting from travel bans or restrictions and general concern regarding the risk of travel,
as was the case during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Additionally, the impact of epidemics, pandemics or other public health crises, and governmental reactions thereto,
on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, liquidity and ability to satisfy our debt service
obligations and make distributions to our shareholders could depend on additional factors, including:

o the financial condition and viability of our tenants, and their ability or willingness to pay rent in full;

e state, local, federal and industry-initiated tenant relief efforts that may adversely affect landlords, including us,
and their ability to collect rent and/or enforce remedies for the failure to pay rent;

e the increased popularity and further utilization of e-commerce;

e our ability to renew leases or re-lease available space in our properties on favorable terms or at all, including
as a result of a deterioration in the economic and market conditions in the markets in which we own properties
or due to restrictions intended to prevent the spread of disease, including any government mandated closures
of businesses that frustrate our leasing activities;

e asevere and prolonged disruption and instability in the global financial markets, including the debt and equity
capital markets, which may affect our or our tenants' ability to access capital necessary to fund our or their
respective business operations or repay, refinance or renew maturing liabilities on a timely basis, on attractive
terms, or at all and may adversely affect the valuation of financial assets and liabilities, any of which could
affect our and our tenants' ability to meet liquidity and capital expenditure requirements;

e a refusal or failure of one or more lenders under our existing or future credit facilities to fund their respective
financing commitment to us may affect our ability to access capital necessary to fund our business operations
and to meet our liquidity and capital expenditure requirements;

e areduction in the cash flows generated by our properties and the values of our properties that could result in
impairments or limit our ability to dispose of them at attractive prices or obtain debt financing secured by our
properties;

¢ the complete or partial closure of one or more of our tenants' manufacturing facilities or distribution centers,
temporary or long-term disruption in our tenants' supply chains from local and international suppliers and/or
delays in the delivery of our tenants' inventory, any of which could reduce or eliminate our tenants' sales, cause
the temporary closure of our tenants' businesses, and/or result in their bankruptcy or insolvency;

e a negative impact on consumer discretionary spending caused by high unemployment levels, reduced
economic activity or a severe or prolonged recession;

e our and our tenants' ability to manage our respective businesses to the extent our and their management or
personnel (including on-site employees) are impacted in significant numbers or are otherwise not willing,
available or allowed to conduct work, including any impact on our tenants' ability to deliver timely information
to us that is necessary for us to make effective decisions; and

e our and our tenants' ability to ensure business continuity in the event our or our tenants' continuity of operations
plan is (i) not effective or improperly implemented or deployed or (ii) compromised due to increased cyber and
remote access activity during such epidemic, pandemic or other public health crisis.

To the extent any of these risks and uncertainties adversely impact us in the ways described above or otherwise,
they may also have the effect of heightening many of the other risks described herein.

Risks Related to Real Estate Holdings and Operations
Some of our properties are subject to potential natural or other disasters.

A material amount of our share of NOI is derived in states such as Florida, California, Texas and New York which
are located in areas which may be subject to a higher risk of natural disasters such as tornados, floods, blizzards,
hurricanes, heatwaves, fires, drought, earthquakes or tsunamis. The occurrence of natural disasters at any of our
properties, which could occur more frequently, increase in intensity and may become more volatile in light of climate
change, can adversely impact operations and development/redevelopment projects at our properties, increase investment
costs to repair or replace damaged properties, increase future property insurance costs and negatively impact our tenants
and the tenant demand for lease space. If insurance is unavailable to us or is unavailable on acceptable terms, or our

16



insurance is not adequate to cover losses from these events, we could be materially and adversely affected. Additionally,
the occurrence of natural disasters at our corporate headquarters or one of our satellite offices could affect our ability to
carry on business functions that are critical to our financial and operational viability.

We face risks associated with climate change.

Due to changes in weather patterns caused by climate change, our properties in certain markets including Florida,
California, Texas and New York, where we derive a material amount of our share of NOI could experience increases in
storm intensity, storm frequency and be impacted by rising sea levels. Over time, climate change could result in population
migration or volatile or decreased demand for retail space at certain of our properties or, in extreme cases, our inability to
operate the properties at all. Climate change may also have indirect effects on our business by increasing the cost of (or
making unavailable) insurance on favorable terms, or at all, increasing the cost of energy at our properties or requiring us
to spend funds to repair and protect our properties against such risks.

Some of our potential losses may not be covered by insurance.

We maintain insurance coverage with third-party carriers who provide a portion of the coverage for specific layers
of potential losses, including commercial general liability, fire, flood, extended coverage and rental loss insurance on all of
our properties in the United States as well as cyber coverage. The initial portion of coverage, excess of policy deductibles,
not provided by third-party carriers is either insured through our wholly-owned captive insurance company or other financial
arrangements controlled by us. A third party carrier has, in turn, agreed to provide, if required, evidence of coverage for
this layer of losses under the terms and conditions of the carrier’s policy. A similar policy either written through our captive
insurance company or other financial arrangements controlled by us also provides initial coverage for property insurance
and certain windstorm risks at the properties located in coastal windstorm locations.

There are some types of losses, including lease and other contract claims, which generally are not insured or are
subject to large deductibles. Additionally, insurance costs and availability may be impacted in the future by factors outside
of our control, like inflationary pressures or cybersecurity events. If an uninsured loss or a loss in excess of insured limits
occurs, we could lose all or a portion of the capital we have invested in a property, as well as the anticipated future revenue
it could generate but may remain obligated for any mortgage debt or other financial obligation related to the property.

We currently maintain insurance coverage against acts of terrorism on all of our properties in the United States on an “all
risk” basis in the amount of up to $1 billion. Despite the existence of this insurance coverage, any threatened or actual
terrorist attacks where we operate could materially and adversely affect our property values, revenues, consumer traffic
and tenant sales.

As owners of real estate, we can face liabilities for environmental contamination, and our efforts to identify
environmental liabilities may not be successful.

Many of our properties contain, or at one time contained, asbestos containing materials or underground storage
tanks (primarily related to auto service center establishments or emergency electrical generation equipment), and as a
result we may be subject to regulatory action in connection with U.S. federal, state and local laws and regulations relating
to hazardous or toxic substances. We may also be held liable to third parties for personal injury or property damage incurred
by the parties in connection with any such substances. The costs of investigation, removal or remediation of hazardous or
toxic substances, and related liabilities, may be substantial and could materially and adversely affect us. The presence of
hazardous or toxic substances, or the failure to remediate the related contamination, may also adversely affect our ability
to sell, lease or redevelop a property or to borrow money using a property as collateral.

Although we believe that our portfolio is in substantial compliance with U.S. federal, state and local environmental
laws and regulations regarding hazardous or toxic substances, this belief is based on limited testing. Nearly all of our U.S.
properties have been subjected to Phase | or similar environmental audits. These environmental audits have not revealed,
nor are we aware of, any environmental liability that we believe is reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on us.
However, we cannot assure you that:

e  previous environmental studies with respect to the portfolio reveal all potential environmental liabilities;

e any previous owner, occupant or tenant of a property did not create any material environmental condition not
known to us;

e the current environmental condition of the portfolio will not be affected by tenants and occupants, by the
condition of nearby properties, or by other unrelated third parties; or

e future uses or conditions (including, without limitation, changes in applicable environmental laws and
regulations or the interpretation thereof) will not result in environmental liabilities.
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We face risks associated with the acquisition, development, redevelopment and expansion of properties.

We regularly acquire and develop new properties and redevelop and expand existing properties, and these activities
are subject to various risks. Acquisition or construction costs of a project may be higher than projected, potentially making
the project unfeasible or unprofitable, and development, redevelopment or expansions may take considerably longer than
expected, delaying the commencement and amount of income from the property. These risks, and the potential impact
thereof, may be exacerbated by the volume and complexity of such activity, as well as inflationary pressures, rising interest
rates, supply chain disruptions and labor shortages. We may not be successful in pursuing acquisition, development or
redevelopment/expansion opportunities. In addition, newly acquired, developed or redeveloped/expanded properties may
not perform as well as expected, impacting our anticipated return on investment. We are subject to other risks in connection
with any acquisition, development and redevelopment/expansion activities, including the following:

e we may not be able to obtain financing or to refinance loans on favorable terms, or at all;
e we may be unable to obtain zoning, occupancy or other governmental approvals;
e occupancy rates and rents may not meet our projections and the project may not be accretive;

e we may need the consent of third parties such as department stores, anchor tenants, mortgage lenders and
joint venture partners, and those consents may be withheld;

¢ development, redevelopment or expansions may fail to appeal to the demographics of the communities they
are intended to serve, including a failure to incorporate the appropriate blend of available space for tenants;

e we may not be able to integrate an acquisition into our existing operations successfully; and

e acquisitions of new properties will expose us to the liabilities of those properties, some of which we may not be
aware of at the time of the acquisition.

If a development or redevelopment/expansion project is unsuccessful, either because it is not meeting our
expectations when operational or was not completed according to the project planning, we could lose our investment in the
project. Further, if we guarantee the property’s financing, our loss could exceed our investment in the project.

In the event that these risks were realized at the same time at multiple properties, we could be materially and
adversely affected.

Real estate investments are relatively illiquid.

Our properties represent a substantial portion of our total consolidated assets. These investments are relatively
illiquid. As a result, our ability to sell one or more of our properties or investments in real estate in response to any changes
in economic, industry, or other conditions may be limited. The real estate market is affected by many factors, such as
general economic conditions, availability and terms of financing, interest rates and other factors, including supply and
demand for space, that are beyond our control. If we want to sell a property, we cannot assure you that we will be able to
dispose of it in the desired time period, or at all, or that the sales price of a property will be attractive at the relevant time or
exceed the carrying value of our investment. Moreover, if a property is mortgaged, we may not be able to obtain a release
of the lien on that property without the payment of the associated debt and/or a substantial prepayment penalty, which
could restrict our ability to dispose of the property, even though the sale might otherwise be desirable.

Risks Relating to Income Taxes and REIT Rules

Simon and certain subsidiaries of the Operating Partnership have elected to be taxed as REITs in the United
States. The failure to maintain Simon’s or the Subsidiary REITs’ qualifications as REITs or changes in applicable
tax laws or regulations could result in adverse tax consequences.

In the United States, Simon and certain subsidiaries of the Operating Partnership have elected to be taxed as REITs
under Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code. We believe that Simon and these subsidiaries, or the
Subsidiary REITs, have been organized and have operated in a manner which allows them to qualify for taxation as REITs
under the Internal Revenue Code. We intend to continue to operate in this manner. However, qualification and taxation as
REITs depend upon the ability of Simon and the Subsidiary REITs to satisfy several requirements (some of which are
outside our control), including tests related to our annual operating results, asset diversification, distribution levels and
diversity of stock ownership. The various REIT qualification tests required by the Internal Revenue Code are highly technical
and complex. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that Simon or any of the Subsidiary REITs has operated in
accordance with these requirements or will continue to operate in a manner so as to qualify or remain qualified as a REIT.
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If Simon or any of the Subsidiary REITs fail to comply with those provisions, Simon or any such Subsidiary REIT
may be subject to monetary penalties or ultimately to possible disqualification as REITs. If such events occur, and if
available relief provisions do not apply:

e  Simon or any such subsidiary will not be allowed a deduction for distributions to stockholders in computing
taxable income;

e  Simon or any such subsidiary will be subject to corporate-level income tax on taxable income at the corporate
rate;

e Simon may be subject to the one-percent excise tax on stock repurchases imposed by the 2022 Inflation
Reduction Act;

e Simon or any such Subsidiary REIT could be subject to a federal alternative minimum tax for taxable years
prior to 2018 or for taxable years commencing after December 31, 2022; and

e unless entitled to relief under relevant statutory provisions, Simon or any such subsidiary will also be
disqualified from treatment as a REIT for the four taxable years following the year during which qualification
was lost.

Any such corporate tax liability could be substantial and would reduce the amount of cash available for, among other
things, our operations and distributions to stockholders. In addition, if Simon fails to qualify as a REIT, it will not be required
to make distributions to our stockholders. Moreover, a failure by any Subsidiary REIT could also cause Simon to fail to
qualify as a REIT, and the same adverse consequences would apply to such Subsidiary REIT and its stockholders. Failure
by Simon or any of the Subsidiary REITs to qualify as a REIT also could impair our ability to expand our business and raise
capital, which could materially and adversely affect us. Additionally, we are subject to certain income-based taxes, both
domestically and internationally, and other taxes, including state and local taxes, franchise taxes, and withholding taxes on
dividends from certain of our international investments. We currently follow local tax laws and regulations in various
domestic and international jurisdictions. Should these laws or regulations change, the amount of taxes we pay may increase
accordingly.

If the Operating Partnership fails to qualify as a partnership for federal income tax purposes, we will cease
to qualify as a REIT and suffer other adverse consequences.

We believe that the Operating Partnership is treated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes. As a
partnership, the Operating Partnership is not subject to federal income tax on its income. Instead, each of its partners,
including us, is allocated, and may be required to pay tax with respect to, such partner’s share of its income. We cannot
assure you that the Internal Revenue Service, or the IRS, will not challenge the status of the Operating Partnership, or any
other subsidiary partnership or limited liability company in which we own an interest, as a disregarded entity or partnership
for federal income tax purposes, or that a court would not sustain such a challenge. If the IRS were successful in treating
the Operating Partnership or any such other subsidiary as an entity taxable as a corporation for federal income tax
purposes, we would fail to meet the gross income tests and certain of the asset tests applicable to REITs and, accordingly,
we would likely cease to qualify as a REIT. Also, the failure of the Operating Partnership or any subsidiary partnerships or
limited liability company to qualify as a disregarded entity or partnership for applicable income tax purposes could cause it
to become subject to federal and state corporate income tax, which would reduce significantly the amount of cash available
for debt service and for distribution to its partners or members, including us.

Complying with REIT requirements might cause us to forgo otherwise attractive acquisition opportunities
or liquidate otherwise attractive investments.

To qualify to be taxed as REITs for U.S. federal income tax purposes, Simon and the Subsidiary REITs must ensure
that, at the end of each calendar quarter, at least 75% of the value of their respective assets consist of cash, cash items,
government securities and “real estate assets” (as defined in the Internal Revenue Code), including certain mortgage loans
and securities. The remainder of their respective investments (other than government securities, qualified real estate assets
and securities issued by a taxable REIT subsidiary, or TRS) generally cannot include more than 10% of the outstanding
voting securities of any one issuer or more than 10% of the total value of the outstanding securities of any one issuer.

Additionally, in general, no more than 5% of the value of Simon’s and the Subsidiary REITs’ total assets (other than
government securities, qualified real estate assets and securities issued by a TRS) can consist of the securities of any one
issuer, and no more than 20% of the value of their respective total assets can be represented by securities of one or more
TRSs. If Simon or any of the Subsidiary REITs fails to comply with these requirements at the end of any calendar quarter,
Simon or any such Subsidiary REIT must correct the failure within 30 days after the end of the calendar quarter or qualify
for certain statutory relief provisions to avoid losing its REIT qualification and suffering adverse tax consequences. As a
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result, we might be required to liquidate or forgo otherwise attractive investments. These actions could have the effect of
reducing our income and amounts available for distribution to equity holders. Moreover, if Simon or the Subsidiary REITs
are compelled to liquidate their investments to meet any of the asset, income or distribution tests, or to repay obligations
to lenders, Simon or such subsidiaries may be unable to comply with one or more of the requirements applicable to REITs
or may be subject to a 100% tax on any resulting gain if such sales constitute prohibited transactions.

In addition to the asset tests set forth above, to qualify to be taxed as REITs, Simon and the Subsidiary REITs must
continually satisfy tests concerning, among other things, the sources of their respective income, the amounts they distribute
to equity holders and the ownership of their respective shares. We might be unable to pursue investments that would be
otherwise advantageous to us in order to satisfy the source-of-income or asset-diversification requirements for qualifying
as REITs. Thus, compliance with the REIT requirements may hinder our ability to make certain attractive investments.

Our ownership of TRSs is subject to certain restrictions, and we will be required to pay a 100% penalty tax
on certain income or deductions if our transactions with our TRSs are not conducted on arm’s-length terms.

We own securities in TRSs and may acquire securities in additional TRSs in the future. A TRS is a corporation other
than a REIT in which a REIT directly or indirectly holds stock, and that has made a joint election with such REIT to be
treated as a taxable REIT subsidiary. If a TRS owns more than 35% of the total voting power or value of the outstanding
securities of another corporation, such other corporation will also be treated as a TRS. Other than some activities relating
to lodging and health care facilities, a TRS may generally engage in any business, including the provision of customary or
non-customary services to tenants of its parent REIT. A TRS is subject to federal income tax as a regular C corporation. In
addition, a 100% excise tax will be imposed on certain transactions between a TRS and its parent REIT that are not
conducted on an arm’s-length basis.

A REIT’s ownership of securities of a TRS is not subject to the 5% or 10% asset tests applicable to REITs. Not more
than 25% of the value of Simon’s or any Subsidiary REIT’s total assets may be represented by securities (including
securities of TRSs), other than those securities includable in the 75% asset test, and not more than 20% of the value of
our total assets or the assets of any Subsidiary REIT may be represented by securities of TRSs. We anticipate that the
aggregate value of the stock and securities of any TRS and other nonqualifying assets that Simon or each such Subsidiary
REIT owns will be less than 25% (or, in the case of securities of TRSs, 20%) of the value of Simon’s or such subsidiary’s
total assets, and we will monitor the value of these investments to ensure compliance with applicable ownership limitations.
In addition, we intend to structure transactions with any TRSs that we own to ensure that they are entered into on arm’s-
length terms to avoid incurring the 100% excise tax described above. There can be no assurance, however, that we will be
able to comply with the above limitations or to avoid application of the 100% excise tax discussed above.

Dividends payable by REITs generally do not qualify for the reduced tax rates available for some dividends,
which may negatively affect the value of our shares.

Income from “qualified dividends” payable to U.S. stockholders that are individuals, trusts and estates are generally
subject to tax at preferential rates, currently at a maximum federal rate of 20%. Dividends payable by REITs, however,
generally are not eligible for the preferential tax rates applicable to qualified dividend income. U.S. stockholders that are
individuals, trusts and estates generally may deduct up to 20% of the ordinary dividends (e.g., dividends not designated as
capital gain dividends or qualified dividend income) received from a REIT for taxable years beginning before January 1,
2026. Although this deduction reduces the effective tax rate applicable to certain dividends paid by REITs (generally to
29.6% assuming the shareholder is subject to the 37% maximum rate), such tax rate is still higher than the tax rate
applicable to corporate dividends that constitute qualified dividend income. Accordingly, investors who are individuals,
trusts and estates may perceive investments in REITs to be relatively less attractive than investments in the stocks of non-
REIT corporations that pay dividends, which could materially and adversely affect the value of the shares of REITs,
including the per share trading price of our common stock.

The tax imposed on REITs engaging in “prohibited transactions” may limit our ability to engage in
transactions which would be treated as sales for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

A REIT’s net income from prohibited transactions is subject to a 100% penalty tax. In general, prohibited transactions
are sales or other dispositions of property, other than foreclosure property, held primarily for sale to customers in the
ordinary course of business. Although we do not intend to hold any properties that would be characterized as held for sale
to customers in the ordinary course of our business, such characterization is a factual determination (unless a sale or
disposition qualifies under certain statutory safe harbors), and no guarantee can be given that the IRS would agree with
our characterization of our properties or that we will always be able to make use of the available safe harbors.
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REIT distribution requirements could adversely affect our liquidity and our ability to execute our business
plan.

In order for Simon and the Subsidiary REITs to qualify to be taxed as REITs, and assuming that certain other
requirements are also satisfied, each generally must distribute at least 90% of its REIT taxable income, determined without
regard to the dividends paid deduction and excluding any net capital gains, to their respective equity holders each year. To
the extent that Simon or any such Subsidiary REIT satisfies this distribution requirement and qualifies for taxation as a
REIT, but distributes less than 100% of its REIT taxable income, Simon or such subsidiary will be subject to U.S. federal
corporate income tax on its undistributed net taxable income and could be subject to a 4% nondeductible excise tax if the
actual amount that is distributed to equity holders in a calendar year is less than the minimum required distribution amount.
We intend to make distributions to the equity holders of Simon and the Subsidiary REITs to comply with the REIT
requirements of the Internal Revenue Code.

From time to time, Simon and the Subsidiary REITs might generate taxable income greater than their respective
cash flow as a result of differences in timing between the recognition of taxable income and the actual receipt of cash or
the effect of nondeductible capital expenditures, the creation of reserves, or required debt or amortization payments. If the
applicable REIT does not have other funds available in these situations, it could be required to access capital on
unfavorable terms (the receipt of which cannot be assured), sell assets at disadvantageous prices, distribute amounts that
would otherwise be invested in future acquisitions, capital expenditures or repayment of debt, or make taxable distributions
of capital stock or debt securities to make distributions sufficient to enable it to pay out enough of its REIT taxable income
to satisfy the REIT distribution requirement and avoid corporate income tax and the 4% excise tax in a particular year.
These alternatives could increase costs or reduce our equity. Further, amounts distributed will not be available to fund the
growth of our business. Thus, compliance with the REIT requirements may adversely affect our liquidity and our ability to
execute our business plan.

Partnership tax audit rules could have a material adverse effect on us.

Under the rules applicable to U.S. federal income tax audits of partnerships, subject to certain exceptions, any audit
adjustment to items of income, gain, loss, deduction, or credit of a partnership (and any partner’s distributive share thereof)
is determined, and taxes, interest, or penalties attributable thereto could be assessed and collected, at the partnership
level. Absent available elections, it is possible that a partnership in which we directly or indirectly invest could be required
to pay additional taxes, interest and penalties as a result of an audit adjustment, and we, as a direct or indirect partner of
these partnerships, could be required to bear the economic burden of those taxes, interest, and penalties even though
Simon and the Subsidiary REITs, as REITs, may not otherwise have been required to pay additional corporate-level taxes
had they owned the assets of the partnership directly. The partnership tax audit rules apply to the Operating Partnership
and its subsidiaries that are classified as partnerships for U.S. federal income tax purposes. There can be no assurance
that these rules will not have a material adverse effect on us.

Legislative, administrative, regulatory or other actions affecting REITs, including positions taken by the
IRS, could have a material adverse effect on us and our investors.

The rules dealing with U.S. federal income taxation are constantly under review by persons involved in the legislative
process, and by the IRS and the U.S. Department of the Treasury, or the Treasury. Changes to the tax laws or
interpretations thereof by the IRS and the Treasury, with or without retroactive application, could materially and adversely
affect us and our investors. We cannot predict how changes in the tax laws might affect our investors and us. New
legislation, Treasury regulations, administrative interpretations or court decisions could significantly and negatively affect
the ability of Simon and the Subsidiary REITs to qualify to be taxed as REITs and/or the U.S. federal income tax
consequences to us and our investors of such qualification. Moreover, the law relating to the tax treatment of other entities,
or an investment in other entities, could change, making an investment in such other entities more attractive relative to an
investment in a REIT.

Provisions in Simon’s charter and by-laws and in the Operating Partnership’s partnership agreement could
prevent a change of control.

Simon’s charter contains a general restriction on the accumulation of shares in excess of 8% of its capital stock.
The charter permits the members of the Simon family and related persons to own up to 18% of Simon’s capital stock.
Ownership for such purpose is determined based on the number of outstanding shares, voting power or value controlled,
whichever is most restrictive. Simon’s Board of Directors may, by majority vote, permit exceptions to those levels in
circumstances where it determines that Simon’s ability to qualify as a REIT will not be jeopardized. These restrictions on
ownership may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a transaction or a change in control that might otherwise
be in the best interest of Simon’s stockholders or the Operating Partnership’s unitholders or preferred unitholders. Other
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provisions of Simon’s charter and by-laws could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control even if some
of Simon’s stockholders or the Operating Partnership’s unitholders or preferred unitholders deem such a change to be in
their best interests. These include provisions preventing holders of Simon’s common stock from acting by written consent
and requiring that up to four directors in the aggregate may be elected by holders of Class B common stock. In addition,
certain provisions of the Operating Partnership’s partnership agreement could have the effect of delaying or preventing a
change of control. These include a provision requiring the consent of a majority in interest of units in order for Simon, as
general partner of the Operating Partnership, to, among other matters, engage in a merger transaction or sell all or
substantially all of its assets.

Risks Related to Indebtedness and the Financial Markets
We have a substantial debt burden that could affect our future operations.

As of December 31, 2023, our consolidated mortgages and unsecured indebtedness, excluding related premium,
discount and debt issuance costs, totaled $26.2 billion. As a result of this indebtedness, we are required to use a substantial
portion of our cash flows for debt service, including selected repayment at scheduled maturities, which limits our ability to
use those cash flows to fund the growth of our business. We are also subject to the risks normally associated with debt
financing, including the risk that our cash flows from operations will be insufficient to meet required debt service or that we
will be able to refinance such indebtedness on acceptable terms, or at all. Our debt service costs generally will not be
reduced if developments at the applicable property, such as the entry of new competitors or the loss of major tenants,
cause a reduction in the income from the property. Our indebtedness could also have other adverse consequences on us,
including reducing our access to capital or increasing our vulnerability to general adverse economic, industry and market
conditions. In addition, if a property is mortgaged to secure payment of indebtedness and income from such property is
insufficient to pay that indebtedness, the property could be foreclosed upon by the mortgagee resulting in a loss of income
and a decline in our total asset value. If any of the foregoing occurs, we could be materially and adversely affected.

The agreements that govern our indebtedness contain various covenants that impose restrictions on us
that might affect our ability to operate freely.

We have a variety of unsecured debt, including the Credit Facilities, senior unsecured notes and commercial paper,
and secured property level debt. Certain of the agreements that govern our indebtedness contain covenants, including,
among other things, limitations on our ability to incur secured and unsecured indebtedness, sell all or substantially all of
our assets and engage in mergers and certain acquisitions. In addition, certain of the agreements that govern our
indebtedness contain financial covenants that require us to maintain certain financial ratios, including certain coverage
ratios. These covenants may restrict our ability to pursue certain business initiatives or certain transactions that might
otherwise be advantageous to us. In addition, our ability to comply with these provisions might be affected by events beyond
our control. Failure to comply with any of our financing covenants could result in an event of default, which, if not cured or
waived, could accelerate the related indebtedness as well as other of our indebtedness, which could have a material
adverse effect on us.

Disruption in the capital and credit markets may increase the cost of capital and may adversely affect our
ability to access external financings for our growth and ongoing debt service requirements.

We depend on external financings, principally debt financings, to fund the growth of our business, execute on our
business model, and to ensure that we can meet ongoing maturities of our outstanding debt. Our access to financing
depends on our credit ratings, the willingness of lending institutions and other debt investors to grant credit to us and
conditions in the capital markets in general, which can impact both our cost of capital and, to a lesser degree, our ability to
access capital. An economic recession may cause extreme volatility and disruption in the capital and credit markets. We
rely upon the Credit Facilities as sources of funding for numerous transactions. Our access to these funds is dependent
upon the ability of each of the participants to the Credit Facilities to meet their funding commitments to us. When markets
are volatile, access to capital and credit markets could be disrupted over an extended period of time and one or more
financial institutions may not have the available capital to meet their previous commitments to us. The failure of one or
more participants to the Credit Facilities to meet their funding commitments to us could have a material adverse effect on
us, including as a result of making it difficult to obtain the financing we may need for future growth and/or meeting our debt
service requirements. Additionally, a high interest rate environment, as we are currently experiencing, and which the
Company believes will continue in 2024, could prevent us from accessing capital at attractive interest rates, which could
adversely impact our ability to refinance existing debt at maturity as well as our ability to fund development and/or
opportunistic acquisition activities. We cannot assure you that we will be able to obtain the financing we need for the future
growth of our business, execution on our business model or to meet our debt service requirements, or that a sufficient
amount of financing will be available to us on favorable terms, or at all.
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Adverse changes in our credit ratings could affect our borrowing capacity and borrowing terms.

The Operating Partnership’s outstanding senior unsecured notes, the Credit Facilities, the Commercial Paper
program, and Simon’s preferred stock are periodically rated by nationally recognized credit rating agencies. The credit
ratings are based on our operating performance, liquidity and leverage ratios, financial condition and prospects, and other
factors viewed by the credit rating agencies as relevant to us and our industry and the economic outlook in general. Our
credit ratings can affect the amount of capital we can access, as well as the terms of any financing we obtain. Since we
depend primarily on debt financing to fund the growth of our business, an adverse change in our credit ratings, including
actual changes and changes in outlook, or even the initiation of a review of our credit ratings that could result in an adverse
change, could have a material adverse effect on us.

An increase in interest rates would increase our interest costs on variable rate debt and could adversely
impact our ability to refinance existing debt on attractive terms, or at all; our hedging interest rate protection
arrangements may not effectively limit our interest rate risk.

As of December 31, 2023, we had approximately $328.0 million of outstanding consolidated indebtedness that bears
interest at variable rates, and we may incur more variable rate indebtedness in the future. When interest rates increase,
then so does the interest costs on our unhedged variable rate debt, which could adversely affect our cash flows and our
ability to pay principal and interest on our debt and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders. Further, rising
interest rates could limit our ability to refinance existing debt when it matures or significantly increase our future interest
expense.

We selectively manage our exposure to interest rate risk by a combination of interest rate protection agreements to
effectively fix or cap all or a portion of our variable rate debt. In addition, we refinance fixed rate debt at times when we
believe rates and other terms are appropriate. Our efforts to manage these exposures may not be successful.

Our use of interest rate hedging arrangements to manage risk associated with interest rate volatility may expose us
to additional risks, including a risk that a counterparty to a hedging arrangement may fail to honor its obligations or that we
could be required to fund our contractual payment obligations under such arrangements in relatively large amounts or on
short notice. Developing an effective interest rate risk strategy is complex and no strategy can completely insulate us from
risks associated with interest rate fluctuations. There can be no assurance that our hedging activities will have the desired
beneficial impact on our results of operations, liquidity and financial condition. Termination of these hedging agreements
typically involves costs, such as transaction fees or breakage costs.

Risks Related to Joint Ventures

We have limited control with respect to some properties that are partially owned or managed by third
parties, which may adversely affect our ability to sell or refinance them.

As of December 31, 2023, we owned interests in 100 income-producing properties with other parties. Of those, 19
properties are included in our consolidated financial statements. We apply the equity method of accounting to the other 81
properties (the joint venture properties) and our investments in Klépierre (a publicly traded, Paris-based real estate
company), The Taubman Realty Group, LLC, or TRG, and Jamestown, as well as our investments in certain entities
involved in retail operations, such as J.C. Penney and SPARC Group; intellectual property and licensing venture, such as
Authentic Brands Group, LLC, or ABG; and an e-commerce venture Rue Gilt Groupe, or RGG, (collectively, our other
platform investments). We serve as general partner or property manager for 51 of these 81 joint venture properties;
however, certain major decisions, such as approving the operating budget and selling, refinancing, and redeveloping the
properties, require the consent of the other owners. Of the joint venture properties for which we do not serve as general
partner or property manager, 24 are in our international joint ventures. These international properties are managed locally
by joint ventures in which we share control of the properties with our partner. The other owners have patrticipating rights
that we consider substantive for purposes of determining control over the joint venture properties’ assets. The remaining
joint venture properties, Klépierre, TRG, Jamestown, and our joint ventures with ABG, J.C. Penney, RGG, and SPARC
Group are managed by third parties.

These investments, and other future similar investments, could involve risks that would not be present were a third
party not involved, including the possibility that partners or other owners might become bankrupt, suffer a deterioration in
their creditworthiness, or fail to fund their share of required capital contributions. If one of our partners or other owners in
these investments were to become bankrupt, we may be precluded from taking certain actions regarding our investments
without prior court approval, which at a minimum may delay the actions we would or might want to take. Additionally,
partners or other owners could have economic or other business interests or goals that are inconsistent with our own
business interests or goals, and could be in a position to take actions contrary to our policies or objectives.
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These investments, and other future similar investments, also have the potential risk of creating impasses on
decisions, such as a sale, financing or development, because neither we nor our partner or other owner has full control
over the partnership or joint venture. Disputes between us and partners or other owners might result in litigation or
arbitration that could increase our expenses and prevent Simon’s officers and/or directors from focusing their time and
efforts on our business. Consequently, actions by, or disputes with, partners or other owners might result in subjecting
properties owned by the partnership or joint venture to additional risk. In addition, we risk the possibility of being liable for
the actions of our partners or other owners.

The Operating Partnership guarantees debt or otherwise provides support for a number of joint venture
properties.

Joint venture debt is the liability of the joint venture and is typically secured by a mortgage on the joint venture
property, which is non-recourse to us. Nevertheless, the joint venture’s failure to satisfy its debt obligations could result in
the loss of our investment therein. As of December 31, 2023, the Operating Partnership guaranteed joint venture-related
mortgage indebtedness of $139.2 million. A default by a joint venture under its debt obligations would expose us to liability
under a guaranty. We may elect to fund cash needs of a joint venture through equity contributions (generally on a basis
proportionate to our ownership interests), advances or partner loans, although such fundings are not typically required
contractually or otherwise.

General Risk Factors

An increased focus on metrics and reporting related to environmental, social and governance (“ESG”)
factors, may impose additional costs and expose us to new risks.

Investors and other stakeholders have become more focused on understanding how companies address a variety
of ESG factors. As they evaluate investment decisions, many investors look not only at company disclosures but also to
ESG rating systems that have been developed by third parties to allow ESG comparisons among companies. Although we
participate in a number of these ratings systems, we do not participate in all such systems. The criteria used in these ratings
systems may conflict and change frequently, and we cannot predict how these third parties will score us, nor can we have
any assurance that they score us accurately or other companies accurately or that other companies have provided them
with accurate data. We supplement our participation in ratings systems with published disclosures of our ESG activities,
but some investors may desire other disclosures that we do not provide. In addition, the SEC is currently evaluating potential
rule making that could mandate additional ESG disclosure and impose other requirements on us. In addition, some of the
domestic and foreign jurisdictions in which we operate could mandate additional ESG disclosure and impose additional
requirements on us. For example, in October 2023, California passed two bills that require certain companies that do
business in California to disclose their GHG emissions and climate-related financial risks starting in 2026. Failure to
participate in certain of the third party ratings systems, failure to score well in those ratings systems, failure to provide
certain ESG disclosures, or unfavorable comparisons in these areas to other companies could result in reputational harm
when employees, investors, partners and tenants are making employment, investment and business choices, and could
cause certain investors to be unwilling to invest in our stock which could adversely impact our stock price.

Our success depends, in part, on our ability to attract, motivate, retain and develop talented employees,
and our failure to do so, including the loss of any one of our key personnel, could adversely impact our business.

The success of our business depends, in part, on the leadership and performance of our executive management
team and key employees, including our CEO, who operate without the existence of employment agreements. Many of our
senior executives have extensive experience and strong reputations in the real estate industry, which aid us in identifying
opportunities and negotiating with tenants. Our ability to attract, motivate and retain talented employees, and develop talent
internally, could significantly impact our future performance. Competition for these individuals is intense, and we cannot
assure you that we will retain our executive management team and other key employees or that we will be able to attract,
motivate, retain and/or develop other highly qualified individuals for these positions in the future. Additionally, the
compensation and benefits packages we may need to offer to remain competitive for these individuals could increase the
cost of replacement and retention. Losing any one or more of these persons could adversely affect our business, disrupt
short-term operational performance, diminish our opportunities and weaken our relationships with lenders, business
partners, existing and prospective tenants and others, which could have a material adverse effect on us.

We face risks associated with security breaches through cyber-attacks, cyber intrusions or otherwise, as
well as other significant disruptions of our computer systems, hardware, technology infrastructure, online sites
and related systems.

We rely on computer systems, hardware, software, technology infrastructure and online sites for the operation of
our business and our ability to perform day-to-day operations (collectively, “IT Systems”) and, in some cases, our IT
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Systems may be critical to the operations of certain of our tenants. We own and manage some of these IT Systems but
also rely on third parties for a range of IT Systems and related products and services. And we collect, maintain and process
confidential, sensitive, and proprietary information about investors, tenants, partners, businesses, our employees, and
others, including personally identifiable information, as well as confidential, sensitive, and proprietary information belonging
to our business such as trade secrets (collectively, “Confidential Information”). We face numerous and evolving
cybersecurity risks that threaten the confidentiality, integrity and availability of our IT Systems and Confidential Information.
The risk of a cyber incident has generally increased as the number, intensity and sophistication of attempted attacks have
increased globally, including by computer hackers, foreign governments, information service interruptions and cyber
terrorists, opportunistic hackers and hacktivists, as well as through diverse attack vectors, such as social
engineering/phishing, malware (including ransomware), malfeasance by insiders, human or technological error, and as a
result of bugs, misconfigurations or exploited vulnerabilities in software or hardware. Techniques used in cyber incidents
evolve frequently, may originate from less regulated and remote areas of the world and be difficult to detect and may not
be recognized until launched against a target. Accordingly, we may be unable to anticipate these techniques or to
implement adequate security barriers or other preventative measures, and thus it is impossible for us to entirely mitigate
this risk. For example, unauthorized parties, whether within or outside the Company, may disrupt or gain access to our IT
Systems, those of our tenants, or those of other third parties with whom we do business, through human error, misfeasance,
fraud, trickery, or other forms of deceit, including break-ins, use of stolen credentials, social engineering, phishing, computer
viruses or other malicious codes, and similar means of unauthorized and destructive tampering.

The risk of a security breach or significant disruption has generally increased due to our increased reliance on
technology, a rise in the number, intensity, and sophistication of attempted attacks globally, and the permanent nature of
remote work as business travel has resumed and people now routinely work remotely outside of normal business hours. A
breach or significant and extended disruption in the functioning of our systems, including our primary website, could damage
our reputation and cause us to lose customers, tenants and revenues, generate third party claims, cause operational
disruption, result in the unintended and/or unauthorized public disclosure or the misappropriation of Confidential
Information, and require us to incur significant expenses to address and remediate or otherwise resolve these kinds of
issues. We may not be able to recover these expenses in whole or in any part from our service providers or responsible
parties, or their or our insurers.

Additionally, cyber-attacks perpetrated against our tenants, including unauthorized access to customers’ credit card
data and other confidential information, could diminish consumer confidence and spending at our tenants, or negatively
impact consumer perception of shopping at our properties, all of which could materially and adversely affect us.

As have many companies, we and our third party vendors have been impacted by security incidents in the past and
will likely continue to experience security incidents of varying degrees. While we do not believe these incidents have had a
material impact to date, as our reliance on technology increases, so do the risks of a security incident. The occurrence of
any of the foregoing risks could have a material adverse effect on us.

In addition, our processing of Confidential Information, including personally identifiable information, subjects us to
various federal, state and local laws, regulations and industry standards governing the collection, use, storage, sharing,
transmission and other processing of personal information. The regulatory environment surrounding information security
and privacy is increasingly demanding, with frequent imposition of new and changing requirements that are subject to
differing interpretations. Any failure or perceived failure by us to comply with laws, regulations, policies or regulatory
guidance relating to privacy or data security may result in governmental investigations and enforcement actions, litigation,
fines and penalties or adverse publicity and could cause our investors to lose trust in us, which could have an adverse
effect on our reputation and business.

There can be no assurance that our cybersecurity risk management program and processes, including our policies,
controls or procedures, will be fully implemented, complied with or effective in protecting our systems and information.

Our international activities may subject us to risks that are different from or greater than those associated
with our domestic operations.

As of December 31, 2023, we held interests in consolidated and joint venture properties that operate in Austria,
Canada, France, Italy, Germany, Japan, Malaysia, Mexico, the Netherlands, South Korea, Spain, Thailand, and the United
Kingdom. We also have an equity stake in Klépierre, a publicly traded European real estate company which operates in 14
countries in Europe, and in TRG, which has an interest in regional, super-regional, and outlet malls in the United States
and Asia. Accordingly, our operating results and the value of our international operations may be impacted by any unhedged
movements in the foreign currencies in which those operations transact and in which our net investment in those
international operations is held. While we occasionally enter into hedging agreements to manage our exposure to changes
in foreign exchange rates, these agreements may not eliminate foreign currency risk entirely.
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We may pursue additional investment, ownership, development and redevelopment/expansion opportunities outside
the United States. Such international activities carry risks that are different from those we face with our domestic properties
and operations. These risks include, but are not limited to:

e adverse effects of changes in exchange rates for foreign currencies;
e changes in foreign political and economic environments, regionally, nationally, and locally;

e impact from international trade disputes and the associated impact on our tenants’ supply chain and consumer
spending levels;

e challenges of complying with a wide variety of foreign laws, including corporate governance, operations, taxes
and litigation;

e the risk that we, our employees and/or agents could violate anti-bribery, anti-corruption and international trade
laws in the U.S., such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, and certain foreign countries, such as the
U.K. Bribery Act, which could result in criminal or civil sanctions and/or fines, negatively impact our reputation,
or require us to incur significant expenses to investigate;

o differing lending practices;

o differences in cultures and consumer retail behavior;

e changes in applicable laws and regulations in the United States that affect international operations;
e changes in applicable laws and regulations in these foreign jurisdictions;

o difficulties in managing international operations;

e obstacles to the repatriation of earnings and cash; and

e labor discord, political or civil unrest, acts of terrorism, epidemics and pandemics, including COVID-19, the fear
of spread of contagious diseases, supply chain disruptions or the threat of international boycotts.

Our international activities represented approximately 6.4% of consolidated net income and 9.4% of our net
operating income, or NOI, for the year ended December 31, 2023. To the extent that we expand our international activities,
the above risks could increase in significance, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on us.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 1C. Cybersecurity
Cybersecurity Risk Management and Strategy

We have developed and implemented a cybersecurity risk management program intended to protect the
confidentiality, integrity, and availability of our critical systems and information. We execute a risk-based approach to
identify and assess the cybersecurity threats that could affect our business and information systems. Our cybersecurity risk
management program includes a cybersecurity incident response plan and dedicated cybersecurity incident response team
(“CSIRT”). We do not have actual or contractual access to the systems or information maintained by our tenants, who
maintain their own cybersecurity risk management programs to protect their operations from various risks from
cybersecurity threats.

We use the National Institute of Standards and Technology Cybersecurity Framework and CIS Critical Security
Controls as a guide to help us identify, assess, and manage cybersecurity risks relevant to our business. This does not
imply that we meet any particular technical standards, specifications, or requirements.

Our cybersecurity risk management program is integrated with our overall enterprise risk management program,
and shares common methodologies, reporting channels and governance processes that apply across the enterprise risk
management program to other legal, compliance, strategic, operational, public relations and financial risk areas.

Our cybersecurity risk management program includes the following key elements:

e risk assessments designed to help identify material cybersecurity risks to our critical systems, information,
services, and our broader enterprise information technology (IT) environment;
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e ateam comprised of IT security, infrastructure, and compliance personnel principally responsible for directing
(1) our cybersecurity risk assessment processes, (2)our security processes, and (3)our response to
cybersecurity incidents, supported by legal, human resources, corporate security and other internal resources;

e the use of external cybersecurity service providers, where appropriate, to assess, test or otherwise assist with
aspects of our security processes, which enable us to leverage specialized knowledge and insights, with the
goal of ensuring our cybersecurity strategies and processes remain at the forefront of industry best practices;

e  cybersecurity awareness training of employees with access to our IT systems;

e a cybersecurity incident response plan and Security Operations Center (“SOC”) to respond to cybersecurity
incidents; and

e athird-party risk management process for service providers.

We have not identified risks from known cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any prior cybersecurity
incidents, that have materially affected us, including our operations, business strategy, results of operations, or financial
condition. We face certain ongoing risks from cybersecurity threats that, if realized, are reasonably likely to materially affect
us, including our operations, business strategy, results of operations, or financial condition. See further discussion in ltem
1A. Risk Factors.

Cybersecurity Governance

Our Board of Directors considers cybersecurity risk as critical to the enterprise and delegates the cybersecurity risk
oversight function to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee oversees and is regularly updated on management’s
design, implementation and enforcement of our cybersecurity risk management program. The Audit Committee is
composed of board members with diverse expertise including, risk management, technology, and finance, equipping them
to oversee cybersecurity risks.

Our Chief Financial Officer periodically provides reports to the Audit Committee, and, together with our Chief
Technology Officer and Director of Cybersecurity, leads the Company’s overall cybersecurity function. The Audit Committee
receives regular reports on our cybersecurity risks, including briefings on our cyber risk management program and
cybersecurity incidents. Audit Committee members also receive periodic presentations on cybersecurity, IT and data
protection topics.

Our Chief Financial Officer oversees our CSIRT, whose members have years of experience working in cybersecurity
and certifications including CISSP (Certified Information Systems Security Professional), CCSP (Certified Cloud Security
Professional), CGRC (Certification in Governance of Enterprise IT), GIAC (Global Information Assurance Certification) and
GCED (GIAC Certified Enterprise Defender). Our CSIRT supervises efforts to prevent, detect, mitigate, and remediate
cybersecurity risks and incidents through various means, which include briefings from internal security personnel; threat
intelligence and other information obtained from governmental, public or private sources, including external cybersecurity
service providers; and alerts and reports produced by security tools deployed in the IT environment.

The CSIRT is responsible for assessing and managing our material risks from cybersecurity threats. They have
primary responsibility for leading our overall cybersecurity risk management program and supervise both our internal
cybersecurity personnel and our external cybersecurity service providers.

Item 2. Properties
United States Properties

Our U.S. properties primarily consist of malls, Premium Outlets, The Mills, lifestyle centers and other retail
properties. These properties contain an aggregate of approximately 171.8 million square feet of gross leasable area, or
GLA.

Malls typically contain at least one department store anchor or a combination of anchors and big box retailers with
a wide variety of smaller stores connecting the anchors. Additional stores are usually located along the perimeter of the
parking area. Our 93 malls are generally enclosed centers and range in size from approximately 270,000 to 2.7 million
square feet of GLA.

Premium Outlets generally contain a wide variety of designer and manufacturer stores located in open-air centers.
Our 69 Premium Oultlets range in size from approximately 150,000 to 920,000 square feet of GLA. The Premium Outlets
are generally located within a close proximity to major metropolitan areas and/or tourist destinations.
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The 14 properties in The Mills generally range in size from 1.2 million to 2.4 million square feet of GLA and are
located in major metropolitan areas. They have a combination of traditional mall, outlet center, big box retailers and
entertainment uses.

We also have interests in six lifestyle centers and 13 other retail properties. The lifestyle centers range in size from
170,000 to 950,000 square feet of GLA. The other retail properties range in size from approximately 200,000 to 1.2 million
square feet of GLA and are considered non-core to our business model.

As of December 31, 2023, approximately 95.8% of the owned GLA in malls and Premium Outlets was leased and
approximately 97.8% of the owned GLA for The Mills was leased.

We wholly own 130 of our properties, effectively control 11 properties in which we have a joint venture interest, and
hold the remaining 54 properties through unconsolidated joint venture interests. We are the managing or co-managing
general partner or member of 188 properties in the United States. Certain of our joint venture properties are subject to
various rights of first refusal, buy-sell provisions, put and call rights, or other sale or marketing rights for partners which are
customary in real estate partnership agreements and the industry. We and our partners in these joint ventures may initiate
these provisions (subject to any applicable lock up or similar restrictions) which may result in either the sale of our interest
or the use of available cash or borrowings, or the use of Operating Partnership units, to acquire the joint venture interest
from our partner.

We own an 84% noncontrolling interest in TRG, which has an interest in 20 regional, super-regional, and outlet
malls in the U.S. Our effective ownership in these properties, through our investment in TRG, ranges from 40.7% to 84%.
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United States Lease Expirations

The following table summarizes lease expiration data for our U.S. malls and Premium Outlets, including Puerto
Rico, as of December 31, 2023. The data presented does not consider the impact of renewal options that may be contained
in leases and excludes data related to TRG.

U.S. MALLS AND PREMIUM OUTLETS LEASE EXPIRATIONS (1)

Avg. Base Percentage of Gross
Number of Minimum Rent Annual Rental

Year Leases Expiring Square Feet PSF at 12/31/2023 Revenues (2)
Inline Stores and Freestanding
Month to Month Leases. . ............... 1,411 4,689,200 $ 63.14 52 %
2024 ... 3,138 11,781,465 $ 54.56 11.5 %
2025 . 2,577 9,630,540 $ 60.72 10.4 %
2026 ... 2,243 9,209,816 $ 58.29 8.4 %
2027 1,667 6,621,308 $ 65.39 7.7 %
2028 .. 1,403 6,387,151  $ 66.90 75 %
2029 .. 966 4,428,365 $ 71.40 5.4 %
2030 .. 608 2,760,369 $ 82.26 3.9 %
2031 L 345 1,853,682 $ 72.84 2.3 %
2032 . 456 1,699,419 $ 94.63 2.9 %
2033 . 504 1,919,460 $ 90.27 3.1 %
2034 and Thereafter . .................. 605 2,653,437 $ 58.21 25 %
Specialty Leasing Agreements w/ terms in

excessof 12months ................. 2,313 6,194,556 $ 16.98 19 %
Anchors
Month to Month Leases. . .. ............. 2 263,650 $ 2.52 0.0 %
2024 .. 7 842303 $ 5.63 0.1 %
2025 .. 17 1,641,383 $ 6.49 0.2 %
2026 ... 17 1,765,292 $ 5.52 0.2 %
2027 13 1,765,268 $ 5.32 0.2 %
2028 .. 16 1,986,210 $ 5.73 0.2 %
2029 .. 12 1,021,244  $ 8.10 0.2 %
2030 .. 9 865,476 $ 11.00 0.1 %
2031 L 5 427,004 $ 14.53 0.0 %
2032 . 4 282,245 $ 25.21 0.1 %
2033 . 7 1,028,383 $ 8.48 0.2 %
2034 and Thereafter .. ................. 28 2,621,296 $ 16.39 0.6 %

(1) Does not consider the impact of renewal options that may be contained in leases. Average Base Minimum Rent psf
reflects base minimum rent in the respective year of expiration.

(2) Annual rental revenues represent domestic 2023 consolidated and joint venture combined base rental revenue.
International Properties

Our ownership interests in properties outside the United States are primarily owned through joint venture
arrangements. With the exception of our Premium Outlets in Canada, all of our international properties are managed by
related parties.

European Investments

At December 31, 2023, we owned 63,924,148 shares, or approximately 22.4%, of Klépierre, which had a quoted
market price of $27.24 per share. Klépierre is a publicly traded, Paris-based real estate company, which owns, or has an
interest in shopping centers located in 14 countries.

As of December 31, 2023, we had a controlling interest in a European investee with interests in 12 Designer Outlet
properties. 11 of the outlet properties are located in Europe and one outlet property is located in Canada. Of the 11
properties in Europe, two are in Italy, two are in the Netherlands, two are in the United Kingdom, two are in France and one
each is in Austria, Germany, and Spain. As of December 31, 2023, our legal percentage ownership interests in these
entities ranged from 23% to 94%.
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We own a 14.6% interest in Value Retail PLC and affiliated entities, which own and operate nine luxury outlets
throughout Europe. We also have a minority direct ownership in three of those outlets.

Other International Investments

We hold a 40% interest in ten operating joint venture properties in Japan, a 50% interest in five operating joint
venture properties in South Korea, a 50% interest in two operating joint venture properties in Mexico, a 50% interest in two
operating joint venture properties in Malaysia, a 50% interest in one operating joint venture in Thailand, and a 50% interest
in three Premium Outlet operating joint venture properties in Canada. The ten Japanese Premium Outlets operate in various
cities throughout Japan and comprise over 3.9 million square feet of GLA and were 99.7% leased as of December 31,
2023.

Our investment in TRG includes an interest in four operating joint venture properties located outside of the U.S.; two
located in the People’s Republic of China and two located in South Korea. Our effective ownership in these centers, through
our investment in TRG, ranges from 14.4% to 41.2%.

The following property tables summarize certain data for our international properties as of December 31, 2023 and
do not include our equity investments in Klépierre, or our investment in Value Retail PLC and affiliated entities.
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Land

We have direct or indirect ownership interests in approximately 70 acres of land held in the United States and
Canada for future development.

Sustainability

Simon has integrated sustainability initiatives into our business operations: how we plan, develop, and operate our
properties.

Reducing our energy consumption is a central commitment to reducing our environmental impact. In 2020, we
announced the adoption of 2035 greenhouse gas emissions targets approved by the Science Based Target Initiative
(“SBTi"). Our target is to reduce scope 1 and scope 2 emissions by 68% (2019 baseline), and scope 3 emissions by 20.9%
(2018 baseline). We believe that our climate related risk disclosures are aligned with the recommendations of the Task
Force on Climate Related Financial Disclosures established by the Financial Stability Board.

Reducing water consumption and landfill waste are also components of reducing our carbon and environmental
footprint. We have already achieved our initial target of reducing water usage by 20% (2013 baseline), and we set a new
target to reduce water for comparable centers by 15% by 2030, base year 2022.

The Governance and Nominating Committee of our Board of Directors (“Board”) has been allocated the oversight
of our sustainability policies, including environmental, social, and governance matters. Additionally, the Board has
delegated to the Audit Committee the oversight and the annual disclosure of our sustainability programs in the form of an
annual sustainability report.

In 2023, we were once again awarded a Green Star rating (2014-2023) - the highest designation awarded for
leadership in sustainability performance by the Global Real Estate Sustainability Benchmark.

To learn more about our sustainability initiatives and detailed reporting please access our latest Sustainability Report
at investors.simon.com. Information in the Sustainability Report and our Company website is not incorporated herein by
reference and should not be considered part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Mortgages and Unsecured Debt

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the mortgages encumbering our properties, and the
properties held by our domestic and international joint venture arrangements, and also our unsecured corporate debt.
Substantially all of the mortgage and property related debt is nonrecourse to us.
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Mortgage and Unsecured Debt

As of December 31, 2023
(Dollars in thousands)

Interest Face Annual Debt Maturity
Property Name Rate Amount Service (1) Date
Consolidated Indebtedness:
Secured Indebtedness:
ArizonaMills . ......... .. .. ... 3.80 % $ 95,919 $ 5,566 09/01/26
Birch Run Premium Outlets. . . .................. 4.21 % 123,000 5,177 (2) 02/06/26
Calhoun Outlet Marketplace .. .................. 417 % 16,722 (19) 1,138 06/01/26
Domain, The . ... 3.09 % 210,000 6,497 (2) 07/01/31
Ellenton Premium Outlets . .. ................... 4.30 % 178,000 7,651 (2) 12/01/25
EmpireMall........... ... .. .. .. .. .. ... ... 431 % 173,340 11,252 12/01/25
Florida Keys Outlet Marketplace . . ............... 417 % 17,000 709 (2) 12/01/25
Gaffney Outlet Marketplace. . . .................. 417 % 27,012 (19) 1,839 06/01/26
Gloucester Premium Outlets . . . ................. 6.12 % 75,000 4,593 (2) 03/01/33
Grove City Premium Outlets ... ................. 4.31 % 140,000 6,032 (2) 12/01/25
Gulfport Premium Outlets . ..................... 4.35 % 50,000 2,174 (2) 12/01/25
Gumnee Mills .. ... ... . 3.99 % 257,710 10,283 (2) 10/01/26
Hagerstown Premium Qutlets . ... ............... 4.26 % 69,532 4,560 02/06/26
La Reggia Designer Outlets Phases 1 &2 ......... 4.68 % (25) 176,595 (30) 10,033 03/31/27
Lee Premium Outlets. . .. ...................... 417 % 46,307 (19) 3,152 06/01/26
Noventa Di Piave Designer Outlet Phases 1, 2, 3, 4. . 2.00 % 306,384 (30) 6,118 (2) 07/25/25
Ochtrup DesignerOutlet . ... ................... 210 % 55,186 (30) 1,159 (2) 06/30/26
OpryMills . ..o 4.09 % 375,000 15,345 (2) 07/01/26
Outlets atOrange, The .. ........ ... ... ...... 4.22 % 215,000 9,067 (2) 04/01/24
Paris-Giverny Designer Outlet. ... ............... 5.38 % (16) 110,373 (30) 5,940 (2) 06/11/25
Parndorf Designer Outlet. . .. ................... 2.00 % 199,594 (30) 3,992 (2) 07/04/29
PennSquareMall . ............. .. ... ... ... 3.84 % 310,000 11,910 (2) 01/01/26
Pismo Beach Premium Outlets . .. ............... 3.33 % 31,242 (20) 1,949 09/06/26
Pleasant Prairie Premium Outlets . .. ............. 4.00 % 145,000 5,793 (2) 09/01/27
PotomacMills .. ....... .. .. ... .. ... . ... 3.46 % 416,000 14,383 (2) 11/01/26
Provence DesignerOutlet. . .................... 4.92 % 104,898 (30) 6,225 07/27/27 (3)
Queenstown Premium Outlets. . ................. 3.33 % 54,885 (20) 3,425 09/06/26
Roermond DesignerOutlet . . ................... 3.90 % 309,042 (30) 12,046 (2) 06/06/29
Roosendaal Designer Outlets . . .. ............... 3.35 % (24) 63,908 (30) 2,140 02/23/24
Shops at Chestnut Hill, The. .. .................. 6.66 % 94,621 7,843 08/31/33
SyossetPark.......... ... i 4.76 % 15,152 1,116 02/01/31
SouthridgeMall . . ........ ... ... ... ... ... 3.85 % 112,087 4,320 (2) 06/06/23 (8)
SummitMall .......... ... ... 331 % 85,000 2,817 (2) 10/01/26
SyossetPark.......... ... .. i 747 % (1) 84,047 6,278 (2) 05/12/26 (3)
University Park Village . .................... ... 3.85 % 51,254 3,114 05/01/28
White Oaks Mall . ......... ... .. ... .. .. ..... 7.76 % (4) 38,857 4,017 06/01/24
Williamsburg Premium Outlets . ................. 4.23 % 185,000 7,824 (2) 02/06/26
Wolfchase Galleria . .......................... 4.15 % 155,152 6,433 (2) 11/01/26
Total Consolidated Secured Indebtedness. . . . . .. $ 5,173,819
Unsecured Indebtedness:
Simon Property Group, L.P.
Revolving Credit Facility -USD ................. 522 % (15) $ 305,000 $ 15,918 (2) 06/30/28 (3)
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Mortgage and Unsecured Debt
As of December 31, 2023
(Dollars in thousands)

Interest Face Annual Debt Maturity
Property Name Rate Amount Service (1) Date
Unsecured Notes -22C. .. ... .. 6.75 % $ 600,000 $ 40,500 (14) 02/01/40
Unsecured Notes-25C. .. ..................... 4.75 % 550,000 26,125 (14) 03/15/42
Unsecured Notes -27B. ....................... 3.75 % 600,000 22,500 (14) 02/01/24
Unsecured Notes -28A. .. ..................... 3.38 % 900,000 30,375 (14) 10/01/24
Unsecured Notes-28B. .. ..................... 4.25 % 400,000 17,000 (14) 10/01/44
Unsecured Notes-29B. .. ..................... 3.50 % 1,100,000 38,500 (14) 09/01/25
Unsecured Notes-30B. .. ..................... 3.30 % 800,000 26,400 (14) 01/15/26
Unsecured Notes -31B. . ...................... 3.25 % 750,000 24,375 (14) 11/30/26
Unsecured Notes -31C. ........ ... ... ... ... 4.25 % 550,000 23,375 (14) 11/30/46
Unsecured Notes-32B. .. ..................... 3.38 % 750,000 25,313 (14) 06/15/27
Unsecured Notes-33B........................ 3.38 % 750,000 25,313 (14) 12/01/27
Unsecured Notes-34A. .. ...... ... .. ... ....... 2.00 % 1,000,000 20,000 (14) 09/13/24
Unsecured Notes-34B. ....................... 2.45 % 1,250,000 30,625 (14) 09/13/29
Unsecured Notes-34C. ....................... 3.25% 1,250,000 40,625 (14) 09/13/49
Unsecured Notes-35A. .. ...... ... .. ... ....... 2.65 % 750,000 19,875 (14) 07/15/30
Unsecured Notes-35B. .. ..................... 3.80 % 750,000 28,500 (14) 07/15/50
Unsecured Notes -36A. .. ...... ... ... ..., 1.75 % 800,000 14,000 (14) 02/01/28
Unsecured Notes-36B. .. ..................... 2.20 % 700,000 15,400 (14) 02/01/31
Unsecured Notes-37A. .. ... ... . ... ...... 1.38 % 550,000 7,563 (14) 01/15/27
Unsecured Notes-37B. .. ..................... 2.25 % 700,000 15,750 (14) 01/15/32
Unsecured Notes-38B........................ 2.65 % 700,000 18,550 (14) 02/01/32
Unsecured Notes-39A. .. ..................... 5.50 % 650,000 35,750 (14) 03/08/33
Unsecured Notes-39B. .. ..................... 5.85 % 650,000 38,025 (14) 03/08/53
Unsecured Notes -40A. .. ...... ... ... ..., 6.25 % 500,000 31,250 (14) 01/15/34
Unsecured Notes-40B. .. ..................... 6.65 % 500,000 33,250 (14) 01/15/54
Unsecured Notes-Euro3...................... 1.25 % 551,860 (10) 6,898 (6) 05/13/25
Unsecured Notes-Euro 4. ..................... 1.13 % 827,791 (13) 9,313 (6) 03/19/33
Unsecured Bonds - Exchangable Euro 5. .......... 3.50 % (47) 827,791 (13) 28,973 (14) 11/14/26
Total Consolidated Unsecured Indebtedness. . . .. $ 21,012,442
Total Consolidated Indebtedness at Face

Amounts . ... ... ... $ 26,186,261

Premium on Indebtedness ..................... 13,635
Discount on Indebtedness. . .................... (86,626)
DebtIssuance Costs. .. ........ ..., (140,442)
Other Debt Obligations .. ...................... 60,595 (18)
Total Consolidated Indebtedness . ............. $ 26,033,423
Our Share of Consolidated Indebtedness. . . ... .. $ 25,807,249
Joint Venture Indebtedness:
Secured Indebtedness:
ArundelMills ... ... ... 7.70 % $ 360,000 $ 27,724 (2) 11/01/33
Ashford Designer Qutlet . ...................... 4.90 % (35) 131,770 (21) 6,451 (2) 05/23/27
AventuraMall . ...... ... ... ... . .. 412 % 1,750,000 72,122 (2) 07/01/28
Avenues, The ........ ... ... .. 3.60 % 110,000 3,960 (2) 02/06/26
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Mortgage and Unsecured Debt
As of December 31, 2023

(Dollars in thousands)

Interest Face Annual Debt Maturity
Property Name Rate Amount Service (1) Date
Briarwood Mall .. ... ... .. ... .. ... ... 3.29 % 165,000 5,432 (2) 09/01/26
Busan Premium Outlets ....................... 4.40 % 84,822 (17) 3,729 (2) 11/23/25
CapeCodMall ........ ... . ... 765% (1) $ 52,000 $ 3,980 (2) 07/30/26 (3)
Charlotte Premium Qutlets . .................... 4.27 % 99,309 5,950 07/01/28
Clarksburg Premium Outlets . . . ................. 3.95 % 157,399 9,164 01/01/28
CoconutPoint . ........ ... . i 3.95 % 171,638 10,797 10/01/26
Colorado Mills -1 ........ ... .. ... ... ...... 4.28 % 121,038 7,933 11/01/24
ColoradoMills-2 .. ... ... ... ... ... .. .. 2.80 % 30,000 840 (2) 07/01/31
ConcordMills . ...... ... i 6.55 % 232,391 17,736 11/01/32
Coral Square Residential ...................... 740 % (1) 22,192 1,643 (2) 05/04/27 (3)
DadelandMall .. ......... .. .. .. ... ... ....... 3.1 % 369,656 19,872 01/05/27
Dadeland MallHotel ... ....................... 7.70 % (1) 27,345 2,570 09/01/24 (3)
Del Amo FashionCenter ...................... 3.66 % 585,000 21,396 (2) 06/01/27
DomainWestin . ............... ... ... ..... 412 % 58,786 5,708 09/01/25
DoverMall. ...... ... i 5.57 % 77,929 4,341 (2) 08/06/26
Falls, The ... ... ... 345 % 150,000 5,175 (2) 09/01/26
Fashion Centre Pentagon . ... .................. 6.94 % (38) 455,000 31,573 (2) 05/09/26 (3)
FashionValley......... ... ... .. .. ... ... ... 573 % 450,000 25,785 (2) 06/01/33
FloridaMall, The .. ..... ... .. .. .. ... ... 6.30 % (36) 600,000 37,800 (2) 02/09/27 (3)
Fukaya-Hanazono Premium Outlets . ... .......... 0.76 % 75,867 (26) 575 (2) 09/30/32
Galleria, The .. ... ... . 3.55 % 1,200,000 42,598 (2) 03/01/25
Gotemba Premium Outlets .. ................... 0.31 % 92,176 (26) 285 (2) 04/08/27
GrapevineMills .. .. ... ... . i 3.83 % 268,000 10,272 (2) 10/01/24
Hamilton Town Center. . .. ...... ... ... ... ...... 7.70 % (1) 79,077 7,201 02/24/27 (3)
Johor Premium Outlet. .. ......... ... ... ..... 5.95 % (7) 4,430 (9) 264 (2) 01/31/24
KatyMills. . ... . 577 % 127,906 9,042 08/01/32
LehighValleyMall. . .......................... 4.06 % 177,171 11,512 11/01/27
Liberty TreeMall . .. ... ... ... ... .. ...... 6.18 % (27) 28,311 2,070 05/03/28
Malaga Designer Outlet. . . ..................... 5.54 % (22) 70,086 (30) 3,883 (2) 05/05/28 (3)
Mall at Rockingham Park, The .................. 4.04 % 262,000 10,585 (2) 06/01/26
Mall of New Hampshire, The. . .................. 411 % 150,000 6,162 (2) 07/01/25
Meadowood Mall. .. ........ ... ... .. .. ...... 5.74 % 103,768 8,211 12/01/26
Miami International Mall ....................... 4.42 % 160,000 7,072 (2) 02/06/24
Norfolk Premium Outlets. .. .................... 4.50 % 75,000 4,138 04/01/32
Northshore Mall. . ........ ... ... .. ... ...... 8.02 % 190,083 19,390 07/05/25
Paju PremiumOutlets . . ....................... 3.06 % 47,125 (17) 1,443 (2) 03/13/25
Premium Outlet Collection Edmonton IA. ... ....... 6.76 % (37) 102,990 (5) 6,957 (2) 11/30/25
Premium Outlets Montréal. ... .................. 3.08 % 90,554 (5) 2,789 (2) 06/01/24
Quaker BridgeMall . ........... .. ... .. .. ..... 4.20 % 180,000 7,560 (2) 05/01/26
Queretaro Premium Outlets - Fixed. .. ............ 1221 % 23,644 (32) 4,106 12/20/33
Queretaro Premium Outlets - Variable ............ 15.25 % 1,169 (32) 178 (2) 06/20/28
Rinku Premium Outlets . .. ..................... 0.30 % 41,834 (26) 126 (2) 07/31/27
Roermond 4 Designer Outlet. . . ................. 4.55 % (23) 185,425 (30) 8,437 (2) 08/18/25
Roosevelt FieldHotel .. ....................... 8.09 % (34) 48,800 3,950 (2) 06/29/27 (3)
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Mortgage and Unsecured Debt

As of December 31, 2023
(Dollars in thousands)

Interest Face Annual Debt Maturity
Property Name Rate Amount Service (1) Date
Round Rock Residential .. ..................... 7.45 % (1) 29,918 2,230 08/26/26 (3)
Sano Premium Outlets . ....................... 0.28 % 32,261 (26) 91 (2) 02/28/25
Sawgrass MillsHotel . . ........................ 8.29 % (33) 27,700 2,297 (2) 06/07/24
Shisui Premium Outlets Phase 2. .. .............. 0.37 % 35,452 (26) 129 (2) 05/31/29
Shisui Premium Outlets Phase 3. ................ 037 % (12) $ 18,435 (26) $ 67 (2) 11/30/28
Shops at Clearfork, The ....................... 2.81 % (27) 145,000 4,072 (2) 03/11/30
Shops at Crystals, The . ......... ... ... ........ 3.74 % 550,000 20,592 (2) 07/01/26
Shops at Mission Viejo, The .. .................. 3.61 % 289,240 10,442 (2) 02/01/25 (3)
Siam Premium Outlets Bangkok . . ............... 4.69 % 64,490 (11) 3,025 (2) 06/05/31
Siheung Premium Outlets . . .................... 251 % 115,878 (17) 2,909 (2) 03/15/24
Silver Sands Premium Qutlets. . ... .............. 3.96 % 140,000 5,543 (2) 03/01/32
SmithHavenMall .......... ... ... ... ...... 8.45 % (1) 171,750 14,521 (2) 03/31/24
SolomonPondMall............. ... ... ...... 4.01 % 91,178 3,656 11/01/22 (8)
SouthdaleHotel. . ........ ... ... .. ... ... ... 7.70 % (1) 16,197 1,815 06/01/25
Southdale Residential . .. ...................... 4.46 % 35,265 2,550 10/15/35
SpringfieldMall .. ........ ... ... . .. L. 4.45 % 55,203 3,918 10/06/25
SquareOneMall............................. 547 % 79,050 4,326 (2) 01/06/27
St.Johns TownCenter . ....................... 3.82 % 350,000 13,367 (2) 09/11/24
St.JohnsHotel .......... ... ... ... ... ... 8.15 % (1) 16,036 1,308 (2) 05/16/27 (3)
St. Louis Premium Qutlets. . .................... 4.06 % 87,886 5,399 10/06/24
Stoneridge ShoppingCenter. . .................. 3.50 % 330,000 11,550 (2) 09/05/26
Tanger Outlets Columbus . . .. .................. 6.25 % 71,000 4,439 (2) 10/01/32 (3)
Tanger Outlets - Galveston/Houston. . .. .......... 7.90 % (40) 58,000 4,581 (2) 06/16/28 (3)
Toki Premium Outlets - Fixed . .................. 0.21 % 18,789 (26) 39 (2) 11/30/24
Toki Premium Outlets - Variable . .. .............. 0.31 % (12) 2,482 (26) 8 (2) 11/30/24
Tosu Premium Outlets. .. ...................... 0.30 % (12) 43,961 (26) 130 (2) 10/31/26
Twin Cities Premium Outlets. . . ................. 4.32 % 115,000 4,968 (2) 11/06/24
Vancouver DesignerQutlet. ... ................. 5.67 % (39) 124,512 (5) 7,064 (2) 12/01/27 (3)
West Midlands Designer Outlets. .. .............. 7.49 % (28) 82,754 (21) 6,198 (2) 06/06/26
Westchester, The ........... ... ... ... ..... 3.25% 400,000 13,000 (2) 02/01/30
WoodfieldMall. . .......... ... .. ... .. .. 6.71 % 294,000 19,730 (2) 12/01/33
Yeoju Premium Outlets . .. ..................... 3.53 % 47,897 (17) 1,692 (2) 09/28/24
Total Joint Venture Secured Indebtedness at

FaceAmount . ............................ $ 13,986,025

TMLP Indebtedness at Face Amount .. ........

Total Joint Venture and TMLP Indebtedness at

FaceAmount...........................
DebtlIssuance Costs. . .....................
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Mortgage and Unsecured Debt
As of December 31, 2023
(Dollars in thousands)

Interest Face Annual Debt Maturity
Property Name Rate Amount Service (1) Date
Cherry Creek ShoppingCenter. ................. 3.85 % $ 275,000 $ 10,588 (2) 06/01/28
City Creek Center ... ..., 9.37 % 68,284 8,046 04/01/24
CountryClubPlaza...................couun.. 3.85 % 147,735 7,055 04/01/26
DolphinMall . ......... ... ... .. .. ... .. ..... 6.87 % (44) 1,000,000 68,700 (2) 05/09/27 (3)
FairOaksMall......... ... .. .. .. .. ... ....... 5.32 % 119,387 8,530 11/10/23 (8)
GardensMall, The. .. ....... ... i, 441 % 98,532 7,584 07/15/25
Great Lakes CrossingOutlets . . ................. 6.52 % $ 180,000 $ 11,736 (2) 02/01/33
International Plaza ........................... 5.57 % (43) 238,977 13,311 (2) 10/09/26 (3)
Mall at Green Hills, The. . ...................... 8.06 % (42) 150,000 12,090 (2) 01/01/27 (3)
Mall at Millenia, The . .......... ... oo, 3.94 % 225,000 8,865 (2) 10/15/24
Mall at Short Hills, The .. ...................... 3.48 % 1,000,000 34,800 (2) 10/01/27
Mall at University Town Center, The .. ............ 3.40 % 137,267 7,400 11/01/26
Sunvalley. . ... 4.44 % 73,200 6,306 09/01/25 (3)
Twelve OaksMall .. .......................... 4.85 % 272,445 18,670 03/06/28
Waterside Shops. .. ......... ... . i 3.86 % 78,534 4,613 04/15/26
Westfarms. .. ... i 7.80 % 191,035 14,901 (2) 09/06/28
CityOn.Xian. .. ... 5.00 % 31,025 (46) 4,354 03/14/29
CityOn.Zhengzhou ............. ... ... ...... 4.95 % 32,852 (46) 4,080 03/22/32
Starfield Anseong . . ... 217 % 113,817 (45) 2,470 (2) 02/27/25
StarfieldHanam . .......... ... .. ... ... ... ... 2.38 % 79,672 (45) 1,896 (2) 10/26/25
Total TRG Secured Indebtedness at TRG Share

of FaceAmount ........................... $ 4,512,762

Corporate and Other Indebtedness:

TRG U.S. Headquarters . ...................... 3.49 % $ 12,000 $ 419 (2) 03/01/24
TRG - $650M Revolving Credit Facility . . . ... ... ... 6.65 % (48) 125,000 8,313 (2) 03/31/27 (3)
TRG - $65M Revolving Credit Facility . . ... ........ 6.84 % (49) 30,000 2,052 (2) 04/20/24
OthEr. . oo e 7.69 % 12,000 923 (2) 11/01/27 (3)

Total TRG Corporate and Other Indebtedness at

TRG Share of Face Amount. . .. .............. $ 179,000
Total TRG Indebtedness at TRG Share . .. ....... $ 4,691,762
Our Share of TRG Indebtedness . .............. $ 3,941,080

(1)

@)
@)
(4)

Variable rate loans based on one-month (1M) SOFR plus interest rate spreads ranging from 110 bps to 310 bps. 1M SOFR
as of December 31, 2023 was 5.35%.

Requires monthly payment of interest only.
Includes applicable extension available at the Applicable Borrower's option.

Variable rate loan based on 1M SOFR plus an interest rate spread of 299bps. Through an interest rate cap agreement, 1M
SOFR is currently fixed at 4.76% on a portion of the balance.

Amount shown in USD equivalent. CAD Equivalent is 421.5 million.
Requires annual payment of interest only.

Variable rate loans based on Cost of Fund plus an interest rate spreads ranging from 125bps to 175 bps. Cost of Fund as of
December 31, 2023 was 4.3378%.
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Mortgage and Unsecured Debt
As of December 31, 2023
(Dollars in thousands)

(8) Mortgage is outstanding as of 12/31/2023.

(9) Amount shown in USD Equivalent. Ringgit equivalent is 20.3 million.
(10) Amount shown in USD equivalent. Euro equivalent is 500.0 million.
(11) Amount shown in USD equivalent. Baht equivalent is 2.2 billion.

(12) Variable rate loans based on six-month (6M) TIBOR plus interest rate spreads ranging from 15 bps to 35 bps. As of
December 31, 2023, 6M TIBOR was 0.16%.

(13) Amount shown in USD equivalent. Euro equivalent is 750.0 million.
(14) Requires semi-annual payments of interest only.

(15) Credit Facilities. As of December 31, 2023, the Credit Facilities bear interest at a SOFR index subject to a 10 bps adjustment
plus 72.5 bps credit spread. The credit facilities provide for different pricing based upon our investment grade rating. Through
an interest rate swap agreement, the SOFR index is currently fixed at 4.394%. As of December 31, 2023, $8.1 billion was
available after outstanding borrowings and letters of credit under our Credit Facilities.

(16) Variable rate loan based on 3M EURIBOR plus an interest rate spread of 380bps. Through an interest rate cap agreement,
3M Euribor is currently fixed at 1.00% on a portion of the balance.

(17) Amount shown in USD equivalent. Won Equivalent is 382.8 billion.

(18) City of Sunrise Bond Liability (Sawgrass Mills).

(19) Loans secured by these three properties are cross-collateralized and cross-defaulted.
(20) Loans secured by these two properties are cross-collateralized and cross-defaulted.
(21) Amount shown in USD equivalent. GBP equivalent is 168.5 million.

(22) Variable rate loan based on 3M EURIBOR plus interest rate spread of 225 bps. Through an interest rate cap agreement 3M
EURIBOR is capped at 3.29%.

(23) Variable rate loan based on 3M EURIBOR plus interest rate spread of 130 bps. Through an interest rate swap agreement 3M
EURIBOR is fixed at 3.25%.

(24) Variable rate loan based on 3M EURIBOR, which is subject to a floor of 0.00%, plus an interest rate spread of 185 bps.
Through an interest rate cap agreement, 3M EURIBOR is currently fixed at 1.00% on a portion of the balance.

(25) Variable rate loan based on 3M EURIBOR plus an interest rate spread of 250bps. Through an interest rate swap agreement,
3M Euribor is currently fixed at 1.75% on a portion of the balance.

(26) Amount shown in USD Equivalent. Yen equivalent is 50.9 billion.

(27) Associated with this loan is an interest rate swap agreement that effectively fixes the interest rate on this loan at the all-in rate
presented.

(28) Variable rate loan based on Overnight SONIA plus an interest rate spread of 250bps. Through an interest rate swap
agreement, Overnight SONIA is fixed at 4.99%.

(29) Consists of two properties with interest rates ranging from 5.65% to 7.32% and maturities in 2024.
(30) Amount shown in USD equivalent. Euro equivalent is 1.4 billion.

(31) Our share of total indebtedness includes a pro rata share of the mortgage debt on joint venture properties, including The Mills
Limited Partnership. To the extent total indebtedness is secured by a property, it is non-recourse to us, with the exception of
approximately $139.2 million of payment guarantees provided by the Operating Partnership.

(32) Amount shown in USD equivalent. Peso equivalent is 421.2 million.

(33) Variable rate loan based on 30 day Average SOFR plus an interest rate spread of 295 bps. Through an interest rate cap
agreement, 30 day Average SOFR is currently fixed at 5.34%.

(34) Variable rate loan based on 30 day Average SOFR plus an interest rate spread of 275 bps. 30 day Average SOFR, as of
December 31, 2023 was 5.34%.
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Mortgage and Unsecured Debt
As of December 31, 2023
(Dollars in thousands)

(35) Variable rate loan based on Overnight SONIA plus an interest rate spread of 215bps. Through an interest rate swap
agreement, Overnight SONIA is fixed at 2.14% for a portion of the balance.

(36) Variable rate loan based on 1M SOFR plus an interest rate spread of 230 bps. Through an interest rate cap agreement, 1M
SOFR is currently fixed at 4.00%.

(37) Variable rate loan based on one-month (1M) CDOR plus an interest rate spread of 130bps. 1M CDOR as of December 31,
2023 was 5.46%.

(38) Variable rate loan based on 1M SOFR plus an interest rate spread of 305 bps. Through an interest rate cap agreement, 1M
SOFR is currently fixed at 3.89%.

(39) Variable rate loan based on CDOR plus an interest rate spread of 185 bps. Through an interest rate swap agreements,
CDOR is currently fixed at rates ranging from 3.66% to 3.99% for a portion of the balance.

(40) Variable rate loan based on 1M SOFR plus an interest rate spread of 300 bps. Through an interest rate swap agreement,
1M SOFR is currently fixed at 4.44%.

(41) Variable rate loan based on Overnight SONIA plus an interest rate spread of 215bps. Through an interest rate swap
agreement, Overnight SONIA is fixed at 2.14% for a portion of the balance.

(42) Variable rate loan based on 30 day Average SOFR, which is subject to a floor of 0.035%, plus an interest rate spread of 272
bps. 30 day Average SOFR, as of December 31, 2023 was 5.34%.

(43) Variable rate loan based on 1M SOFR, which is subject to a floor of 0.00% plus an interest rate spread of 207bps. Through
interest rate cap agreements, 1M SOFR is currently fixed at 3.50%.

(44) Variable rate loan based on 1M Term SOFR, which is subject to a floor of 0.00% plus an interest rate spread of 310bps.
Through interest rate swap agreements, 1M Term SOFR is currently fixed at 3.77%.

(45) Amounts shown in USD Equivalent. KRW Equivalent is 902.0 billion.
(46) Amounts shown in USD Equivalent. CNY Equivalent is 1.8 billion.
(47) Notes exchangeable into ordinary shares of Klépierre S.A. at a common price of €27.2092.

(48) Variable rate loan based on 1M SOFR, which is subject to a floor of 0.00% plus an interest rate spread ranging from 115bps
to 170bps. 1M SOFR, as of December 31, 2023 was 5.35%.

(49) Variable rate loan based on one-month (1M) BSBY, which is subject to a floor of 0.00% plus an interest rate spread of
140bps. 1M BSBY, as of December 31, 2023 was 5.44%.

The changes in consolidated mortgages and unsecured indebtedness for the years ended December 31, 2023,
2022 and 2021 are as follows:

2023 2022 2021
Balance, Beginningof Year. .. ........ ... . ... . . $ 24,960,286 $ 25321,022 $ 26,723,361
Additions during period:
New Loan Originations .. .......... ... .. ... ... ... 3,610,389 3,443,739 9,255,220
Loans assumed in acquisitions and consolidation. . .......... — 85,689 46,263
Net (Discount)/Premium . ........... ... .. ... ... (43,438) (1,922) (9,118)
Net Debt Issuance Costs. . .. ........ .. .. . .. (60,891) (10,166) (35,818)
Deductions during period:
Loan Retirements .. ... ... ... .. .. . (2,559,276) (3,687,330) (10,386,133)
Amortization of Net Discounts/(Premiums) . ................ 432 7 168
Debt Issuance Cost Amortization . ....................... 28,660 26,113 24,794
Scheduled Principal Amortization .. ...................... (16,455) (22,446) (48,386)
Foreign Currency Translation . .......................... 113,716 (194,420) (249,329)
Balance, Closeof Year . ......... ... . ... ... .. . . . . .. $ 26,033,423 $ 24,960,286 $ 25,321,022
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are involved from time-to-time in various legal and regulatory proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of
our business, including, but not limited to, commercial disputes, environmental matters, and litigation in connection with
transactions such as acquisitions and divestitures. We believe that current proceedings will not have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations. We record a liability when a loss is considered probable
and the amount can be reasonably estimated.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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Part i

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

Simon

Market Information

Simon’s common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “SPG”.
Holders

The number of holders of record of common stock outstanding was 1,080 as of January 31, 2024. The Class B
common stock is subject to two voting trusts as to which Herbert Simon and David Simon are the trustees. Shares of
Class B common stock convert automatically into an equal number of shares of common stock upon the occurrence of
certain events and can be converted into shares of common stock at the option of the holders.

Dividends

We must pay a minimum amount of dividends to maintain Simon’s status as a REIT. Simon’s future dividends and
future distributions of the Operating Partnership will be determined by Simon’s Board of Directors, in its sole discretion,
based on actual and projected financial condition, liquidity and results of operations, cash available for dividends and limited
partner distributions, cash reserves as deemed necessary for capital and operating expenditures, financing covenants, if
any, and the amount required to maintain Simon’s status as a REIT.

Common stock cash dividends paid during 2023 aggregated $7.45 per share. Common stock cash dividends during
2022 aggregated $6.90 per share. On February 5, 2024, Simon’s Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend for
the first quarter of 2024 of $1.95 per share, payable on March 29, 2024 to shareholders of record on March 8, 2024.

We offer a dividend reinvestment plan that allows Simon’s stockholders to acquire additional shares by automatically
reinvesting cash dividends. Shares are acquired pursuant to the plan at a price equal to the prevailing market price of such
shares, without payment of any brokerage commission or service charge.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities
There were no unregistered sales of equity securities made by Simon during the quarter ended December 31, 2023.
Issuances Under Equity Compensation Plans

For information regarding the securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans, see ltem 12
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Total number Approximate
of shares value of shares

purchased as that may yet

Total number Average part of publicly be purchased

of shares price paid announced under
Period purchased per share plans plans (1)
October 1, 2023 - October 31,2023............. 316,368 $ 108.32 316,368 $1,679,728,717
November 1, 2023 - November 30, 2023......... — 9 — — $1,679,728,717
December 1, 2023 - December 31, 2023......... 5,738 $123.46 5,738 $1,679,020,324
322,106 $108.59 322,106

(1) On May 9, 2022, Simon’s Board of Directors authorized a common stock repurchase plan commencing on May 16,
2022, or the Repurchase Program. Under the program, the Company may purchase up to $2.0 billion of its common
stock during the two-year period ending May 16, 2024 in open market or privately negotiated transactions, at prices
that the Company deems appropriate and subject to market conditions, applicable law, and other factors deemed
relevant in the Company’s sole discretion. On February 8, 2024, Simon’s Board of Directors authorized a new
common stock repurchase program which replaces the existing Repurchase Program immediately, where the
Company may purchase up to $2.0 billion of its common stock over the next 24 months. As Simon repurchases shares
under these programs, the Operating Partnership repurchases an equal number of units from Simon.
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The Operating Partnership

Market Information

There is no established trading market for units or preferred units.
Holders

The number of holders of record of units was 230 as of January 31, 2024.
Distributions

The Operating Partnership makes distributions on its units in amounts sufficient to maintain Simon's qualification as
a REIT. Simon is required each year to distribute to its stockholders at least 90% of its REIT taxable income after certain
adjustments. Future distributions will be determined by Simon’s Board of Directors, in its sole discretion, based on actual
and projected financial condition, liquidity and results of operations, cash available for distributions, cash reserves as
deemed necessary for capital and operating expenditures, financing covenants, if any, and the distributions that may be
required to maintain Simon's status as a REIT.

Distributions during 2023 aggregated $7.45 per unit. Distributions during 2022 aggregated $6.90 per unit. On
February 5, 2024, Simon’s Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend for the first quarter of 2024 of $1.95 per
share, payable on March 29, 2024 to shareholders of record on March 8, 2024. The distribution rate on the Operating
Partnership’s units is equal to the dividend rate on Simon’s common stock.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

There were no unregistered sales of equity securities made by the Operating Partnership during the quarter ended
December 31, 2023.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

During the quarter ended December 31, 2023, the Operating Partnership redeemed 18,919 units from four limited
partners for $2.6 million in cash.

Item 6. Reserved
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto
that are included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

Simon Property Group, Inc. is a Delaware corporation that operates as a self-administered and self-managed real
estate investment trust, or REIT, under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Internal Revenue Code.
REITs will generally not be liable for U.S. federal corporate income taxes as long as they distribute not less than 100% of
their REIT taxable income. Simon Property Group, L.P. is our majority-owned Delaware partnership subsidiary that owns
all of our real estate properties and other assets. In this discussion, unless stated otherwise or the context otherwise
requires, references to "Simon" mean Simon Property Group, Inc. and references to the "Operating Partnership" mean
Simon Property Group, L.P. References to "we," "us" and "our" mean collectively Simon, the Operating Partnership and
those entities/subsidiaries owned or controlled by Simon and/or the Operating Partnership. According to the Operating
Partnership's partnership agreement, the Operating Partnership is required to pay all expenses of Simon.

We own, develop and manage premier shopping, dining, entertainment and mixed-use destinations, which consist
primarily of malls, Premium Outlets®, and The Mills®. As of December 31, 2023, we owned or held an interest in
195 income-producing properties in the United States, which consisted of 93 malls, 69 Premium Outlets, 14 Mills, six
lifestyle centers, and 13 other retail properties in 37 states and Puerto Rico. We also own an 84% noncontrolling interest
in The Taubman Realty Group, LLC, or TRG, which has an interest in 24 regional, super-regional, and outlet malls in the
U.S. and Asia. In addition, we have redevelopment and expansion projects, including the addition of anchors, big box
tenants, and restaurants, underway at several properties in the North America, Europe and Asia. Internationally, as of
December 31, 2023, we had ownership in 35 Premium Outlets and Designer Outlet properties primarily located in Asia,
Europe, and Canada. As of December 31, 2023, we also owned a 22.4% equity stake in Klépierre SA, or Klépierre, a
publicly traded, Paris-based real estate company, which owns, or has an interest in, shopping centers located in
14 countries in Europe. We also own investments in retail operations (J.C. Penney and SPARC Group); an intellectual
property and licensing venture (Authentic Brands Group, LLC, or ABG); an e-commerce venture (Rue Gilt Groupe, or RGG),
and Jamestown (a global real estate investment and management company), collectively, our other platform investments.

We generate the maijority of our lease income from retail, dining, entertainment, and other tenants including
consideration received from:

¢ fixed minimum lease consideration and fixed common area maintenance (CAM) reimbursements, and

e variable lease consideration primarily based on tenants’ sales, as well as reimbursements for real estate taxes,
utilities, marketing and certain other items.

Revenues of our management company, after intercompany eliminations, consist primarily of management fees
that are typically based upon the revenues of the property being managed.

We invest in real estate properties to maximize total financial return which includes both operating cash flows and
capital appreciation. We seek growth in earnings, funds from operations, or FFO, and cash flows by enhancing the
profitability and operation of our properties and investments. We seek to accomplish this growth through the following:

e attracting and retaining high quality tenants and utilizing economies of scale to reduce operating expenses,
¢ expanding and re-tenanting existing highly productive locations at competitive rental rates,
o selectively acquiring or increasing our interests in high quality real estate assets or portfolios of assets,

¢ generating consumer traffic in our retail properties through marketing initiatives and strategic corporate alliances,
and

o selling selective non-core assets.
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We also grow by generating supplemental revenues from the following activities:

e establishing our malls as leading market resource providers for retailers and other businesses and
consumer-focused corporate alliances, including payment systems (such as handling fees relating to the sales
of bank-issued prepaid cards), national marketing alliances, static and digital media initiatives, business
development, sponsorship, and events,

o offering property operating services to our tenants and others, including waste handling and facility services, and
the provision of energy services,

¢ selling or leasing land adjacent to our properties, commonly referred to as “outlots” or “outparcels,” and
e generating interest income on cash deposits and investments in loans, including those made to related entities.

We focus on high quality real estate across the retail real estate spectrum. We expand or redevelop properties to
enhance profitability and market share of existing assets when we believe the investment of our capital meets our
risk-reward criteria. We selectively develop new properties in markets we believe are not adequately served by existing
retail outlet properties.

We routinely review and evaluate acquisition opportunities based on their ability to enhance our portfolio. Our
international strategy includes partnering with established real estate companies and financing international investments
with local currency to minimize foreign exchange risk.

To support our growth, we employ a three-fold capital strategy:
¢ provide the capital necessary to fund growth,

e maintain sufficient flexibility to access capital in many forms, both public and private, including but not limited to,
having in place, the Operating Partnership’s $5.0 billion unsecured revolving credit facility, or the Credit Facility,
its $3.5 billion supplemental unsecured revolving credit facility, or its Supplemental Facility, together, the Credit
Facilities and its global unsecured commercial paper note program, or the Commercial Paper program, of $2.0
billion, or the non-U.S. dollar equivalent thereof, and

¢ manage our overall financial structure in a fashion that preserves our investment grade credit ratings.

We consider FFO, net operating income, or NOI, and portfolio NOI to be key measures of operating performance
that are not specifically defined by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, or GAAP. We use these
measures internally to evaluate the operating performance of our portfolio and provide a basis for comparison with other
real estate companies. Reconciliations of these measures to the most comparable GAAP measures are included below in
this discussion.

Results Overview

Diluted earnings per share and diluted earnings per unit increased $0.46 during 2023 to $6.98 as compared to $6.52
in 2022. The increase in diluted earnings per share and diluted earnings per unit was primarily attributable to:

e improved operating performance and solid core business fundamentals in 2023, as discussed below,

e pre-tax gains in 2023 on the disposal, exchange, or revaluation of equity interests of $362.0 million, or $0.97 per
diluted share/unit, of which $204.9 million, or $0.55 per diluted share/unit, was non-cash,

¢ increased lease income in 2023 of $259.2 million, or $0.69 per diluted share/unit,

e increased other income of $99.1 million, or $0.26 per diluted share/unit, primarily due to a $59.5 million, or $0.16
per diluted share/unit, increase in distributions and other income and a $56.6 million, or $0.15 per diluted
share/unit, increase in interest income, partially offset by a decrease in lease settlement income of $17.0 million,
or $0.05 per diluted share/unit,

e an unrealized favorable change in fair value of publicly traded equity instruments and derivative instrument, net
of $73.1 million, or $0.20 per diluted share/unit, partially offset by

¢ decreased income from unconsolidated entities of $272.3 million, or $0.73 per diluted share/unit, the majority of
which is due to unfavorable year-over-year operations from other platform investments,
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a non-cash gain in 2022 on the disposal, exchange, or revaluation of equity interests, net of $121.2 million, or
$0.32 per diluted share/unit,

e increased interest expense in 2023 of $93.4 million, or $0.25 per diluted share/unit, primarily due to new USD
and EUR bond issuances as well as increases to rates on variable rate mortgages,

e increased other expenses in 2023 of $35.6 million, or $0.10 per diluted share/unit,
¢ increased depreciation and amortization in 2023 of $34.7 million, or $0.09 per diluted share/unit, and
e increased property operating expenses in 2023 of $25.2 million, or $0.07 per diluted share/unit.

Portfolio NOl increased 4.9% in 2023 as compared to 2022. Average base minimum rent for U.S. Malls and Premium
Outlets increased 3.1% to $56.82 psf as of December 31, 2023, from $55.13 psf as of December 31, 2022. Ending
occupancy for our U.S. Malls and Premium Outlets increased 0.9% to 95.8% as of December 31, 2023, from 94.9% as of
December 31, 2022, primarily due to strong leasing demand.

Our effective overall borrowing rate at December 31, 2023 on our consolidated indebtedness increased 27 basis
points to 3.49% as compared to 3.22% at December 31, 2022. This increase was primarily due to an increase in the
effective overall borrowing rate on variable rate debt of 198 basis points (5.91% at December 31, 2023 as compared to
3.93% at December 31, 2022) due to increasing benchmark rates, partially offset by a decrease in the amount of our
variable rate debt and an increase in fixed rate debt. The weighted average years to maturity of our consolidated
indebtedness was 8.1 years and 7.5 years at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Our financing activity for the year ended December 31, 2023 included:

¢ the Operating Partnership completing on November 14, 2023, the issuance of €750.0 million senior unsecured
bonds ($808.0 million U.S. dollar equivalent) with a maturity date of November 14, 2026 and a fixed interest rate
of 3.50%. The bonds are exchangeable into shares of Klépierre at the option of the holder of the bond at an
initial common price of €27.2092. We may elect to settle the exchange with cash instead of shares. Proceeds
were used to repay €750.0 million ($815.4 million U.S. dollar equivalent) outstanding under the Supplemental
Facility on November 17, 2023.

o the Operating Partnership completing on November 9, 2023, the issuance of the following senior unsecured
notes: $500 million with a fixed interest rate of 6.25% and $500 million with a fixed interest rate of 6.65%, with
maturity dates of January 15, 2034 and January 15, 2054, respectively.

e borrowing $180.0 million under the Credit Facility and subsequently unencumbering two properties,

e completing, on June 1, 2023 the redemption at par of the Operating Partnership’s $600 million 2.75% notes at
maturity,

o the Operating Partnership completing on March 8, 2023, the issuance of the following senior unsecured notes:
$650 million with a fixed interest rate of 5.5% and $650 million with a fixed interest rate of 5.85%, with maturity
dates of March 8, 2033 and March 8, 2053, respectively. A portion of the net proceeds were used to fund the
optional redemption at par of the Operating Partnerships $500 million floating interest rate notes due
January 2024 on March 13, 2023, and

e Amending, restating, extending, and increasing our existing $4.0 billion unsecured revolving credit facility on
March 14, 2023 with a new $5.0 billion unsecured revolving credit facility.

United States Portfolio Data

The portfolio data discussed in this overview includes the following key operating statistics: ending occupancy, and
average base minimum rent per square foot. We include acquired properties in this data beginning in the year of acquisition
and remove disposed properties in the year of disposition. For comparative information purposes, we separate the
information related to The Mills and TRG from our other U.S. operations. We also do not include any information for
properties located outside the United States.
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The following table sets forth these key operating statistics for the combined U.S. Malls and Premium Outlets:
o properties that are consolidated in our consolidated financial statements,

e properties we account for under the equity method of accounting as joint ventures, and

¢ the foregoing two categories of properties on a total portfolio basis.

%/Basis Point %/Basis Point
2023 Change (1) 2022 Change (1) 2021

U.S. Malls and Premium Outlets:

Ending Occupancy

Consolidated . .......... .. ... ... i 95.7% 80 bps 94.9% 140 bps 93.5%
Unconsolidated ............... .. ... ... ...... 96.1% 120 bps 94.9% 180 bps 93.1%
Total Portfolio. . ............................. 95.8% 90 bps 94.9% 150 bps 93.4%
Average Base Minimum Rent per Square Foot

Consolidated ................ ... ... . ... $ 55.47 2.8% $ 53.95 2.6% $ 52.59
Unconsolidated .............................. $ 60.59 3.8% $ 58.36 1.4% $ 57.55
Total Portfolio. .............................. $ 56.82 3.1% $ 55.13 2.3% $ 53.91
U.S. TRG:

Ending Occupancy . ......................... 95.7% 120 bps 94.5% 330 bps 91.2%
Average Base Minimum Rent per Square Foot... $ 65.01 5.3% $ 61.76 5.2% $ 58.69
The Mills:

Ending Occupancy .......................... 97.8% -40 bps 98.2% 60 bps 97.6%
Average Base Minimum Rent per Square Foot... $ 36.38 4.3% $ 34.89 3.2% $ 33.80

(1) Percentages may not recalculate due to rounding. Percentage and basis point changes are representative of the change from
the comparable prior period.

Ending Occupancy Levels and Average Base Minimum Rent per Square Foot. Ending occupancy is the
percentage of gross leasable area, or GLA, which is leased as of the last day of the reporting period. We include all
company owned space except for mall anchors, mall majors, mall freestanding and mall outlots in the calculation. Base
minimum rent per square foot is the average base minimum rent charge in effect for the reporting period for all tenants that
would qualify to be included in ending occupancy.

Current Leasing Activities

During the twelve months ended December 31, 2023, we signed 1,185 new leases and 1,841 renewal leases
(excluding mall anchors and majors, new development, redevelopment and leases with terms of one year or less) with a
fixed minimum rent across our U.S. Malls and Premium Outlets portfolio, comprising approximately 10.9 million square
feet, of which 8.3 million square feet related to consolidated properties. During 2022, we signed 1,262 new leases and
1,517 renewal leases with a fixed minimum rent, comprising approximately 9.1 million square feet, of which 7.0 million
square feet related to consolidated properties. The average annual initial base minimum rent for new leases was $66.39
per square foot in 2023 and $55.41 per square foot in 2022 with an average tenant allowance on new leases of $64.31 per
square foot and $53.01 per square foot, respectively.

Japan Data

The following are selected key operating statistics for our Premium Outlets in Japan. The information used to prepare
these statistics has been supplied by the managing venture partner.

December 31, %l/basis point December 31, %/basis point December 31,

2023 Change 2022 Change 2021
Ending Occupancy. . ............ 99.7% -10 bps 99.8% 0 bps 99.8%
Average Base Minimum Rent per
Square Foot ................. ¥ 5,494 -4.93% ¥ 5,779 4.90% ¥ 5,509
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Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP,
requires management to use judgment in the application of accounting policies, including making estimates and
assumptions. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. These judgments affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the
reporting periods. If our judgment or interpretation of the facts and circumstances relating to various transactions had been
different, it is possible that different accounting policies would have been applied resulting in a different presentation of our
financial statements. From time to time, we reevaluate our estimates and assumptions. In the event estimates or
assumptions prove to be different from actual results, adjustments are made in subsequent periods to reflect more current
information. Below is a discussion of accounting policies that we consider critical in that they may require complex judgment
in their application or require estimates about matters that are inherently uncertain. For a summary of our significant
accounting policies, see Note 3 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

e We, as a lessor, primarily under long-term leases, retain substantially all of the risks and benefits of ownership of
the investment properties and account for our leases as operating leases. We accrue fixed lease income on a
straight-line basis over the terms of the leases, when we believe substantially all lease income, including the
related straight-line rent receivable, is probable of collection. Our assessment of collectability, primarily under
long-term leases, incorporates available operational performance measures such as sales and the aging of billed
amounts as well as other publicly available information with respect to our tenant’s financial condition, liquidity
and capital resources. When a tenant seeks to reorganize its operations through bankruptcy proceedings, we
assess the collectability of receivable balances including, among other things, the timing of a tenant’s bankruptcy
filing and our expectations of the assumption by the tenant in bankruptcy proceeding of leases at the Company’s
properties on substantially similar terms. In the event that we determine accrued receivables are not probable of
collection, lease income will be recorded on a cash basis, with the corresponding tenant receivable and straight-
line rent receivable charged as a direct write-off against lease income in the period of the change in our
collectability determination.

¢ We review investment properties for impairment on a property-by-property basis to identify and evaluate events
or changes in circumstances which indicate that the carrying value of investment properties may not be
recoverable. These circumstances include, but are not limited to, changes in a property’s operational performance
such as declining cash flows, occupancy or total sales per square foot, the Company’s intent and ability to hold
the related asset, and, if applicable, the remaining time to maturity of underlying financing arrangements. We
measure any impairment of investment property when the estimated undiscounted operating income before
depreciation and amortization during the anticipated holding period plus its residual value is less than the carrying
value of the property. To the extent impairment has occurred, we charge to income the excess of carrying value
of the property over our estimate of its fair value. We also review our investments, including investments in
unconsolidated entities, to identify and evaluate whether events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of our investments may not be recoverable. We will record an impairment charge if we determine
the fair value of the investments are less than their carrying value and such impairment is other-than-temporary.
Our evaluation of changes in economic or operating conditions and whether an impairment is other-than-
temporary may include developing estimates of fair value, forecasted cash flows or operating income before
depreciation and amortization. We estimate undiscounted cash flows and fair value using observable and
unobservable data such as operating income, hold periods, estimated capitalization and discount rates, or
relevant market multiples, leasing prospects and local market information and whether certain impairments are
other-than-temporary. Changes in economic and operating conditions, including changes in the financial condition
of our tenants, and changes to our intent and ability to hold the related asset, that occur subsequent to our review
of recoverability of investment property and other investments could impact the assumptions used in that
assessment and could result in future charges to earnings if assumptions regarding those investments differ from
actual results.

¢ To maintain Simon’s status as a REIT, we must distribute at least 90% of REIT taxable income in any given year
and meet certain asset and income tests. We monitor our business and transactions that may potentially impact
Simon’s REIT status. In the unlikely event that we fail to maintain Simon’s REIT status, and available relief
provisions do not apply, we would be required to pay U.S. federal income taxes at regular corporate income tax
rates during the period Simon did not qualify as a REIT. If Simon lost its REIT status, it could not elect to be taxed
as a REIT for four taxable years following the year during which qualification was lost unless its failure was due
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to reasonable cause and certain other conditions were met. As a result, failing to maintain REIT status would
result in a significant increase in the income tax expense recorded and paid during those periods.

In the period of a significant acquisition of real estate, we make estimates as part of our valuation of the purchase
price of asset acquisitions (including the components of excess investment in joint ventures) to the various
components of the acquisition based upon the relative fair value of each component. The most significant
components of our real estate valuations are typically the determination of relative fair value to the buildings
as-if-vacant, land and market value of in-place leases. In the case of the fair value of buildings and fair value of
land and other intangibles, our estimates of the values of these components will affect the amount of depreciation
or amortization we record over the estimated useful life of the property acquired or the remaining lease term. In
the case of the market value of in-place leases, we make our best estimates of the tenants’ ability to pay rents
based upon the tenants’ operating performance at the property, including the competitive position of the property
in its market as well as sales psf, rents psf, and overall occupancy cost for the tenants in place at the acquisition
date. Our assumptions affect the amount of future revenue that we will recognize over the remaining lease term
for the acquired in-place leases.

Results of Operations

The following acquisitions, dispositions, and openings of consolidated properties affected our consolidated results
in the comparative periods:

On April 27, 2023, we opened Paris-Giverny Designer Outlet, a 228,000 square foot center in Vernon, France.
We own a 74% interest in this center.

On June 17, 2022, we acquired an additional interest in Gloucester Premium Outlets from a joint venture, resulting
in the consolidation of this property.

During the second quarter of 2022, we disposed of one retail property.
During 2021, we disposed of three retail properties.

During the first quarter of 2021, we consolidated one Designer Outlet property in Europe that had previously been
accounted for under the equity method.

The following acquisitions, dispositions, and openings of noncontrolling interests in joint venture entities affected
our income from unconsolidated entities in the comparative periods:

During 2023, ABG completed multiple capital transactions which resulted in the dilution of our ownership and
multiple deemed disposals of a proportional interest of our investment. In addition, we sold a portion of our
interest in ABG on November 29, 2023. These transactions reduced our ownership from 12.3% to 9.6%.

During the third quarter of 2023, we disposed of our interest in one unconsolidated retail property through
foreclosure in satisfaction of its $114.8 million non-recourse loan. We recognized no gain or loss in connection
with this disposal.

On September 7, 2023, we acquired an additional 4% ownership in TRG for approximately $199.6 million by
issuing 1,725,000 units in the Operating Partnership, bringing our noncontrolling ownership interest in TRG to
84%.

During the third quarter of 2023, SPARC Group issued equity to a third party resulting in the dilution of our
ownership to 33.3% and a deemed disposal of a proportional interest of our investment. As a result, we
recognized a non-cash pre-tax gain on the deemed disposal of $145.8 million.

During the fourth quarter of 2022, we disposed of one retail property.

During the fourth quarter of 2022, we sold to ABG all of our interests in the licensing venture of Eddie Bauer for
additional interests in ABG. Our noncontrolling interest in ABG was approximately 12.3% after this transaction.

On December 19, 2022, we completed the acquisition of a 50% noncontrolling legal ownership interest in
Jamestown, a global real estate investment and asset management company, as well as separate interests in
certain real estate and working capital, for total cash consideration of $173.4 million.

On November 3, 2022, we opened Fukaya-Hanazono Premium Outlets, a 296,300 square foot center in Fukaya
City, Japan. We own a 40% interest in this center.
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e During the third quarter of 2022, we disposed of one retail property.
o During the fourth quarter of 2021, we disposed of our noncontrolling interest in one retail property.

e On December 20, 2021, we sold a portion of our interest in ABG for cash consideration of $65.5 million and
purchased additional interests in ABG for cash consideration of $100.0 million.

e On October 15, 2021, we opened Jeju Premium Outlets, a 92,000 square foot center in Jeju Province, South
Korea. We own a 50% interest in this center.

e OnJuly 1, 2021, we sold to ABG all of our interests in the licensing ventures of Forever 21 and Brooks Brothers
for additional interests in ABG.

e On June 1, 2021, we and our partner, ABG, acquired the licensing rights of Eddie Bauer. Our noncontrolling
interest in the licensing venture is 49% and was acquired for cash consideration of $100.8 million.

e On April 12, 2021, we opened West Midlands Designer Outlet, a 197,000 square foot center in Cannock, United
Kingdom. We own a 23.2% interest in this center.

¢ In the first quarter of 2021, we and our partner, ABG, both acquired additional 12.5% interests in the licensing
and operations of Forever 21 for $56.3 million bringing our interest to 50%. Subsequently the Forever 21
operations were merged into SPARC Group.

For the purposes of the following comparisons between the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and the
years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the above transactions are referred to as the property transactions. In the
following discussions of our results of operations, “comparable” refers to properties we owned and operated in both years
in the year to year comparisons.

Year Ended December 31, 2023 vs. Year Ended December 31, 2022

Lease income increased $259.2 million, due to an increase in fixed lease income of $286.7 million primarily due to
an increase in fixed minimum lease consideration and higher occupancy, partially offset by a decrease in variable lease
income based on tenant sales of $27.5 million.

Total other income increased $99.1 million, primarily due to a $56.6 million increase in interest income, a $52.0
million increase in mixed use and franchise operations income, a $13.1 million increase in dividend and distribution income
and a $3.7 million increase in Simon Brand Ventures, fee and other income, partially offset by a $17.0 million decrease in
lease settlement income and a $9.3 million decrease in land sale activity.

Home and regional office costs increased $23.0 million primarily due to increased personnel and compensation
costs.

Other expense increased $35.6 million primarily due to increased mixed use and franchise operations expenses of
$50.8 million, partially offset by the 2022 write-off of $13.4 million in development costs related to an international
development project in Germany we no longer intended to pursue.

Interest expense increased $93.4 million primarily related to new USD bond issuances during 2023 of $69.5 million,
activity with regards to the Credit Facilities of $24.5 million and $8.8 million from increased variable rates, partially offset
by a USD bond payoff during 2023 of $14.7 million and a Euro bond payoff during 2022 of $9.8 million.

During 2023, SPARC Group issued equity to a third party resulting in the dilution of our ownership to 33.3% and a
deemed disposal of a proportional interest of our investment. As a result, we recognized a non-cash pre-tax gain on the
deemed disposal of $145.8 million. During 2023, ABG completed multiple capital transactions which resulted in the dilution
of our ownership and multiple deemed disposals of a proportional interest of our investment. As a result, we recognized
non-cash pre-tax gains on the deemed disposals of $59.1 million. During 2023, we also recorded our share of the gain on
the sale of a portion of our ABG interests of $157.1 million. During 2022, we recorded a $159.0 million non-cash gain as a
result of the sale to ABG of all of our interests in the Eddie Bauer licensing venture for additional interests in ABG, partially
offset by a loss of $37.8 million on the revaluation or disposal of other investments.

Income and other tax expense decreased $1.6 million primarily related to the 2022 Eddie Bauer licensing transaction
noted above of $39.7 million and an overall lower tax expense on our share of operating results from our other platform
investments of approximately $27.2 million, partially offset by the tax impact of the SPARC and ABG transactions in 2023
noted above of $69.3 million.
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Income from unconsolidated entities decreased $272.3 million primarily due to lower results of operations from our
other platform investments.

During 2023, we recorded an $11.2 million loss on the disposition of certain assets by Klépierre and an impairment
on a joint venture property, our share of which was $8.6 million, partially offset by an $8.7 million gain on the disposition of
certain assets by a joint venture investment and an $8.1 million gain on excess insurance proceeds. During 2022, we
recorded a $19.9 million gain on the disposition of one unconsolidated property, a $2.1 million gain related to excess
insurance proceeds and a $1.3 million gain on the disposition of certain assets by Klépierre, partially offset by a $17.7
million loss primarily related to the disposition of one consolidated property.

Simon’s net income attributable to noncontrolling interests increased $21.0 million due to an increase in the net
income of the Operating Partnership.

Year Ended December 31, 2022 vs. Year Ended December 31, 2021

Lease income increased $168.5 million, of which the property transactions accounted for a $23.2 million decrease.
Comparable lease income increased $191.7 million, or 4.1%. Total lease income increased primarily due to an increase
in fixed lease income of $156.6 million primarily due to an increase in fixed minimum lease consideration, higher occupancy,
and an increase in variable lease income of $11.9 million primarily related to higher consideration based on tenant sales.

Total other income decreased $4.2 million, primarily due to a decrease in lease settlement income of $38.8 million,
a $14.9 million gain from the sale of our interest in a multi-family residential property in 2021, and a $6.8 million non-cash
dilution gain on a non-retail investment in 2021, partially offset by an $20.8 million increase in fee and other income, a
$17.9 million increase related to Simon Brand Ventures and gift card revenues, a $9.8 million increase related to land sale
activity and a $7.8 million increase in interest income.

Property operating expenses increased $48.4 million primarily due to the return to a more normalized operating
environment following the peak of the COVID pandemic.

Other expense increased $11.7 million primarily due to an increase in legal fees and foreign currency revaluations.

Interest expense decreased $34.5 million primarily related to the early extinguishment of nine secured loans, the
disposition of three retail properties, and the refinancing of two retail properties at lower interest rates in 2021, partially
offset by the issuances of Euro and USD bonds and interest increases due to variable rates in 2022.

During 2021, we recorded a loss on extinguishment of debt of $51.8 million as a result of the early redemption of
unsecured notes and the payoff of mortgages at nine properties.

During 2022, we recorded a $159.0 million non-cash gain as a result of the sale to ABG of all of our interests in the
Eddie Bauer licensing venture for additional interests in ABG, partially offset by a loss of $37.8 million on the revaluation
or disposal of other investments. During 2021, we recorded a non-cash gain of $159.8 million as a result of the sale to ABG
of all of our interests in the licensing ventures of Forever 21 and Brooks Brothers for additional interests in ABG and a gain
on the sale of a portion of our interest in ABG of $18.8 million, as discussed further in Note 6.

Income and other tax expense decreased $73.7 million due to the impact in 2021 on deferred tax expense as a
result of the ABG transaction noted above, which had a non-cash tax impact of $55.9 million, offset by the impact in 2022
on deferred tax expense of the 2022 ABG transaction noted above, which had a non-cash tax impact of $39.7 million, and
lower tax expense in 2022 on our share of operating results from our other platform investments.

Income from unconsolidated entities decreased $134.9 million primarily due to unfavorable results of operations
year over year from our other platform investments of $216.1 million, as well as the reversal in 2021 of a previously
established deferred tax liability at Klépierre resulting in a non-cash gain, of which our share was $118.4 million, partially
offset by favorable year over year results of operations across the properties and TRG in 2022.

During 2022, we recorded a $19.9 million gain on the disposition of one unconsolidated property, a $2.1 million gain
related to excess insurance proceeds and a $1.3 million gain on the disposition of certain assets by Klépierre, partially
offset by a $17.7 million loss primarily related to the disposition of one consolidated property. During 2021, we recorded
gains of $184.0 million related to the disposition of three consolidated properties, our interest in one unconsolidated property
and the impact from the consolidation of one property that was previously unconsolidated, and gains of $21.2 million related
to property insurance recoveries of previously depreciated assets.

Simon’s net income attributable to noncontrolling interests decreased $6.2 million due to a decrease in the net
income of the Operating Partnership.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Because we own long-lived income-producing assets, our financing strategy relies primarily on long-term fixed rate
debt. Floating rate debt comprised 1.1% of our total consolidated debt at December 31, 2023. We also enter into interest
rate protection agreements from time to time to manage our interest rate risk. We derive most of our liquidity from positive
net cash flow from operations and distributions of capital from unconsolidated entities that totaled $4.2 billion in the
aggregate during 2023. The Credit Facilities and the Commercial Paper program provide alternative sources of liquidity as
our cash needs vary from time to time. Borrowing capacity under these sources may be increased as discussed further
below.

Our balance of cash and cash equivalents increased $547.4 million during 2023 to $1.2 billion as of December 31,
2023 as further discussed below.

On December 31, 2023, we had an aggregate available borrowing capacity of approximately $8.1 billion under the
Facilities, net of letters of credit of $58.6 million. For the year ended December 31, 2023, the maximum aggregate
outstanding balance under the Credit Facilities was $1.1 billion and the weighted average outstanding balance was $962.6
million. The weighted average interest rate was 4.36% for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Simon has historically had access to public equity markets and the Operating Partnership has historically had access
to private and public, short and long-term unsecured debt markets and access to secured debt and private equity from
institutional investors at the property level.

Our business model and Simon'’s status as a REIT require us to regularly access the debt markets to raise funds
for acquisition, development and redevelopment activity, and to refinance maturing debt. Simon may also, from time to
time, access the equity capital markets to accomplish our business objectives. We believe we have sufficient cash on hand
and availability under the Credit Facilities and the Commercial Paper program to address our debt maturities and capital
needs through 2024.

Cash Flows

Our net cash flow from operating activities and distributions of capital from unconsolidated entities totaled $4.2 billion
during 2023. In addition, we had net proceeds of debt from our debt financing and repayment activities of $971.3 million in
2023. These activities are further discussed below under “Financing and Debt.” During 2023, we also:

e paid stockholder dividends and unitholder distributions totaling approximately $2.8 billion and preferred unit
distributions totaling $5.2 million,

¢ funded consolidated capital expenditures of $793.3 million (including development and other costs of $156.0
million, redevelopment and expansion costs of $328.8 million, and tenant costs and other operational capital
expenditures of $308.5 million),

¢ funded investments in unconsolidated entities of $84.0 million,
¢ funded the purchase of $1.0 billion of short-term investments,
¢ funded the repurchase of $140.6 million of Simon’s common stock, and
e received proceeds from the sale of equity instruments of $304.1 million.

In general, we anticipate that cash generated from operations will be sufficient to meet operating expenses, monthly
debt service, recurring capital expenditures, and dividends to stockholders and/or distributions to partners necessary to
maintain Simon’s REIT qualification on a long-term basis. In addition, we expect to be able to generate or obtain capital
for nonrecurring capital expenditures, such as acquisitions, major building redevelopments and expansions, as well as for
scheduled principal maturities on outstanding indebtedness, from the following, however a severe and prolonged disruption
and instability in the global financial markets, including the debt and equity capital markets, may affect our ability to access
necessary capital:

e excess cash generated from operating performance and working capital reserves,
¢ borrowings on the Credit Facilities and Commercial Paper program,
¢ additional secured or unsecured debt financing, or

e additional equity raised in the public or private markets.
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We expect to generate positive cash flow from operations in 2024, and we consider these projected cash flows in
our sources and uses of cash. These cash flows are principally derived from rents paid by our tenants. A significant
deterioration in projected cash flows from operations, could cause us to increase our reliance on available funds from the
Credit Facilities and Commercial Paper program, further curtail planned capital expenditures, or seek other additional
sources of financing.

Financing and Debt
Unsecured Debt

At December 31, 2023, our unsecured debt consisted of $20.7 billion of senior unsecured notes of the Operating
Partnership, $305.0 million outstanding under the Credit Facility.

The Credit Facility can be increased in the form of additional commitments in an aggregate not to exceed $1.0
billion, for a total aggregate size of $6.0 billion, subject to obtaining additional lender commitments and satisfying certain
customary conditions precedent. Borrowings may be denominated in U.S. dollars, Euro, Yen, Pounds, Sterling, Canadian
dollars and Australian dollars. Borrowings in currencies other than the U.S. dollar are limited to 97% of the maximum
revolving credit amount, as defined. The initial maturity date of the Credit Facility is June 30, 2027. The Credit Facility can
be extended for two additional six-month periods to June 30, 2028, at our sole option, subject to satisfying certain customary
conditions precedent.

Borrowings under the Credit Facility bear interest, at our election, at either (i) (x) for Term Benchmark Loans, the
Adjusted Term SOFR Rate, the applicable Local Rate, the Adjusted EURIBOR Rate, or the Adjusted TIBOR Rate, (y) for
RFR Loans, if denominated in Sterling, SONIA plus a benchmark adjustment and if denominated in Dollars, Daily Simple
SOFR plus a benchmark adjustment, or (z) for Daily SOFR Loans, the Adjusted Floating Overnight Daily SOFR Rate, in
each case of clauses (x) through (z) above, plus a margin determined by our corporate credit rating of between 0.650%
and 1.400% or (ii) for loans denominated in U.S. Dollars only, the base rate (which rate is equal to the greatest of the prime
rate, the federal funds effective rate plus 0.500% or Adjusted Term SOFR Rate for one month plus 1.000%) (the “Base
Rate”), plus a margin determined by our corporate credit rating of between 0.000% and 0.400%. The Credit Facility includes
a facility fee determined by our corporate credit rating of between 0.100% and 0.300% on the aggregate revolving
commitments under the Credit Facility. Based upon our current credit ratings, the interest rate on the Credit Facility is
SOFR plus 72.5 basis points, plus a spread adjustment to account for the transition from LIBOR to SOFR.

The Supplemental Facility, has a borrowing capacity of $3.5 to $4.5 billion during its term and provides for
borrowings denominated in U.S. dollars, Euro, Yen, Pounds, Sterling, Canadian dollars and Australian dollars. Borrowings
in currencies other than the U.S. dollar are limited to 100% of the maximum revolving credit amount, as defined. The initial
maturity date of the Supplemental Facility is January 31, 2026 and can be extended for an additional year to January 31,
2027 at our sole option, subject to satisfying certain customary conditions precedent.

Borrowings under the Supplemental Facility bear interest, at our election, at either (i) (x) for Term Benchmark Loans,
the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate, the applicable Local Rate, the Adjusted EURIBOR Rate, or the Adjusted TIBOR Rate,
(y) for RFR Loans, if denominated in Sterling, SONIA plus a benchmark adjustment and if denominated in Dollars, Daily
Simple SOFR plus a benchmark adjustment, or (z) for Daily SOFR Loans, the Adjusted Floating Overnight Daily SOFR
Rate, in each case of clauses (x) through (z) above, plus a margin determined by our corporate credit rating of between
0.650% and 1.400% or (ii) for loans denominated in U.S. Dollars only, the base rate (which rate is equal to the greatest of
the prime rate, the federal funds effective rate plus 0.500% or Adjusted Term SOFR Rate for one month plus 1.000%) (the
“Base Rate”), plus a margin determined by our corporate credit rating of between 0.000% and 0.400%. The Supplemental
Facility includes a facility fee determined by our corporate credit rating of between 0.100% and 0.300% on the aggregate
revolving commitments under the Supplemental Facility. Based upon our current credit ratings, the interest rate on the
Supplemental Facility is SOFR plus 72.5 basis points, plus a spread adjustment to account for the transition from LIBOR
to SOFR.

On December 31, 2023 we had an aggregate available borrowing capacity of $8.1 billion under the Credit Facilities.
The maximum aggregate outstanding balance under the Facilities during the year ended December 31, 2023 was $1.1
billion and the weighted average outstanding balance was $962.6 million. Letters of credit of $58.6 million were outstanding
under the Facilities as of December 31, 2023.

Under the Commercial Paper program, the Operating Partnership may issue unsecured commercial paper notes,
denominated in U.S. dollars, Euro and other currencies. Notes issued in non-U.S. currencies may be issued by one or more
subsidiaries of the Operating Partnership and are guaranteed by the Operating Partnership. Notes will be sold under
customary terms in the U.S. and Euro commercial paper note markets and rank (either by themselves or as a result of the
guarantee described above) pari passu with the Operating Partnership's other unsecured senior indebtedness. The

68



Commercial Paper program is supported by the Credit Facilities, and if necessary or appropriate, we may make one or
more draws under either of the Credit Facilities to pay amounts outstanding from time to time on the Commercial Paper
program. On December 31, 2023, we had no outstanding balance under the Commercial Paper program. Borrowings
under the Commercial Paper program reduce amounts otherwise available under the Credit Facilities.

On January 11, 2022, the Operating Partnership completed the issuance of the following senior unsecured notes:
$500 million with a floating interest rate of SOFR plus 43 basis points, and $700 million with a fixed interest rate of 2.650%,
with maturity dates of January 11, 2024 and February 1, 2032, respectively. The proceeds were used to repay $1.05 billion
outstanding under the Supplemental Facility on January 12, 2022.

On November 16, 2022, the Operating Partnership drew €750.0 million ($779.0 million U.S. dollar equivalent) under
the Supplemental Facility and used the proceeds on November 17, 2022 to repay €750.0 million ($777.1 million U.S. dollar
equivalent) of senior unsecured notes at maturity.

On January 10, 2023, the Operating Partnership completed interest rate swap agreements with a combined notional
value at €750.0 million to swap the interest rate of the Euro denominated borrowings outstanding under the Supplemental
Facility to an all-in fixed rate of 3.81%. These interest rate swaps were terminated in connection with the repayment of
these borrowings on November 14, 2023.

On March 8, 2023, the Operating Partnership completed the issuance of the following senior unsecured notes:
$650 million with a fixed interest rate 5.50%, and $650 million with a fixed interest rate of 5.85%, with maturity dates of
March 8, 2033 and March 8, 2053, respectively. The Operating Partnership used a portion of the net proceeds of the
offering to fund the optional redemption of its $500 million floating rate notes due January 2024 on March 13, 2023.

On April 28, 2023 the Operating Partnership completed a borrowing of $180.0 million under the Credit Facility and
subsequently unencumbered two properties.

On June 1, 2023, the Operating Partnership completed the redemption, at par, of its $600 million 2.75% notes at
maturity.

On November 9, 2023, the Operating Partnership completed the issuance of the following senior unsecured notes:
$500 million with a fixed interest rate of 6.25% and $500 million with a fixed interest rate of 6.65%, with maturity dates of
January 15, 2034 and January 15, 2054, respectively. The proceeds were used to redeem, at par, its $600 million 3.75%
notes at maturity on February 1, 2024.

On November 14, 2023, the Operating Partnership completed the issuance of €750.0 million senior unsecured
bonds ($808.0 million U.S. dollar equivalent) with a maturity date of November 14, 2026 and a fixed interest rate of 3.50%.
The bonds are exchangeable into shares of Klépierre at the option of the holder of the bond at an initial common price of
€27.2092. We may elect to settle the exchange with cash instead of shares. The proceeds were used to repay €750.0
million ($815.4 million U.S. dollar equivalent) outstanding under the Supplemental Facility on November 17, 2023. The
exchangeable option within the bonds has been determined to meet the criteria for bifurcation.

Mortgage Debt
Total mortgage indebtedness was $5.2 billion and $5.5 billion at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
Covenants

Our unsecured debt agreements contain financial covenants and other non-financial covenants. If we were to fail to
comply with these covenants, after the expiration of the applicable cure periods, the debt maturity could be accelerated or
other remedies could be sought by the lender, including adjustments to the applicable interest rate. As of December 31,
2023, we were in compliance with all covenants of our unsecured debt.

At December 31, 2023, our consolidated subsidiaries were the borrowers under 35 non-recourse mortgage notes
secured by mortgages on 38 properties and other assets, including two separate pools of cross-defaulted and
cross-collateralized mortgages encumbering a total of five properties. Under these cross-default provisions, a default under
any mortgage included in the cross-defaulted pool may constitute a default under all mortgages within that pool and may
lead to acceleration of the indebtedness due on each property within the pool. Certain of our secured debt instruments
contain financial and other non-financial covenants which are specific to the properties that serve as collateral for that debt.
If the applicable borrower under these non-recourse mortgage notes were to fail to comply with these covenants, the lender
could accelerate the debt and enforce its rights against their collateral. At December 31, 2023, the applicable borrowers
under these non-recourse mortgage notes were in compliance with all covenants where non-compliance could individually
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or in the aggregate, giving effect to applicable cross-default provisions, have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition, liquidity or results of operations.

Summary of Financing

Our consolidated debt, adjusted to reflect outstanding derivative instruments, and the effective weighted average
interest rates as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, consisted of the following (dollars in thousands):

Effective Effective
Adjusted Balance Weighted Adjusted Weighted
as of Average Balance as of Average
Debt Subject to December 31,2023 Interest Rate(1) December 31,2022 Interest Rate(1)
FixedRate.................... $ 25,705,396 3.47% $ 22,673,703 3.15%
VariableRate ................. 328,027 5.91% 2,286,583 3.93%
$ 26,033,423 349% $ 24,960,286 3.22%

(1) Effective weighted average interest rate excludes the impact of net discounts and debt issuance costs.
Contractual Obligations and Off-balance Sheet Arrangements

In regards to long-term debt arrangements, the following table summarizes the material aspects of these future
obligations on our consolidated indebtedness as of December 31, 2023, and subsequent years thereafter (dollars in
thousands) assuming the obligations remain outstanding through initial maturities:

2024 2025-2026 2027-2028 After 2028 Total
Long Term Debt (1)............. $2,946,165 $7,399,732 $3,620,285 $ 12,220,079 $ 26,186,261
Interest Payments (2) ........... 889,753 1,491,379 1,030,652 5,374,793 8,786,577
Lease Commitments (3) ......... 33,822 72,730 72,828 959,496 1,138,876

(1) Represents principal maturities only and, therefore, excludes net discounts and debt issuance costs.
(2) Variable rate interest payments are estimated based on the SOFR or other applicable rate at December 31, 2023.

(3) Represents only the minimum non-cancellable lease period, excluding applicable lease extension and renewal
options, unless reasonably certain of exercise.

Our off-balance sheet arrangements consist primarily of our investments in joint ventures which are common in the
real estate industry and are described in Note 6 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements. Our joint ventures
typically fund their cash needs through secured non-recourse debt financings obtained by and in the name of the joint
venture entity. The joint venture debt is secured by a first mortgage, is without recourse to the joint venture partners, and
does not represent a liability of the partners, except to the extent the partners or their affiliates expressly guarantee the
joint venture debt. As of December 31, 2023, the Operating Partnership guaranteed joint venture-related mortgage
indebtedness of $139.2 million. Mortgages guaranteed by the Operating Partnership are secured by the property of the
joint venture which could be sold in order to satisfy the outstanding obligation and which has an estimated fair value in
excess of the guaranteed amount. We may elect to fund cash needs of a joint venture through equity contributions
(generally on a basis proportionate to our ownership interests), advances or partner loans, although such fundings are not
required contractually or otherwise.

Hurricane Impacts

During the year ended December 31, 2021, we recorded $2.1 million as business interruption income, which was
recorded in other income in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income. During
the year ended December 31, 2021, we also recorded a $21.0 million gain related to property insurance recovery of
previously depreciated assets. This amount was recorded in (loss) gain on acquisition of controlling interest, sale or
disposal of, or recovery on, assets and interests in unconsolidated entities and impairment, net, in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

Acquisitions and Dispositions

Buy-sell, marketing rights, and other exit mechanisms are common in real estate partnership agreements. Most of
our partners are institutional investors who have a history of direct investment in retail real estate. We and our partners in
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our joint venture properties may initiate these provisions (subject to any applicable lock up or similar restrictions). If we
determine it is in our best interests for us to purchase the joint venture interest and we believe we have adequate liquidity
to execute the purchase without hindering our cash flows, then we may initiate these provisions or elect to buy our partner’s
interest. If we decide to sell any of our joint venture interests, we expect to use the net proceeds to reduce outstanding
indebtedness or to reinvest in development, redevelopment, or expansion opportunities.

Acquisitions.

On June 17, 2022, we acquired an additional interest in Gloucester Premium Outlets from a joint venture partner
for $14.0 million in cash consideration, including a pro-rata share of working capital, resulting in the consolidation of this
property. The property is subject to an $85.7 million 3.29% variable rate mortgage loan. We accounted for this transaction
as an asset acquisition and substantially all of our investment has been determined to relate to investment property.

The Company sponsored, through a wholly-owned subsidiary, a special purpose acquisition corporation, or SPAC,
named Simon Property Group Acquisition Holdings, Inc. On February 18, 2021 the SPAC announced the pricing of its initial
public offering, which was consummated on February 23, 2021, and generated gross proceeds of $345.0 million. The
SPAC was a consolidated VIE which was formed for the purpose of effecting a business combination and was targeting
innovative businesses that operate within Simon’s “Live, Work, Play, Stay, Shop” ecosystem.

Dispositions. We may continue to pursue the disposition of properties that no longer meet our strategic criteria or
that are not a primary retail venue within their trade area.

During 2023, we disposed of our interest in one unconsolidated retail property through foreclosure in satisfaction of
the $114.8 million non-recourse mortgage loan. We recognized no gain or loss in connection with this disposal.

In December 2022, the SPAC was liquidated and dissolved. In connection with this event, we recorded a loss of
$10.2 million, representing our sponsor investment in the SPAC.

During 2022, we disposed of our interest in one consolidated retail property. The proceeds from this transaction
were $59.0 million, resulting in a loss of $15.6 million. We also recorded a non-cash gain of $19.9 million related to the
disposition of one unconsolidated retail property in satisfaction of its $99.6 million non-recourse mortgage loan. These are
included in (loss) gain on acquisition of controlling interest, sale or disposal of, or recovery on, assets and interest in
unconsolidated entities and impairment, net in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive
income.

During 2021, we recorded net gains of $176.8 million primarily related to disposition activity which included the
foreclosure of three consolidated retail properties in satisfaction of their respective $180.0 million, $120.9 million and $100.0
million non-recourse mortgage loans. We also disposed of our interest in an unconsolidated property resulting in a gain of
$3.4 million.

Joint Venture Formation Activity and Other Investment Activity

During the fourth quarter of 2023, we sold a portion of our interest in ABG, resulting in a pre-tax gain of $157.1
million, which is included in gain on disposal, exchange, or revaluation of equity interests, net, in the consolidated statement
of operations. In connection with this transaction, we recorded tax expense of $39.3 million which is included in income
and other tax expense in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income. Concurrently, ABG
completed a capital transaction resulting in the dilution of our ownership to approximately 9.6% and a deemed disposal of
a proportional interest of our investment. As a result, we recognized a non-cash pre-tax gain on the deemed disposal of
$10.3 million, which is included in gain on disposal, exchange, or revaluation of equity interests, net in the consolidated
statement of operations and comprehensive income. This non-cash investing activity is excluded from our consolidated
statement of cash flows. In connection with this transaction, we recorded deferred taxes of $2.6 million, which is included
in income and other tax expense in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income.

On September 7, 2023, we acquired an additional 4% ownership in TRG for approximately $199.6 million by issuing
1,725,000 units in the Operating Partnership, bringing our noncontrolling ownership interest in TRG to 84%.

During the third quarter of 2023, ABG completed a capital transaction resulting in the dilution of our ownership from
approximately 11.8% to approximately 11.7% and a deemed disposal of a proportional interest of our investment. As a
result, we recognized a non-cash pre-tax gain on the deemed disposal of $12.4 million, which is included in gain on disposal,
exchange, or revaluation of equity interests, net in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income.
This non-cash investing activity is excluded from our consolidated statement of cash flows. In connection with this
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transaction, we recorded deferred taxes of $3.1 million, which is included in income and other tax expense in the
consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income.

During the second quarter of 2023, ABG completed a capital transaction resulting in a dilution of our ownership and
a deemed disposal of a proportional interest of our investment. As a result, we recognized a non-cash pre-tax gain on the
deemed disposal of $36.4 million, which is included in gain on disposal, exchange, or revaluation of equity interests, net in
the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income. This non-cash investing activity is excluded from our
consolidated statement of cash flows. In connection with this transaction, we recorded deferred taxes of $9.1 million, which
is included in income and other tax expense in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income.

During the third quarter of 2023, SPARC Group issued equity to a third party resulting in the dilution of our ownership
to 33.3% and a deemed disposal of a proportional interest of our investment. As a result, we recognized a non-cash pre-
tax gain on the deemed disposal of $145.8 million, which is included in gain on disposal, exchange, or revaluation of equity
interests, net in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income. This non-cash investing activity is
excluded from our consolidated statement of cash flows. In connection with this transaction, we recorded deferred taxes of
$36.9 million, which is included in income and other tax expense in the consolidated statement of operations and
comprehensive income.

On December 19, 2022, we completed the acquisition of a 50% noncontrolling legal ownership interest in
Jamestown, a global real estate investment and asset management company, as well as separate interests in certain real
estate and working capital, for total cash consideration of $173.4 million.

During the fourth quarter of 2022, we sold to ABG our interests in the licensing venture of Eddie Bauer for additional
interests in ABG. As a result, in the fourth quarter of 2022, we recognized a non-cash pre-tax gain of $159.0 million,
representing the difference between the fair value of the interests received and the $98.8 million carrying value of the
intellectual property licensing venture less costs to sell. On July 1, 2021, we sold to ABG all of our interests in both the
Forever 21 and Brooks Brothers licensing ventures for additional interests in ABG. As a result, in the third quarter of 2021,
we recognized a non-cash pre-tax gain of $159.8 million, representing the difference between the fair value of the interests
received and the $102.7 million carrying value of the intellectual property licensing ventures less costs to sell. On
December 20, 2021, we sold a portion of our interest in ABG, resulting in a pre-tax gain of $18.8 million. In connection with
this transaction, we recorded tax expense of $8.0 million which is included in income and other tax expense in the
consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income. Subsequently, we acquired additional interests in ABG
for cash consideration of $100.0 million.

During the first quarter of 2022, SPARC Group acquired certain assets and operations of Reebok and entered into
a long-term strategic partnership with ABG to become the core licensee and operating partner for Reebok in the United
States.

Development Activity

We routinely incur costs related to construction for significant redevelopment and expansion projects at our
properties. Redevelopment and expansion projects, including the addition of anchors, big box tenants, and restaurants are
underway at several properties in North America, Europe, and Asia.

Construction continues on certain redevelopment and new development projects in the U.S. and internationally that
are nearing completion. Our share of the costs of all new development, redevelopment and expansion projects currently
under construction is approximately $1,344 million. Simon’s share of remaining net cash funding required to complete the
new development and redevelopment projects currently under construction is approximately $498 million. We expect to
fund these capital projects with cash flows from operations. We seek a stabilized return on invested capital in the range of
7-10% for all of our new development, expansion and redevelopment projects.
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Summary of Capital Expenditures. The following table summarizes total capital expenditures on consolidated
properties on a cash basis (in millions):

2023 2022 2021
New Developments . .. ...t $ 156 $ 108 $ 96
Redevelopments and EXpansions . ............... i 328 283 300
Tenant AlloWanCes . . ... .. i 209 207 127
Operational Capital Expenditures. .. ....... ... ... ... . . ... 100 52 5
Total . $ 793 $ 650 $ 528

International Development Activity

We typically reinvest net cash flow from our international joint ventures to fund future international development
activity. We believe this strategy mitigates some of the risk of our initial investment and our exposure to changes in foreign
currencies. We have also funded most of our foreign investments with local currency-denominated borrowings that act as
a natural hedge against fluctuations in exchange rates. Our consolidated net income exposure to changes in the volatility
of the Euro, Yen, Peso, Won, and other foreign currencies is not material. We expect our share of estimated committed
capital for international development projects to be completed with projected delivery in 2024 or 2025 is $94 million,
primarily funded through reinvested joint venture cash flow and construction loans.

The following table describes recently completed and new development and expansion projects as well as our share
of the estimated total cost as of December 31, 2023 (in millions):

Gross Our Our Share of Our Share of Projected/Actual

Leasable Ownership Projected Net Cost Projected Net Cost Opening
Property Location Area (sqft) Percentage (in Local Currency) (in USD) (1) Date
New Development Projects:
Paris-Giverny Designer Outlet . .. Vernon, France 228,000 74% EUR 136.8 $ 151.0 Opened Apr. - 2023
Jakarta Premium Outlets . . .. . .. Jakarta, Indonesia 300,000 50% IDR 931,782 § 60.5 Feb. - 2025
Expansion:
Busan Premium Outlet Phase 2 . . Busan, South Korea 194,000 50% KRW 72,933 $ 56.3 Oct. - 2024

(1) USD equivalent based upon December 31, 2023 foreign currency exchange rates.

Dividends, Distributions and Stock Repurchase Program

Simon paid a common stock dividend of $1.90 per share in the fourth quarter of 2023 and $7.45 per share for the
year ended December 31, 2023. The Operating Partnership paid distributions per unit for the same amounts. In 2022,
Simon paid dividends of $1.80 and $6.90 per share for the three and twelve month periods ended December 31, 2022,
respectively. The Operating Partnership paid distributions per unit for the same amounts. On February 5, 2024, Simon’s
Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend for the first quarter of 2024 of $1.95 per share, payable on March 29,
2024 to shareholders of record on March 8, 2024. The distribution rate on units is equal to the dividend rate on common
stock. In order to maintain its status as a REIT, Simon must pay a minimum amount of dividends. Simon’s future dividends
and the Operating Partnership’s future distributions will be determined by Simon’s Board of Directors, in its sole discretion,
based on actual and projected financial condition, liquidity and results of operations, cash available for dividends and limited
partner distributions, cash reserves as deemed necessary for capital and operating expenditures, financing covenants, if
any, and the amount required to maintain Simon’s status as a REIT.

On May 9, 2022, Simon’s Board of Directors authorized a common stock repurchase plan commencing on May 16,
2022, or the Repurchase Program. Under the program, the Company may purchase up to $2.0 billion of its common stock
during the two-year period ending May 16, 2024 in open market or privately negotiated transactions, at prices that the
Company deems appropriate and subject to market conditions, applicable law, and other factors deemed relevant in the
Company’s sole discretion. On February 8, 2024, Simon’s Board of Directors authorized a new common stock repurchase
program which replaces the existing Repurchase Program immediately where, the Company may purchase up to $2.0
billion of its common stock over the next 24 months. During the year ended December 31, 2023, Simon purchased
1,273,733 shares at an average price of $110.38 per share. During the year ended December 31, 2022, Simon purchased
1,830,022 shares at an average price of $98.57 per share. As Simon repurchases shares under this program, the Operating
Partnership repurchases an equal number of units from Simon.
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Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements made in this press release may be deemed "forward—looking statements" within the meaning of
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Although the Company believes the expectations reflected in any
forward—looking statements are based on reasonable assumptions, the Company can give no assurance that its
expectations will be attained, and it is possible that the Company's actual results may differ materially from those indicated
by these forward—looking statements due to a variety of risks, uncertainties, and other factors. Such factors include, but
are not limited to: changes in economic and market conditions that may adversely affect the general retail environment,
including but not limited to those caused by inflation, recessionary pressures, wars, escalating geopolitical tensions as a
result of the war in Ukraine and the conflicts in the Middle East, and supply chain disruptions; the inability to renew leases
and relet vacant space at existing properties on favorable terms; the potential loss of anchor stores or major tenants; the
inability to collect rent due to the bankruptcy or insolvency of tenants or otherwise; an increase in vacant space at our
properties; the potential for violence, civil unrest, criminal activity or terrorist activities at our properties; natural disasters;
the availability of comprehensive insurance coverage; the intensely competitive market environment in the retail industry,
including e-commerce; security breaches that could compromise our information technology or infrastructure; reducing
emissions of greenhouse gases; environmental liabilities; our international activities subjecting us to risks that are different
from or greater than those associated with our domestic operations, including changes in foreign exchange rates; our
continued ability to maintain our status as a REIT; changes in tax laws or regulations that result in adverse tax
consequences; risks associated with the acquisition, development, redevelopment, expansion, leasing and management
of properties; the inability to lease newly developed properties on favorable terms; the loss of key management personnel;
uncertainties regarding the impact of pandemics, epidemics or public health crises, and the associated governmental
restrictions on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flow and liquidity; changes in market rates of
interest; the impact of our substantial indebtedness on our future operations, including covenants in the governing
agreements that impose restrictions on us that may affect our ability to operate freely; any disruption in the financial markets
that may adversely affect our ability to access capital for growth and satisfy our ongoing debt service requirements; any
change in our credit rating; risks relating to our joint venture properties, including guarantees of certain joint venture
indebtedness; and general risks related to real estate investments, including the illiquidity of real estate investments. The
Company discusses these and other risks and uncertainties under the heading "Risk Factors" in Part 1, ltem 1A of the
Annual Report on Form 10-K. The Company may update that discussion in subsequent other periodic reports, but except
as required by law, the Company undertakes no duty or obligation to update or revise these forward-looking statements,
whether as a result of new information, future developments, or otherwise.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Industry practice is to evaluate real estate properties in part based on performance measures such as FFO, diluted
FFO per share, NOI, and portfolio NOI. We believe that these non-GAAP measures are helpful to investors because they
are widely recognized measures of the performance of REITs and provide a relevant basis for comparison among REITs.
We also use these measures internally to measure the operating performance of our portfolio.

We determine FFO based upon the definition set forth by the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts
(“NAREIT”) Funds From Operations White Paper — 2018 Restatement. Our main business includes acquiring, owning,
operating, developing, and redeveloping real estate in conjunction with the rental of real estate. Gains and losses of assets
incidental to our main business are included in FFO. We determine FFO to be our share of consolidated net income
computed in accordance with GAAP:

e excluding real estate related depreciation and amortization,
e excluding gains and losses from extraordinary items,

¢ excluding gains and losses from the sale, disposal or property insurance recoveries of, or any impairment related
to, depreciable retail operating properties,

¢ plus the allocable portion of FFO of unconsolidated joint ventures based upon economic ownership interest, and
¢ all determined on a consistent basis in accordance with GAAP.

You should understand that our computations of these non-GAAP measures might not be comparable to similar
measures reported by other REITs and that these non-GAAP measures:

¢ do not represent cash flow from operations as defined by GAAP,
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¢ should not be considered as an alternative to net income determined in accordance with GAAP as a measure of

operating performance, and

¢ are not an alternative to cash flows as a measure of liquidity.

The following schedule reconciles total FFO to consolidated net income and, for Simon, diluted net income per share

to diluted FFO per share.

Consolidated NetIncome . . . ... ... .. .. .. . . ... . . . . . .
Adjustments to Arrive at FFO:

Depreciation and amortization from consolidated properties . . . ...............
Our share of depreciation and amortization from unconsolidated entities,

including Klépierre, TRG and other corporate investments. . .. ..............
Loss (gain) on acquisition of controlling interest, sale or disposal of, or recovery

on, assets and interests in unconsolidated entities and impairment, net ... .. ..
Unrealized losses in fair value of publicly traded equity instruments, net,

excluded from FFO (A). . .. oot
Net loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling interest holders in properties . . . . .
Noncontrolling interests portion of depreciation and amortization, gain on

consolidation of properties, and gain on disposal of properties ..............
Preferred distributions and dividends. . . .. .......... .. ... . .. L.

FFO of the Operating Partnership . ... ........ ... ... ... .. ... ... ... .. .....
FFO allocable to limited partners. . .. .......... .. .
Dilutive FFO allocable to common stockholders . .. ........................
Diluted net income per share to diluted FFO per share reconciliation:

Diluted netincome pershare. . ....... ... ... ... .. . .. .. ...

Depreciation and amortization from consolidated properties and our share of
depreciation and amortization from unconsolidated entities, including
Klépierre, TRG and other corporate investments, net of noncontrolling
interests portion of depreciation and amortization . .......................
Loss (gain) on acquisition of controlling interest, sale or disposal of, or recovery
on, assets and interests in unconsolidated entities and impairment, net . ... ...
Unrealized losses in fair value of publicly traded equity instruments, net,
excluded from FFO (A) . . .. oot

Diluted FFO pershare. . ........ ... ... . . . . . i

Basic and Diluted weighted average shares outstanding .. .....................
Weighted average limited partnership units outstanding. . .. ....................
Basic and Diluted weighted average shares and units outstanding. . ..............

2023 2022 2021
(in thousands)

$2,617,018 $2,452,385 $ 2,568,707
1,250,550 1,214,441 1,254,039
841,862 845,784 887,390
3,056 (5,647) (206,855)
— — 3,177
1,336 (2,738) 6,053
(22,719) (18,234) (20,295)
(5,237) (5,252) (5,252)
$ 4,685,866 $4,480,739 $ 4,486,964
597,727 564,946 564,407
$4,088,139 $3,915,793 $ 3,922,557
$ 698 $ 652 $ 6.84
5.52 5.44 5.64
0.01 (0.01) (0.55)
— — 0.01
$ 1251 § 1195 § 11.94
326,808 327,817 328,587
47,782 47,295 47,280
374,590 375,112 375,867

(A) Unrealized losses in fair value of publicly traded equity instruments, net, excluded from FFO relate to mark-to-market

adjustments of retail real estate. Unrealized losses in fair value of publicly traded equity instruments, net, included in

FFO relate to mark-to-market adjustments of non-retail real estate.
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The following schedule reconciles consolidated net income to our beneficial share of NOI.

For the Year
Ended December 31,

2023

2022

Reconciliation of NOI of consolidated entities:

(in thousands)

Consolidated NetIncome . . . ... ... . . . . . . . . $ 2,617,018 $ 2,452,385
Income and othertax eXpense . . ... ... 81,874 83,512
Gain on disposal, exchange, or revaluation of equity interests, net. . . ..................... (362,019) (121,177)
INtereSt EXPENSE . . . . e 854,648 761,253
Income from unconsolidated entities. . .. ... . . (375,663) (647,977)
Unrealized (gains) losses in fair value of publicly traded equity instruments and derivative

INStrument, Net. . .. ... (11,892) 61,204
Loss (gain) on acquisition of controlling interest, sale or disposal of, or recovery on, assets

and interests in unconsolidated entities and impairment, net. . ............ ... .. ... . ... 3,056 (5,647)
Operating Income Before Otherltems. . ... ... ... .. ... ... ... ... .. . .. . .. ... 2,807,022 2,583,553
Depreciation and amortization. . . . . ... ... . . e 1,262,107 1,227,371
Home and regional office Costs . . . ... ... . 207,618 184,592
General and administrative . . . ... . . 38,513 34,971
Other eXpeNSES (1) . . oottt 320 13,413
NOI of consolidated entities. . .. ......... ... ... ... . . . . . . . $ 4,315,580 $ 4,043,900
Less: Noncontrolling interest partners share of NOI. . ... ........ ... ... ... ... ....... (30,918) (27,685)
Beneficial NOI of consolidated entities . . .. ............ ... ... ... ... ... .......... $ 4,284,662 $ 4,016,215
Reconciliation of NOI of unconsolidated entities:
Net INCOMe. . . ... $ 853,986 $ 807,435
INterest EXPENSE . . . .o 685,193 599,245
Gain on sale or disposal of, or recovery on, assets and interests in unconsolidated entities, net . (20,529) (50,336)
Operating Income Before Otherltems. .. ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... .. . ... ... ... 1,518,650 1,356,344
Depreciation and amortization. . . . ... .. . . e 656,089 666,762
Other eXpeNSES (1) .« oottt 143 1,309
NOIl of unconsolidated entities. . . .......... ... ... . ... .. . . . . . ... $ 2,174,882 $ 2,024,415
Less: Joint Venture partners share of NOI . . ... ... ... ... ... .. ... ... ... ... .. .. ... (1,132,334) (1,059,095)
Beneficial NOI of unconsolidated entities. . ... ....... ... ... ... ... ................ $ 1,042,548 $ 965,320
Add: Beneficial interest of NOI from TRG. . . .. ... ... . . i 503,858 474,214
Add: Beneficial interest of NOI from Other Platform Investments and Investments ... ........ 399,341 604,750
Beneficial interest of Combined NOI . . . .. ... ... .. .. ... .. . . . ... . . . . . .. $ 6,230,409 $ 6,060,499
Less: Beneficial interest of Corporate and Other NOI Sources (2) .. ......... ... 287,231 154,309
Less: Beneficial interest of NOI from Other Platform Investments (3). .. ................... 138,686 355,019
Less: Beneficial interest of NOI from Investments (4). . . ... ... .. 233,562 238,695
Beneficial interest of Portfolio NOI . . .. ... ... ... ... ... . . . . . ... . . ... $ 5,570,930 $ 5,312,476
Beneficial interest of Portfolio NOIChange .. ........ ... ... ... .. ... ... ... ... ...... 49 %

(1) Represents the write-off of pre-development costs, our beneficial interest of which was $0.3 million and $11.4 million
with respect to consolidated entities and $0.1 million and $0.4 million with respect to our share of unconsolidated

entities, for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

(2) Includes income components excluded from portfolio NOI and domestic property NOI (domestic lease termination
income, interest income, land sale gains, straight line lease income, above/below market lease adjustments), Simon

management company revenues, foreign exchange impact, and other assets.
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(3) Other Platform Investments include J.C. Penney, SPARC Group, ABG, RGG, and Jamestown.
(4) Includes our share of NOI of Klépierre (at constant currency) and other corporate investments.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Our exposure to market risk due to changes in interest rates primarily relates to our long-term debt obligations. We
manage exposure to interest rate market risk through our risk management strategy by a combination of interest rate
protection agreements to effectively fix or cap a portion of variable rate debt. We are also exposed to foreign currency risk
on financings of certain foreign operations. Our intent is to offset gains and losses that occur on the underlying exposures,
with gains and losses on the derivative contracts hedging these exposures. We do not enter into either interest rate
protection or foreign currency rate protection agreements for speculative purposes.

We may enter into treasury lock agreements as part of anticipated issuances of senior notes. Upon completion of
the debt issuance, the cost of these instruments is recorded as part of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
and is amortized to interest expense over the life of the debt agreement.

Our future earnings, cash flows and fair values relating to financial instruments are dependent upon prevalent market
rates of interest, primarily SOFR. Based upon consolidated indebtedness and interest rates at December 31, 2023, a 50
basis point increase in the market rates of interest would decrease future earnings and cash flows by approximately
$0.8 million, and would decrease the fair value of debt by approximately $823.4 million.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Simon Property Group, Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited Simon Property Group, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023,
based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, Simon Property Group,
Inc. (the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2023, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes and financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item
15(a) and our report dated February 22, 2024, expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for
its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a
material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that
our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection
of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Indianapolis, Indiana
February 22, 2024
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Simon Property Group, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Simon Property Group, Inc. (the Company) as
of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, equity
and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes and financial
statement schedule listed in the Index at Iltem 15(a) (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In
our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company at December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2023, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and our report dated February 22, 2024, expressed an unqualified opinion
thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the
PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities
laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those
risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial
statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts
or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective or
complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated
financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing
separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Evaluation of Investment Properties for Impairment

Description of the At December 31, 2023, the Company’s consolidated net investment properties totaled $21.6

Matter billion. As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company reviews
investment properties for impairment on a property-by-property basis to identify and evaluate
events or changes in circumstances that indicate the carrying value of an investment property may
not be recoverable. The Company estimates undiscounted cash flows of an investment property
using observable and unobservable inputs such as forecasted operating income before
depreciation and amortization, estimated capitalization rates, leasing prospects and local market
information.
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How We Addressed
the Matter in Our
Audit

Description of the
Matter

Auditing management’s evaluation of investment properties for impairment was complex due to
the estimation uncertainty in determining the undiscounted cash flows of an investment property.
In particular, the impairment evaluation for investment properties was sensitive to significant
assumptions such as forecasted cash flows which incorporate operating income before
depreciation and amortization, and capitalization rates, all of which can be affected by expectations
about future market or economic conditions, demand, and competition.

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of
controls over the Company’s process for evaluating investment properties for impairment,
including controls over management’s review of the significant assumptions described above.

To test the Company’s evaluation of investment properties for impairment, we performed audit
procedures that included, among others, assessing the methodologies applied, evaluating the
significant assumptions discussed above and testing the completeness and accuracy of the
underlying data used by management in its analysis. We compared the significant assumptions
used by management to current industry and economic trends, relevant market information, and
other applicable sources. We also involved a valuation specialist to assist in evaluating certain
assumptions. In addition, we compared the forecasted operating income before depreciation and
amortization to historical actual results and evaluated significant variances, including consideration
of the current economic environment. As part of our evaluation, we assessed the historical
accuracy of management’'s estimates and performed sensitivity analyses of significant
assumptions to evaluate the changes in the undiscounted cash flows of the related investment
property that would result from changes in the assumptions.

Evaluation of Investments in Unconsolidated Entities for Impairment

At December 31, 2023, the carrying value of the Company’s investments in unconsolidated entities
and its investments in Klépierre and TRG totaled $8.1 billion. As explained in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Company reviews investments in unconsolidated entities
for impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an
investment in an unconsolidated entity may not be recoverable. To identify and evaluate whether
an other-than-temporary decline in the fair value of an investment below its carrying value has
occurred, the Company assesses economic and operating conditions that may affect the fair value
of the investment. The evaluation of operating conditions may include developing estimates of
forecasted cash flows or operating income before depreciation and amortization to support the
recoverability of the carrying amount of the investment. When required, the Company estimates
the fair value of an investment and assesses whether any impairment is other than temporary
using observable and unobservable inputs such as forecasted operating income before
depreciation and amortization, estimated capitalization and discount rates, or relevant market
multiples, leasing prospects and local market information.

Auditing management’s evaluation of investments in unconsolidated entities for impairment was
complex due to the estimation uncertainty in determining the forecasted operating income before
depreciation and amortization, estimated fair value of each investment and whether any decline in
fair value below the related investment's carrying amount is other-than-temporary. In particular,
the impairment evaluation for these investments was sensitive to significant assumptions such as
forecasted cash flows, which incorporate operating income before depreciation and amortization,
relevant market multiples, and capitalization and discount rates, all of which can be affected by
expectations about future market or economic conditions, demand, and competition.
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How We Addressed
the Matter in Our
Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of
controls over the Company’s process for evaluating investments in unconsolidated entities for
impairment, including controls over management’s review of the significant assumptions described
above.

To test the Company’s evaluation of investments in unconsolidated entities for impairment, we
performed audit procedures that included, among others, assessing the methodologies applied,
evaluating the significant assumptions discussed above and testing the completeness and
accuracy of data used by management in its analysis. We compared the significant assumptions
used by management to current industry and economic trends, relevant market information, and
other applicable sources. We also involved a valuation specialist to assist in evaluating certain
assumptions. In addition, we compared the forecasted operating income before depreciation and
amortization to historical actual results and evaluated significant variances, including consideration
of the current economic environment. As part of our evaluation, we assessed the historical
accuracy of management’'s estimates and performed sensitivity analyses of significant
assumptions to evaluate the changes in the cash flows and the fair value of the related investment
that would result from changes in the assumptions, and we evaluated whether a decline in fair
value below the related investment’s carrying value was other-than-temporary.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2002.

Indianapolis, Indiana
February 22, 2024
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Partners of Simon Property Group, L.P. and the Board of Directors of Simon Property Group, Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited Simon Property Group, L.P.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023,
based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, Simon Property
Group, L.P. (the Partnership) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2023, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Partnership as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes and financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item
15(a) and our report dated February 22, 2024, expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Partnership’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying
Management’'s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with
the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Partnership in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a
material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that
our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection
of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Indianapolis, Indiana
February 22, 2024
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Partners of Simon Property Group, L.P. and the Board of Directors of Simon Property Group, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Simon Property Group, L.P. (the Partnership)
as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, equity
and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023 and the related notes and financial
statement schedule listed in the Index at Iltem 15(a) (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In
our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Partnership at December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2023, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and our report dated February 22, 2024, expressed an unqualified opinion
thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Partnership’s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on the Partnership’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with
the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Partnership in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those
risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial
statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts
or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective or
complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated
financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing
separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Evaluation of Investment Properties for Impairment

Description of the At December 31, 2023, the Partnership’s consolidated net investment properties totaled $21.6 billion.

Matter As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Partnership reviews investment
properties for impairment on a property-by-property basis to identify and evaluate events or changes
in circumstances that indicate the carrying value of an investment property may not be recoverable.
The Partnership estimates undiscounted cash flows of an investment property using observable and
unobservable inputs such as forecasted operating income before depreciation and amortization,
estimated capitalization rates, leasing prospects and local market information.

Auditing management’s evaluation of investment properties for impairment was complex due to the
estimation uncertainty in determining the undiscounted cash flows of an investment property. In
particular, the impairment evaluation for investment properties was sensitive to significant
assumptions such as forecasted cash flows, which incorporate operating income before depreciation
and amortization, and capitalization rates, all of which can be affected by expectations about future
market or economic conditions, demand, and competition.
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How We
Addressed the
Matter in Our
Audit

Description of the
Matter

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of
controls over the Partnership’s process for evaluating investment properties for impairment, including
controls over management’s review of the significant assumptions described above.

To test the Partnership’s evaluation of investment properties for impairment, we performed audit
procedures that included, among others, assessing the methodologies applied, evaluating the
significant assumptions discussed above and testing the completeness and accuracy of the
underlying data used by management in its analysis. We compared the significant assumptions used
by management to current industry and economic trends, relevant market information, and other
applicable sources. We also involved a valuation specialist to assist in evaluating certain
assumptions. In addition, we compared the forecasted operating income before depreciation and
amortization to historical actual results and evaluated significant variances, including consideration
of the current economic environment. As part of our evaluation, we assessed the historical accuracy
of management’s estimates and performed sensitivity analyses of significant assumptions to evaluate
the changes in the undiscounted cash flows of the related investment property that would result from
changes in the assumptions.

Evaluation of Investments in Unconsolidated Entities for Impairment

At December 31, 2023, the carrying value of the Partnership’s investments in unconsolidated entities
and its investments in Klépierre and TRG totaled $8.1 billion. As explained in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Partnership reviews investments in unconsolidated entities for
impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an investment in
an unconsolidated entity may not be recoverable. To identify and evaluate whether an other-than-
temporary decline in the fair value of an investment below its carrying value has occurred, the
Partnership assesses economic and operating conditions that may affect the fair value of the
investment. The evaluation of operating conditions may include developing estimates of forecasted
cash flows or operating income before depreciation and amortization to support the recoverability of
the carrying amount of the investment. When required, the Partnership estimates the fair value of an
investment and assesses whether any impairment is other than temporary using observable and
unobservable inputs such as forecasted operating income before depreciation and amortization,
estimated capitalization and discount rates, or relevant market multiples, leasing prospects and local
market information.

Auditing management’s evaluation of investments in unconsolidated entities for impairment was
complex due to the estimation uncertainty in determining the forecasted operating income before
depreciation and amortization, estimated fair value of each investment and whether any decline in
fair value below the related investment’s carrying amount is other-than-temporary. In particular, the
impairment evaluation for these investments was sensitive to significant assumptions such as
forecasted cash flows, which incorporate operating income before depreciation and amortization,
relevant market multiples, and capitalization and discount rates, all of which can be affected by
expectations about future market or economic conditions, demand, and competition.
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How We
Addressed the
Matter in Our
Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of
controls over the Partnership’s process for evaluating investments in unconsolidated entities for
impairment, including controls over management’s review of the significant assumptions described
above.To test the Partnership’s evaluation of investments in unconsolidated entities for impairment,
we performed audit procedures that included, among others, assessing the methodologies applied,
evaluating the significant assumptions discussed above and testing the completeness and accuracy
of data used by management in its analysis. We compared the significant assumptions used by
management to current industry and economic trends, relevant market information, and other
applicable sources. We also involved a valuation specialist to assist in evaluating certain
assumptions. In addition, we compared the forecasted operating income before depreciation and
amortization to historical actual results and evaluated significant variances, including consideration
of the current economic environment. As part of our evaluation, we assessed the historical accuracy
of management’s estimates and performed sensitivity analyses of significant assumptions to evaluate
the changes in the cash flows and the fair value of the related investment that would result from
changes in the assumptions, and we evaluated whether a decline in fair value below the related
investment’s carrying value was other-than-temporary

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

We have served as the Partnership’s auditor since 2002.

Indianapolis, Indiana
February 22, 2024

85



ASSETS:

Investment properties, at cost
Less - accumulated depreciation

Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Tenant receivables and accrued revenue, net
Investment in TRG, at equity
Investment in Klépierre, at equity
Investment in other unconsolidated entities, at equity
Right-of-use assets, net
Deferred costs and other assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES:

Mortgages and unsecured indebtedness
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, intangibles, and deferred revenues
Cash distributions and losses in unconsolidated entities, at equity
Dividend payable
Lease liabilities
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Simon Property Group, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Dollars in thousands, except share amounts)

Commitments and contingencies
Limited partners’ preferred interest in the Operating Partnership and noncontrolling

redeemable interests

EQUITY:

Stockholders’ Equity

December 31,
2023

December 31,
2022

$ 39,285,138

$ 38,326,912

17,716,788 16,563,749
21,568,350 21,763,163
1,168,991 621,628
1,000,000 —
826,126 823,540
3,049,719 3,074,345
1,527,872 1,561,112
3,540,648 3,511,263
484,073 496,930
1,117,716 1,159,293

$ 34,283,495

$ 33,011,274

$ 26,033,423

$ 24,960,286

Capital stock (850,000,000 total shares authorized, $0.0001 par value, 238,000,000

shares of excess common stock, 100,000,000 authorized shares of preferred stock):

Series J 8%8% cumulative redeemable preferred stock, 1,000,000 shares authorized,

796,948 issued and outstanding with a liquidation value of $39,847 .. .............

Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 511,990,000 shares authorized, 342,895,886 and

342,905,419 issued and outstanding, respectively . . . ........ ... .. ... . .. ...

Class B common stock, $0.0001 par value, 10,000 shares authorized, 8,000 issued

andoutstanding . ... ...

Capital in excess of par value
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Common stock held in treasury, at cost, 16,983,364 and 15,959,628 shares,
reSPeCtiVelY . . . .

Total stockholders’ equity
Noncontrolling interests

Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

1,693,248 1,491,583
1,760,922 1,699,828
1,842 1,997
484,861 497,953
621,601 535,736
30,595,897 29,187,383
195,949 212,239
41,106 41,435
33 34
11,406,236 11,232,881
(6,095,576) (5,926,974)
(172,787) (164,873)
(2,156,178) (2,043,979)
3,022,834 3,138,524
468,815 473,128
3,491,649 3,611,652

$ 34,283,495

$ 33,011,274

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Simon Property Group, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

For the Year
Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
REVENUE:
Lease inCome . . . ... .o $5164,335 $4,905175 $4,736,719
Management fees and otherrevenues. .. ........ ... ... ... ... .. . ... 125,995 116,904 106,483
OtherinCome . .. ... e e 368,506 269,368 273,587
Total revenue . . . ... ... ... 5,658,836 5,291,447 5,116,789
EXPENSES:
Property operating . . . ... 489,346 464,135 415,720
Depreciation and amortization . ......... ... ... .. .. ... 1,262,107 1,227,371 1,262,715
Realestatetaxes .. ....... ... . . 441,783 443,224 458,953
Repairs and maintenance. . . ... 97,257 93,595 96,391
Advertising and promotion . . ... ... 127,346 107,793 114,303
Home and regional office costs .. ...... ... .. ... .. .. . ... ... 207,618 184,592 184,660
General and administrative. . . .......... . . . 38,513 34,971 30,339
Other . 187,844 152,213 140,518
Total operating expenses . . ............... ..ttt 2,851,814 2,707,894 2,703,599
OPERATING INCOME BEFORE OTHERITEMS. . . ... ... .. ... ............. 2,807,022 2,583,553 2,413,190
Interest EXpENSe . . . ... (854,648) (761,253) (795,712)
Loss on extinguishmentofdebt. .. ........ ... ... ... . - - (51,841)
Gain on disposal, exchange, or revaluation of equity interests, net
(Notes 3and B) . ..ot 362,019 121,177 178,672
Income and othertax expense . ........ ... ..t (81,874) (83,512) (157,199)
Income from unconsolidated entities. . . ............ ... .. ... ... . . . . ... 375,663 647,977 782,837
Unrealized gains (losses) in fair value of publicly traded equity instruments and
derivative instrument, net. . .. ... ... . 11,892 (61,204) (8,095)
(Loss) gain on acquisition of controlling interest, sale or disposal of, or recovery
on, assets and interests in unconsolidated entities and impairment, net . . .. .. .. (3,056) 5,647 206,855
CONSOLIDATED NETINCOME . . ... ... ... ... i, 2,617,018 2,452,385 2,568,707
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests . . ........................ 333,892 312,850 319,076
Preferred dividends . . . . ... .. 3,337 3,337 3,337
NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO COMMON STOCKHOLDERS. . ........... $2,279,789 $2,136,198 $ 2,246,294
BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE:
Net income attributable to common stockholders ..................... $ 698 §$ 652 §$ 6.84
Consolidated Netlncome . . ........... ... ... ... .. . . . . . . .. $2,617,018 $2,452385 $ 2,568,707
Unrealized gain on derivative hedge agreements. . ........................ 18,350 54,808 51,114
Net gain reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss into earnings . . (4,084) (1,595) (7,285)
Currency translation adjustments . . .. ........ .. . . (26,513) (28,119) (38,772)
Changes in available-for-sale securitiesandother. . . ...................... 2,254 (2,009) (1,014)
Comprehensive INCOME . . . ... e e 2,607,025 2,475,470 2,572,750
Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests .. ............. 331,814 315,622 319,629
Comprehensive income attributable to common stockholders .. .......... $2,275,211  $2,159,848 $ 2,253,121

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Simon Property Group, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Dollars in thousands)

For the Year

Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Consolidated NetIncome . .. ........ ... ... ... . . . . i, $ 2,617,018 $ 2,452,385 $ 2,568,707
Adjustments to reconcile consolidated net income to net cash provided by operating
activities
Depreciation and amortization. . . . ... ... . . . 1,333,584 1,292,113 1,325,895
Loss on debt extinguishment. . . . ... ... ... — — 51,841
Loss (gain) on acquisition of controlling interests, sale or disposal of, or recovery
on, assets and interests in unconsolidated entities and impairment, net. . . . . .. 3,056 (5,647) (206,855)
Gain on disposal, exchange, or revaluation of equity interests, net. . .......... (362,019) (121,177) (178,672)
Unrealized (gains) losses in fair value of publicly traded equity instruments and
derivative instrument, net. . . . ... ... (11,892) 61,204 8,095
Straight-line lease 10ss . . . ... ... . 9,866 25,234 22,619
Income from unconsolidated entities . ... ........ ... .. .. ... o (375,663) (647,977) (782,837)
Distributions of income from unconsolidated entities . . .. .. ................ 458,709 561,583 436,881
Changes in assets and liabilities
Tenant receivables and accrued revenue, net. . . . ....................... (11,802) 63,350 265,352
Deferred costs and otherassets . ......... ... . ... ... ... ... . ... 24,423 (104,567) (77,592)
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, intangibles, deferred revenues and other . . 245,513 190,103 203,968
Net cash provided by operating activities. . . . ..................... 3,930,793 3,766,604 3,637,402
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
ACQUISItIONS . . . . . o (65,829) (203,364) (257,080)
Funding of loans to related parties. . . . ....... ... ... ... . . .., (15,250) (132,857) (15,848)
Repayments of loans to related parties .. ............ ... ... ........... 16,188 82,371 14,027
Capital expenditures, net . . ........ .. ... ... (793,283) (650,024) (527,935)
Cash impact from the consolidation of properties ... ..................... — 20,988 5,595
Net proceeds fromsaleofassets. . .. .......... ... ... ... . . ... — 59,658 3,000
Investments in unconsolidated entities . . . . ... ... ... .. .. L L (83,961) (235,792) (56,901)
Purchase of short-terminvestments. . . .. ...... ... ... ... .. .. .......... (1,000,000) — —
Purchase of equity instruments . . .. ........ . ... .. (31,742) (66,140) (33,605)
Proceeds from sales of equity instruments . . .. ........ ... .. ... ... ... 304,129 26,086 65,504
Insurance proceeds for property restoration . . . .......... ... ... L. 7,427 — 7,200
Distributions of capital from unconsolidated entities and other .. ... .......... 299,140 472,510 243,279
Net cash used in investing activities. . . .. ...................... .. (1,363,181) (626,564) (552,764)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from sales of common stock and other, net of transaction costs. . . . . . . (328) (328) (328)
Purchase of shares related to stock grant recipients' tax withholdings. . ... ... .. (5,795) (6,788) (2,318)
Redemption of limited partnerunits . . . .. ......... .. ... ... . . (13,524) (1,852) (2,220)
Purchase of treasury stock . . . . ... ... . .. . (140,593) (180,387) —
Preferred unitredemptions . .. ... .. ... (2,500) — —
Proceeds from the special purpose acquisition company IPO, net of transaction
COSES . . o — — 338,121
Proceeds from (establishment of) trust account for special purpose acquisition
COMPANY © & v vttt et e e e e e e e e e e — 345,000 (345,000)
Liquidation of special purpose acquisition company. . .. ................... — (345,000) —
Distributions to noncontrolling interest holders in properties. . . . ............. (41,956) (27,741) (5,024)
Contributions from noncontrolling interest holders in properties . ... .......... 9,813 29,681 20,902
Preferred distributions of the Operating Partnership .. .................... (1,900) (1,915) (1,915)
Distributions to stockholders and preferred dividends . .. .................. (2,439,233) (2,264,007) (2,351,764)
Distributions to limited partners . . .. ........ . ... ... (355,548) (326,550) (337,021)
Cash paid to extinguishdebt. . . ... ... .. .. . — — (50,156)
Proceeds from issuance of debt, net of transactioncosts. . ... .............. 3,629,840 3,449,403 9,251,217
Repaymentsofdebt. . .. ... ... . .. (2,658,525) (3,721,864) (10,076,809)
Net cash used in financing activities. . . . . ........................ (2,020,249) (3,052,348) (3,562,315)
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS. . ... ............. 547,363 87,692 (477,677)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of period . . . .................... 621,628 533,936 1,011,613
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,endof period . . . . ........................ $ 1,168,991 §$ 621,628 $ 533,936

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Simon Property Group, L.P.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Dollars in thousands, except unit amounts)

ASSETS:
Investment properties, at cost . . . ... ...
Less — accumulated depreciation. . .. ... ...

Cashand cashequivalents . .......... . . . e
Short-term investments . .. ... ...
Tenant receivables and accrued revenue, net. .. ........ ... .. ... ... ... ...
Investment in TRG, atequity . . ...
Investment in Klépierre, atequity. . .. ... ... ..
Investment in other unconsolidated entities, atequity . ............ .. ... ... ... .. ...
Right-of-use assets, net. . . ... . .
Deferred costs and otherassets ............ ... ... . . . . . i
Total @assets . . ... ...
LIABILITIES:
Mortgages and unsecured indebtedness . .. ... .
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, intangibles, and deferred revenues. .. ..........
Cash distributions and losses in unconsolidated entities, atequity .. .................
Distribution payable . . . . .. ...
Lease liabilities. . . .. ... ...
Otherliabilities . . . ... ... .
Total liabilities . . . . ... ... . e
Commitments and contingencies
Preferred units, various series, at liquidation value, and noncontrolling redeemable interests .
EQUITY:
Partners’ Equity
Preferred units, 796,948 units outstanding. Liquidation value of $39,847 ..............
General Partner, 325,920,522 and 326,953,791 units outstanding, respectively ... ... ...
Limited Partners, 48,913,717 and 47,302,958 units outstanding, respectively. .. ........
Total partners’ equIity. . . . . ..o e
Nonredeemable noncontrolling interests in properties, net . .. .......... ... ... ... ...
Total equity . .. ... .. e
Total liabilities and equity

December 31,
2023

December 31,
2022

$ 39,285,138

$ 38,326,912

17,716,788 16,563,749
21,568,350 21,763,163
1,168,991 621,628
1,000,000 —
826,126 823,540
3,049,719 3,074,345
1,527,872 1,661,112
3,540,648 3,511,263
484,073 496,930
1,117,716 1,159,293

$ 34,283,495

$ 33,011,274

$ 26,033,423

$ 24,960,286

1,693,248 1,491,583
1,760,922 1,699,828
1,842 1,997
484,861 497,953
621,601 535,736
30,595,897 29,187,383
195,949 212,239
41,106 41,435
2,981,728 3,097,089
447,494 448,076
3,470,328 3,586,600
21,321 25,052
3,491,649 3,611,652

$ 34,283,495

$ 33,011,274

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Simon Property Group, L.P.

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income

(Dollars in thousands, except per unit amounts)

For the Year

Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
REVENUE:
Lease inCome . ... ... . i $5,164,335 $4,905,175 $4,736,719
Management fees and otherrevenues. . . ........ ... .. ... . .. . 125,995 116,904 106,483
OtherinCome . . . ..ot 368,506 269,368 273,587
Totalrevenue. . . ... .. . . . 5,658,836 5,291,447 5,116,789
EXPENSES:
Property operating . . . . ... ..o 489,346 464,135 415,720
Depreciation and amortization. .. ......... ... ... . . . . 1,262,107 1,227,371 1,262,715
Realestatetaxes. . ....... ... ... . . e 441,783 443,224 458,953
Repairs and maintenance . ............ ... ... 97,257 93,595 96,391
Advertising and promotion. . ... ... L 127,346 107,793 114,303
Home and regional office costs . . ........ ... ... .. . 207,618 184,592 184,660
General and administrative . ........... ... .. ... ... 38,513 34,971 30,339
O her . o 187,844 152,213 140,518
Total operatingexpenses. .. ............... ... i 2,851,814 2,707,894 2,703,599
OPERATING INCOME BEFORE OTHERITEMS. . .. ...................... 2,807,022 2,583,553 2,413,190
INnterest eXPeNSe . . . ..o (854,648) (761,253) (795,712)
Loss on extinguishmentofdebt. .. ...... ... . ... ... . — — (51,841)
Gain on disposal, exchange, or revaluation of equity interests, net
(Notes 3 and B) .. ... 362,019 121,177 178,672
Income and othertax expense ........ ... ... i (81,874) (83,512) (157,199)
Income from unconsolidated entities. . . ............ .. ... ... ... .. . . .. ..., 375,663 647,977 782,837
Unrealized gains (losses) in fair value of publicly traded equity instruments and
derivative instrument, net. . ... 11,892 (61,204) (8,095)
(Loss) gain on acquisition of controlling interest, sale or disposal of, or recovery
on, assets and interests in unconsolidated entities and impairment, net . .. .. .. (3,056) 5,647 206,855
CONSOLIDATED NETINCOME .. ... ... .. 2,617,018 2,452,385 2,568,707
Net (loss) income attributable to noncontrolling interests . ................... (1,336) 2,738 (6,053)
Preferred unitrequirements. . . ... .. .. . 5,237 5,252 5,252
NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TOUNITHOLDERS. . .. ................... $2,613,117 $2,444,395 $ 2,569,508
NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNITHOLDERS ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
General Partner. . . ... ... .. . $2,279,789 $2,136,198 $ 2,246,294
Limited Partners . ... ... . 333,328 308,197 323,214
Net income attributable to unitholders .. .. ........................ $2,613,117 $2,444,395 $ 2,569,508
BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER UNIT:
Net income attributable to unitholders . .. ......................... $ 698 §$ 652 §$ 6.84
Consolidated Netlncome . .. ... ... ... ... ... ... .. ... i, $2,617,018 $2,452,385 $ 2,568,707
Unrealized gain on derivative hedge agreements. . ....................... 18,350 54,808 51,114
Net gain reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss into earnings . (4,084) (1,595) (7,285)
Currency translation adjustments . . .. ...... ... ... . (26,513) (28,119) (38,772)
Changes in available-for-sale securities andother. . ................... ... 2,254 (2,009) (1,014)
Comprehensive iNCOME . . .. ... e e 2,607,025 2,475,470 2,572,750
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests .. ....... 610 1,572 (2,634)
Comprehensive income attributable to unitholders . .. ................ $ 2,606,415 $2,473,898 $2,575,384

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Simon Property Group, L.P.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Dollars in thousands)
For the Year
Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Consolidated NetIncome . . . ........ ... ... ... . . $ 2,617,018 $ 2,452,385 $ 2,568,707
Adjustments to reconcile consolidated net income to net cash provided by
operating activities
Depreciation and amortization. . .. ....... ... ... ... 1,333,584 1,292,113 1,325,895
Loss on debt extinguishment .. ... ... ... .. . . ... —_ — 51,841
Loss (gain) on acquisition of controlling interests, sale or disposal of, or
recovery on, assets and interests in unconsolidated entities and

impairment, net. . ... . 3,056 (5,647) (206,855)
Gain on disposal, exchange, or revaluation of equity interests, net. . . . ... ... (362,019) (121,177) (178,672)
Unrealized (gains) losses in fair value of publicly traded equity instruments
and derivative instrument, net . .. ... ... . ... (11,892) 61,204 8,095
Straight-linelease 10Ss . . .. .. ... .. 9,866 25,234 22,619
Income from unconsolidated entities . . . . ............ .. .. . . L. (375,663) (647,977) (782,837)
Distributions of income from unconsolidated entities . . . .. ............... 458,709 561,583 436,881
Changes in assets and liabilities
Tenant receivables and accrued revenue, net. ... ..................... (11,802) 63,350 265,352
Deferred costs and otherassets . ... ........ . ... ... . ... 24,423 (104,567) (77,592)
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, intangibles, deferred revenues and
Ot . . o 245,513 190,103 203,968
Net cash provided by operating activities . . ... .................. 3,930,793 3,766,604 3,637,402
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
ACQUISItIONS . . . . o (65,829) (203,364) (257,080)
Funding of loans to related parties ... ........... ... .. ... ... .. ...... (15,250) (132,857) (15,848)
Repayments of loans torelated parties . . . ............. ... . ... ...... 16,188 82,371 14,027
Capital expenditures, net . .. ... ... (793,283) (650,024) (527,935)
Cash impact from the consolidation of properties. . . .................... — 20,988 5,595
Net proceeds fromsaleofassets . ........... ... .. .. .. . . ... — 59,658 3,000
Investments in unconsolidated entities . . ............ .. ... . ... L. (83,961) (235,792) (56,901)
Purchase of short-terminvestments .. ........... ... ... ... ........ (1,000,000) — —
Purchase of equity instruments. ... ......... ... .. .. . (31,742) (66,140) (33,605)
Proceeds from sale of equity instruments .. .......... ... ... .. ... .. .. 304,129 26,086 65,504
Insurance proceeds for property restoration . ............. .. ... ... ... 7,427 — 7,200
Distributions of capital from unconsolidated entities and other . . .. ......... 299,140 472,510 243,279
Net cash used in investing activities . . . ........................ (1,363,181) (626,564) (552,764)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Issuance of unitsand other. . . ........ .. ... ... . . . (328) (328) (328)
Purchase of units related to stock grant recipients' tax withholdings. . ... .. .. (5,795) (6,788) (2,318)
Redemption of limited partnerunits. . . .............. .. ... . . .. (13,524) (1,852) (2,220)
Purchase of general partnerunits . . . ........ ... ... . (140,593) (180,387) —
Preferred unitredemptions . . . . ... ... . . (2,500) — —
Proceeds from the special purpose acquisition company IPO, net of
transaction costs. . .. ... .. ... — — 338,121
Proceeds from (establishment of) trust account for special purpose acquisition
COMPANY . . et e et e e et e e e e e e e e — 345,000 (345,000)
Liquidation of special purpose acquisition company. . ................... — (345,000) —
Distributions to noncontrolling interest holders in properties. . . . ........... (41,956) (27,741) (5,024)
Contributions from noncontrolling interest holders in properties . ... ........ 9,813 29,681 20,902
Partnership distributions . . .. ... ... L (2,796,681) (2,592,472) (2,690,700)
Cash paid to extinguishdebt. . .. ... ... ... .. ... ... . . — — (50,156)
Mortgage and unsecured indebtedness proceeds, net of transaction costs. . . . 3,629,840 3,449,403 9,251,217
Mortgage and unsecured indebtedness principal payments. ... ........... (2,658,525) (3,721,864) (10,076,809)
Net cash used in financing activities . . . ........................ (2,020,249) (3,052,348) (3,562,315)
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ... ............ 547,363 87,692 (477,677)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of period . . . .................. 621,628 533,936 1,011,613
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, endofperiod . . . . ...................... $ 1,168,991 § 621628 § 533,936

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Simon Property Group, Inc.
Simon Property Group, L.P.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Dollars in thousands, except share, per share, unit and per unit amounts
and where indicated as in millions or billions)

1. Organization

Simon Property Group, Inc. is a Delaware corporation that operates as a self-administered and self-managed real
estate investment trust, or REIT, under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Internal Revenue Code.
REITs will generally not be liable for U.S. federal corporate income taxes as long as they distribute not less than 100% of
their REIT taxable income. Simon Property Group, L.P. is our majority-owned Delaware partnership subsidiary that owns
all of our real estate properties and other assets. Unless stated otherwise or the context otherwise requires, references to
"Simon" mean Simon Property Group, Inc. and references to the "Operating Partnership" mean Simon Property Group,
L.P. References to "we," "us" and "our" mean collectively Simon, the Operating Partnership and those entities/subsidiaries
owned or controlled by Simon and/or the Operating Partnership. Unless otherwise indicated, these notes to consolidated
financial statements apply to both Simon and the Operating Partnership. According to the Operating Partnership's
partnership agreement, the Operating Partnership is required to pay all expenses of Simon.

We own, develop and manage premier shopping, dining, entertainment and mixed-use destinations, which consist
primarily of malls, Premium Outlets®, and The Mills®. As of December 31, 2023, we owned or held an interest in
195 income-producing properties in the United States, which consisted of 93 malls, 69 Premium Outlets, 14 Mills, six
lifestyle centers, and 13 other retail properties in 37 states and Puerto Rico. We also own an 84% noncontrolling interest
in the Taubman Realty Group, LLC, or TRG, which has an interest in 24 regional, super-regional, and outlet malls in the
U.S. and Asia. Internationally, as of December 31, 2023, we had ownership interests in 35 Premium Outlets and Designer
Outlet properties primarily located in Asia, Europe, and Canada. As of December 31, 2023, we also owned a 22.4% equity
stake in Klépierre SA, or Klépierre, a publicly traded, Paris-based real estate company which owns, or has an interest in,
shopping centers located in 14 countries in Europe. We also own investments in retail operations (J.C. Penney and SPARC
Group); an intellectual property and licensing venture (Authentic Brands Group, LLC, or ABG); an e-commerce venture
(Rue Gilt Groupe, or RGG), and Jamestown (a global real estate investment and management company), collectively, our
other platform investments.

We generate the majority of our lease income from retail, dining, entertainment and other tenants including
consideration received from:

¢ Fixed minimum lease consideration and fixed common area maintenance (CAM) reimbursements and,

¢ Variable lease consideration primarily based on tenants’ sales, as well as reimbursements for real estate taxes,
utilities, marketing, and certain other items.

Revenues of our management company, after intercompany eliminations, consist primarily of management fees that
are typically based upon the revenues of the property being managed.

We also grow by generating supplemental revenues from the following activities:

o establishing our properties as leading market resource providers for retailers and other businesses and
consumer-focused corporate alliances, including payment systems (such as handling fees relating to the sales of
bank-issued prepaid cards), national marketing alliances, static and digital media initiatives, business
development, sponsorship, and events,

o offering property operating services to our tenants and others, including waste handling and facility services, and
the provision of energy services,

¢ selling or leasing land adjacent to our properties, commonly referred to as “outlots” or “outparcels,” and

e generating interest income on cash deposits and investments in loans, including those made to related entities.
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Simon Property Group, Inc.
Simon Property Group, L.P.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Dollars in thousands, except share, per share, unit and per unit amounts
and where indicated as in millions or billions)

2. Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of all controlled subsidiaries, and all
significant intercompany amounts have been eliminated.

We consolidate properties that are wholly-owned or properties where we own less than 100% but we control. Control
of a property is demonstrated by, among other factors, our ability to refinance debt and sell the property without the consent
of any other partner or owner and the inability of any other partner or owner to replace us.

We also consolidate a variable interest entity, or VIE, when we are determined to be the primary beneficiary.
Determination of the primary beneficiary of a VIE is based on whether an entity has (1) the power to direct activities that
most significantly impact the economic performance of the VIE and (2) the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive
benefits of the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE. Our determination of the primary beneficiary of a VIE
considers all relationships between us and the VIE, including management agreements and other contractual
arrangements. There have been no changes during 2023 in previous conclusions about whether an entity qualifies as a
VIE or whether we are the primary beneficiary of any previously identified VIE. During the periods presented, we did not
provide financial or other support to any identified VIE that we were not contractually obligated to provide.

Investments in partnerships and joint ventures represent our noncontrolling ownership interests. We account for
these unconsolidated entities using the equity method of accounting. We initially record these investments at cost and we
subsequently adjust for net equity in income or loss, which we allocate in accordance with the provisions of the applicable
partnership or joint venture agreement, cash contributions and distributions, and foreign currency fluctuations, if applicable.
The allocation provisions in the partnership or joint venture agreements are not always consistent with the legal ownership
interests held by each general or limited partner or joint venture investee primarily due to partner preferences. We
separately report investments in partnerships and joint ventures for which accumulated distributions have exceeded
investments in and our share of net income of the partnerships and joint ventures within cash distributions and losses in
partnerships and joint ventures, at equity in the consolidated balance sheets. The net equity of certain partnerships and
joint ventures is less than zero because of financing or operating distributions that are usually greater than net income, as
net income includes non-cash charges for depreciation and amortization.

As of December 31, 2023, we consolidated 130 wholly-owned properties and 19 additional properties that are less
than wholly-owned, but which we control or for which we are the primary beneficiary. We apply the equity method of
accounting to the other 81 properties (the joint venture properties) and our investments in Klépierre, TRG, and Jamestown,
as well as our investments in retail operations (J.C. Penney and SPARC Group); an intellectual property and licensing
venture (ABG); and an e-commerce venture (RGG). We manage the day-to-day operations of 51 of the 81 joint venture
properties, but have determined that our partner or partners have substantive participating rights with respect to the assets
and operations of these joint venture properties. Our investments in joint ventures in Japan, South Korea, Mexico, Malaysia,
Canada, Spain, Thailand, and the United Kingdom comprise 24 of the remaining 30 properties. These international
properties and TRG are managed by joint ventures in which we share control.

Preferred distributions of the Operating Partnership are accrued at declaration and represent distributions on
outstanding preferred units of partnership interests, or preferred units, and are included in net income attributable to
noncontrolling interests. We allocate net operating results of the Operating Partnership after preferred distributions to
limited partners and to us based on the partners’ respective weighted average ownership interests in the Operating
Partnership. Net operating results of the Operating Partnership attributable to limited partners are reflected in net income
attributable to noncontrolling interests.

Our weighted average ownership interest in the Operating Partnership was as follows:

For the Year Ended
December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Weighted average ownershipinterest. .. ............ .. .. ... .. ... 872% 874% 874 %
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As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, our ownership interest in the Operating Partnership was 87.0% and 87.4%,
respectively. We adjust the noncontrolling limited partners’ interest at the end of each period to reflect their interest in the
net assets of the Operating Partnership.

Preferred unit requirements in the Operating Partnership’s accompanying consolidated statements of operations
and comprehensive income represent distributions on outstanding preferred units and are recorded when declared.

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Investment Properties

Investment properties consist of the following as of December 31:

2023 2022
Land ... $ 3,643,432 $ 3,632,943
Buildings and improvements . . .. ... ..o 35,141,486 34,246,835
Total land, buildings and improvements .. ..................... 38,784,918 37,879,778
Furniture, fixtures and equipment . .. ........... ... ... .. ..... 500,220 447,134
Investment propertiesatcost ............ ... ... . L. 39,285,138 38,326,912
Less — accumulated depreciation ............... .. ... .. ... .. 17,716,788 16,563,749
Investment properties atcost,net............... ... ... ..., $ 21,568,350 $ 21,763,163
Construction in progress included above . ..................... $ 760,175 $ 587,644

We record investment properties at cost. Investment properties include costs of acquisitions; development,
predevelopment, and construction (including allocable salaries and related benefits); tenant allowances and improvements;
and interest and real estate taxes incurred during construction. We capitalize improvements and replacements from repair
and maintenance when the repair and maintenance extends the useful life, increases capacity, or improves the efficiency
of the asset. All other repair and maintenance items are expensed as incurred. We capitalize interest on projects during
periods of construction until the projects are ready for their intended purpose based on interest rates in place during the
construction period. The amount of interest capitalized during each year is as follows:

For the Year Ended
December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Capitalizedinterest. . ............ ... ... ... ... ... $ 39,906 $ 35482 $ 31,204

We record depreciation on buildings and improvements utilizing the straight-line method over an estimated original
useful life, which is generally 10 to 35 years. We review depreciable lives of investment properties periodically and we
make adjustments when necessary to reflect a shorter economic life. We amortize tenant allowances and tenant
improvements utilizing the straight-line method over the term of the related lease or occupancy term of the tenant, if shorter.
We record depreciation on equipment and fixtures utilizing the straight-line method over seven to ten years.

We review investment properties for impairment on a property-by-property basis to identify and evaluate events or
changes in circumstances which indicate that the carrying value of investment properties may not be recoverable. These
circumstances include, but are not limited to, declines in a property’s operational performance, such as declining cash
flows, occupancy or total sales per square foot, the Company’s intent and ability to hold the related asset, and, if applicable,
the remaining time to maturity of underlying financing arrangements. We measure any impairment of investment property
when the estimated undiscounted operating income before depreciation and amortization during the anticipated holding
period plus its residual value, and, if applicable, on a probability weighted basis, is less than the carrying value of the
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property. To the extent impairment has occurred, we charge to income the excess of carrying value of the property over
our estimate of fair value.

We also review our investments, including investments in unconsolidated entities, to identify and evaluate whether
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of our investments may not be recoverable. We will
record an impairment charge if we determine the fair value of the investment is less than its carrying value and such
impairment is other-than-temporary. Our evaluation of changes in economic or operating conditions and whether an
impairment is other-than-temporary may include developing estimates of fair value, forecasted cash flows or operating
income before depreciation and amortization.

We estimate undiscounted cash flows and fair value using observable and unobservable data such as operating
income before depreciation and amortization, hold periods, estimated capitalization and discount rates, or relevant market
multiples, leasing prospects and local market information, expected probabilities of outcomes, if applicable, and whether
an impairment is other-than-temporary. Changes in economic and operating conditions including, changes in the financial
condition of our tenants and changes to our intent and ability to hold the related asset, that occur subsequent to our review
of recoverability of investment property and other investments could impact the assumptions used in that assessment and
could result in future charges to earnings if assumptions regarding those investments differ from actual results.

Purchase Accounting

We allocate the purchase price of asset acquisitions and any excess investment in unconsolidated entities to the
various components of the acquisition based upon the relative fair value of each component which may be derived from
various observable or unobservable inputs and assumptions. Also, we may utilize third party valuation specialists. These
components typically include buildings, land and intangibles related to in-place leases and we estimate:

¢ the relative fair value of land and related improvements and buildings on an as-if-vacant basis,

o the market value of in-place leases based upon our best estimate of current market rents and amortize the
resulting market rent adjustment into lease income,

¢ the value of costs to obtain tenants, including tenant allowances and improvements and leasing commissions,
and

¢ the value of lease income and recovery of costs foregone during a reasonable lease-up period, as if the space
was vacant.

The relative fair value of buildings is depreciated over the estimated remaining life of the acquired building or related
improvements. We amortize tenant improvements, in-place lease assets and other lease-related intangibles over the
remaining life of the underlying leases. We also estimate the value of other acquired intangible assets, if any, which are
amortized over the remaining life of the underlying related intangibles.

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Short-term investments

We consider all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of 90 days or less to be cash and cash
equivalents. Cash equivalents are carried at cost, which approximates fair value. Cash equivalents generally consist of
commercial paper, bankers’ acceptances, Eurodollars, repurchase agreements, and money market deposits or securities.
Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk include our cash and cash equivalents and
our trade accounts receivable. We place our cash and cash equivalents with institutions of high credit quality. However, at
certain times, such cash and cash equivalents are in excess of Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation and Securities
Investor Protection Corporation insurance limits. See Notes 4 and 8 for disclosures about non-cash investing and financing
transactions.

We classify short-term investments, which consist of time-deposits with original maturities in excess of 90 days as
available-for-sale. Short-term investments are reported at fair value and reviewed periodically for allowances for credit
losses and impairment. When evaluating the investments, we review factors such as the extent to which the fair value of
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the security is less than the amortized cost basis, adverse conditions specifically related to the security, the financial
condition of the issuer, the Company’s intent to sell, and whether it would be more likely than not that the Company would
be required to sell the investments before the recovery of their amortized cost basis.

Equity Instruments and Debt Securities

Equity instruments and debt securities consist primarily of equity instruments, our deferred compensation plan
investments, the debt securities of our captive insurance subsidiary, and certain investments held to fund the debt service
requirements of debt previously secured by investment properties. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, we had equity
instruments with readily determinable fair values of $97.7 million and $73.0 million, respectively. Changes in the fair value
of these equity instruments are recorded in unrealized gains (losses) in fair value of publicly traded equity instruments and
derivative instrument, net in our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income. At December 31, 2023
and 2022, we had equity instruments without readily determinable fair values of $240.2 million and $236.2 million,
respectively, for which we have elected the measurement alternative. We regularly evaluate these investments for any
impairment in their estimated fair value, as well as any observable price changes for an identical or similar equity instrument
of the same issuer. We recorded a reduction in the carrying value of these investments of nil and $27.5 million for the years
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Changes in the fair value of these equity instruments are recorded in
gain on disposal, exchange, or revaluation of equity interests, net in our consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income.

Our deferred compensation plan equity instruments are valued based upon quoted market prices. The investments
have a matching liability as the amounts are fully payable to the employees that earned the compensation. Changes in
value of these securities and changes to the matching liability to employees are both recognized in earnings and, as a
result, there is no impact to consolidated net income.

At December 31, 2023 and 2022, we held debt securities of $79.7 million and $52.3 million, respectively, in our
captive insurance subsidiary. The types of securities included in the investment portfolio of our captive insurance subsidiary
are typically U.S. Treasury or other U.S. government securities as well as corporate debt securities with maturities ranging
from less than one year to ten years. These securities are classified as available-for-sale and are valued based upon
quoted market prices or other observable inputs when quoted market prices are not available. The amortized cost of debt
securities, which approximates fair value, held by our captive insurance subsidiary is adjusted for amortization of premiums
and accretion of discounts to maturity. Changes in the values of these securities are recognized in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) until the gain or loss is realized or until any unrealized loss is deemed to be other-than-
temporary. We review any declines in value of these securities for other-than-temporary impairment and consider the
severity and duration of any decline in value. To the extent an other-than-temporary impairment is deemed to have
occurred, an impairment is recorded and a new cost basis is established.

Our captive insurance subsidiary is required to maintain statutory minimum capital and surplus as well as maintain
a minimum liquidity ratio. Therefore, our access to these securities may be limited.

Fair Value Measurements

Level 1 fair value inputs are quoted prices for identical items in active, liquid and visible markets such as stock
exchanges. Level 2 fair value inputs are observable information for similar items in active or inactive markets, and
appropriately consider counterparty creditworthiness in the valuations. Level 3 fair value inputs reflect our best estimate of
inputs and assumptions market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability at the measurement date. The inputs
are unobservable in the market and significant to the valuation estimate.

We have equity instruments with readily determinable fair values that are valued using Level 1 inputs. We have
foreign currency forward contracts, interest rate cap and swap agreements, and time-deposits that mature within one-year
that are valued using Level 2 inputs. The notional value of our time-deposits approximate fair value given the relatively
short-term nature of the instrument. We also have a bifurcated embedded derivative option that was a component of the
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€750.0 million exchangeable bonds issued in November 2023. This instrument is classified as primarily having Level 3
inputs and is further discussed in Note 3, within the Derivative Financial Instruments subsection and Note 7.

Quoted Prices in  Significant Other Significant Other

Active Markets Observable Unobservable
Description December 31, 2023 (Level 1) Inputs (Level 2) Inputs (Level 3)
Assets:
Short-term investments. . ...... $ 1,000,000 $ - $ 1,000,000 $ -
Deferred costs and other assets 113,779 97,696 16,083 -
Total....................... $ 1,113,779 $ 97,696 $ 1,016,083 $ -
Liabilities:
Other Liabilities . ............. $ 38,146 $ - $ 9,774 $ 28,372
Quofed Prices in S'gont':":fnt S'gont':":fnt
December 31, ACt('tzvl\:f:I;ets Observable Unobservable
Description 2022 Inputs (Level 2) Inputs (Level 3)
Assets:
Other Assets......... $ 88,805 $ 73,020 $ 15,785 $ -
Liabilities:
Other Liabilities. . ... .. $ 8,605 $ - $ 8,605 $ -

Note 7 includes a discussion of the fair value of debt measured using Level 2 inputs. Notes 3, 4, and 6 include
discussions of the fair values recorded in purchase accounting using Level 2 and Level 3 inputs. Level 3 inputs to our
purchase accounting and impairment analyses include our estimations of fair value, net operating results of the property,
capitalization rates and discount rates.

Gains or losses on Issuances of Stock by Equity Method Investees

When one of our equity method investees issues additional shares to third parties, our percentage ownership
interest in the investee may decrease. In the event the issuance price per share is higher or lower than our average carrying
amount per share, we recognize a noncash gain or loss on the issuance, when appropriate. This noncash gain or loss is
recognized in our net income in the period the change of ownership interest occurs.

Use of Estimates

We prepared the accompanying consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States, or GAAP. GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements, and revenues and expenses during the reported period. Our actual results could differ from these estimates.

Segment and Geographic Locations

Our primary business is the ownership, development, and management of premier shopping, dining, entertainment
and mixed use real estate. We have aggregated our retail operations, including malls, Premium Outlets, The Mills, and our
international investments into one reportable segment because they have similar economic characteristics and we provide
similar products and services to similar types of, and in many cases, the same, tenants. As of December 31, 2023,
approximately 7.3% of our consolidated long-lived assets and 4.2% of our consolidated total revenues were derived from
assets located outside the United States. As of December 31, 2022, approximately 6.9% of our consolidated long-lived
assets and 3.5% of our consolidated total revenues were derived from assets located outside the United States.
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Deferred Costs and Other Assets

Deferred costs and other assets include the following as of December 31:

2023 2022
Deferred lease costs, net. ........... ... i $ 77,811 § 97,553
In-place lease intangibles, net. . ....... ... ... ... L. 3,085 7,076
Acquired above market lease intangibles, net .. ................ 5,629 10,696
Marketable securities of our captive insurance companies. . ...... 79,716 52,325
GoodWill ... 20,098 20,098
Other marketable and non-marketable securities ............... 338,120 309,212
Prepaids, notes receivable and other assets, net ............... 593,257 662,333

$ 1,117,716 $ 1,159,293

Deferred Lease Costs

Our deferred leasing costs consist primarily of initial direct costs and, prior to the adoption of ASC 842, capitalized
salaries and related benefits, in connection with lease originations. We record amortization of deferred leasing costs on a
straight-line basis over the terms of the related leases. Details of these deferred costs as of December 31 are as follows:

2023 2022
Deferredlease costs . .......... ... i $ 273,010 $ 312,464
Accumulated amortization .. ........ .. (195,199) (214,911)
Deferred lease costs, net. . ... . $ 77,811 3 97,553

Amortization of deferred leasing costs is a component of depreciation and amortization expense. The accompanying
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income include amortization of deferred leasing costs as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Amortization of deferred leasingcosts . ............ $ 34119 §$ 39606 $ 43,028

Intangibles

The average remaining life of in-place lease intangibles is approximately 2.4 years and is being amortized on a
straight-line basis and is included with depreciation and amortization in the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income. The fair market value of above and below market leases is amortized into lease income over the
remaining lease life as a component of reported lease income. The weighted average remaining life of these intangibles is
approximately 2.9 years. The unamortized amount of below market leases is included in accounts payable, accrued
expenses, intangibles and deferred revenues in the consolidated balance sheets and was $11.1 million and $15.3 million
as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The amount of amortization of above and below market leases, net,
which increased lease income for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, was $0.9 million, $1.7 million and
$2.7 million, respectively. If a lease is terminated prior to the original lease termination, any remaining unamortized
intangible is written off to earnings.
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Details of intangible assets as of December 31 are as follows:

2023 2022
In-place lease intangibles .. ........ ... ... ... . . ... $ 52,138 $ 67,935
Accumulated amortization .. ....... ... .. (49,054) (60,859)
In-place lease intangibles, net. . ....... ... ... ... L. $ 3,084 $ 7,076

2023 2022
Acquired above market lease intangibles. . ............. ... .. ... $ 119,985 §$ 130,556
Accumulated amortization . . ....... ... (114,356) (119,860)
Acquired above market lease intangibles, net ................... $ 5629 $ 10,696

Estimated future amortization and the increasing (decreasing) effect on lease income for our above and below
market leases as of December 31, 2023 are as follows:

Below Above Impact to

Market Market Lease

Leases Leases Income, Net
2024 . $ 3467 $ (3634) $ (167)
2025 2,347 (1,522) 825
2026 .. 1,568 (446) 1,122
2027 1,252 (27) 1,225
2028 . 1,212 — 1,212
Thereafter. .. ... ... . . 1,246 — 1,246

$ 11,092 $ (5629 $ 5,463

Derivative Financial Instruments

We record all derivatives on our consolidated balance sheets at fair value. The accounting for changes in the fair
value of derivatives depends on the intended use of the derivative, whether we have designated a derivative as a hedge
and whether the hedging relationship has satisfied the criteria necessary to apply hedge accounting. We may use a variety
of derivative financial instruments in the normal course of business to selectively manage or hedge a portion of the risks
associated with our indebtedness and interest payments. Our objectives in using interest rate derivatives are to add stability
to interest expense and to manage our exposure to interest rate movements. To accomplish this objective, we primarily
use interest rate swaps and caps. We require that hedging derivative instruments be highly effective in reducing the risk
exposure that they are designated to hedge. We generally formally designate instruments that meets these hedging criteria
as a hedge at the inception of the derivative contract. We have no credit-risk-related hedging or derivative activities.
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As of December 31, 2023, we had the following outstanding interest rate derivatives related to managing our interest
rate risk:

Number of Notional
Interest Rate Derivative Instruments Amount
Interest Rate Swaps . ... ... 5 $805.0 million
Interest Rate Caps. . ... 1 $ 38.0 million
Interest Rate Swaps . ... ... 1 €128.0 million
Interest Rate Caps. . ... 3 €129.0 million

As of December 31, 2022, we had the following outstanding interest rate derivatives related to managing our interest
rate risk:

Number of Notional
Interest Rate Derivative Instruments Amount
Interest Rate Swaps . ... ... 1 €128.0 million
Interest Rate Caps. . ... .o 5 €319.0 million

The carrying value of our interest rate cap and swap agreements, at fair value, as of December 31, 2023 and
December 31, 2022 was a net asset balance of $11.6 million and $13.1 million, respectively, and is included in deferred
costs and other assets.

Our exposure to market risk due to changes in interest rates primarily relates to our long-term debt obligations. We
manage exposure to interest rate market risk through our risk management strategy by a combination of interest rate
protection agreements to effectively fix or cap a portion of variable rate debt.

We may enter into treasury lock agreements as part of an anticipated debt issuance. Upon completion of the debt
issuance, the fair value of these instruments is recorded as part of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and is
amortized to interest expense over the life of the debt agreement.

The unamortized gain on our treasury locks and terminated hedges recorded in accumulated other comprehensive
income was $41.9 million and $10.9 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Within the next year, we
expect to reclassify to earnings approximately $3.1 million of gains related to terminated interest rate swaps from the current
balance held in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

We are also exposed to foreign currency risk on financings of certain foreign operations. Our intent is to offset gains
and losses that occur on the underlying exposers, with gains and losses on the derivative contracts hedging these exposers.
We do not enter into either interest rate protection or foreign currency rate protection agreements for speculative purposes.

We are also exposed to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates on financial instruments which are denominated in
foreign currencies, primarily in Yen and Euro. We use currency forward contracts, cross currency swap contracts, and
nonderivative instruments such as foreign currency denominated debt to manage our exposure to changes in foreign
exchange rates on certain Yen and Euro-denominated receivables and net investments. Currency forward contracts
involve fixing the Yen:USD or Euro:USD exchange rate for delivery of a specified amount of foreign currency on a specified
date. The currency forward contracts are typically cash settled in U.S. dollars for their fair value at or close to their settlement
date.
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We had the following Euro:USD forward contracts designated as net investment hedges at December 31, 2023 and
2022 (in millions):

Asset (Liability) Value as of

December 31, December 31,
Notional Value Maturity Date 2023 2022

€ 50.0 ... January 13, 2023 — (2.9)
€ 150 . March 15, 2023 — 0.7
€ 150 . March 15, 2023 — 0.7
€ 450 .. .. April 12, 2023 — (0.2)
€ 44.0 ... . September 15, 2023 — (0.1)
€ 50.0 ... December 15, 2023 — (2.8)
€ 50.0 ... January 17, 2024 (0.4) —
€ 300 .. March 15, 2024 1.0 1.3
€ 510 . March 15, 2024 (3.6) (2.8)
€ 200 .. April 12, 2024 (0.1) —
€ 250 ... July 17, 2024 0.7

€ 37.0 .. December 13, 2024 (0.9) —
€ 7.0 .. December 13, 2024 (0.9) —
€ B50.0 ... .. March 17, 2025 (1.1) —

Asset balances in the above table are included in deferred costs and other assets. Liability balances in the above
table are included in other liabilities.

We have designated certain derivative and nonderivative instruments as net investment hedges. Accordingly, we
report the changes in fair value in other comprehensive income (loss). For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022,
and 2021 we recorded gains (losses) of ($45.2 million), $131.7 million, and 176.0 million, respectively, in the cumulative
translation adjustment section of the other comprehensive income (loss). Changes in the value of these instruments are
offset by changes in the underlying hedged Euro investments.

The total accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) related to Simon’s derivative activities, including our
share of other comprehensive income (loss) from unconsolidated entities, was $48.7 million and $36.5 million as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The total accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) related to the
Operating Partnership’s derivative activities, including our share of the other comprehensive income (loss) from
unconsolidated entities, was $56.1 million and $41.8 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The exchange option of our exchangeable bonds is valued as a derivative liability using an option pricing model that
incorporates the observed period ending price of the exchangeable bonds and secondary market prices of comparable
unsecured senior notes without an exchange feature. The key assumptions utilized are the period ending share-price of
Klépierre, share-price implied volatility, the EUR risk-free rate, Klépierre expected dividend yield, time to maturity, and the
comparable spread to the EUR risk-free rate of unsecured senior notes without an exchange feature.

The fair value of the option is recorded in other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets and changes to the
value of the option are recognized in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income in unrealized
gains (losses) in fair value of publicly traded equity instruments and derivative instrument, net.
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The key inputs into the option model for the exchange option within the exchangeable bonds as of December 31,
2023 and November 14, 2023 (at inception) were as follows:

December 31, 2023 November 14, 2023
Klépierre stock price . .. ... € 24.68 € 22.67
Implied volatility. . .......... .. .. . 17.88% 19.74%
EURrrisk-freerate . . ........ .. . 2.11% 2.96%
Klépierre expected dividend yield . . ..................... 6.85% 7.43%
Expectedterm. . ....... .. . .. ... 2.88 years 3.00 years
CreditSpread ...... ... . ... .. 0.84% 1.44%

The option is measured at fair value on a recurring basis. As of December 31, 2023 and November 14, 2023 (at
inception) the values of the option were $28.4 million and $19.2 million, respectively.

Noncontrolling Interests
Simon

Details of the carrying amount of our noncontrolling interests are as follows as of December 31:

2023 2022
Limited partners’ interests in the Operating Partnership........................ $ 447,494 $ 448,076
Nonredeemable noncontrolling interests in properties, net. . .................... 21,321 25,052
Total noncontrolling interests reflected inequity . ........... ... ... .. ... .. ... $ 468,815 $ 473,128

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (which includes nonredeemable and redeemable noncontrolling
interests in consolidated properties, limited partners’ interests in the Operating Partnership, and preferred distributions
payable by the Operating Partnership on its outstanding preferred units) is a component of consolidated net income. In
addition, the individual components of other comprehensive income (loss) are presented in the aggregate for both
controlling and noncontrolling interests, with the portion attributable to noncontrolling interests deducted from
comprehensive income attributable to common stockholders.

The Operating Partnership

Our evaluation of the appropriateness of classifying the Operating Partnership’s common units of partnership
interest, or units, held by Simon and the Operating Partnership's limited partners within permanent equity considered
several significant factors. First, as a limited partnership, all decisions relating to the Operating Partnership’s operations
and distributions are made by Simon, acting as the Operating Partnership’s sole general partner. The decisions of the
general partner are made by Simon's Board of Directors or management. The Operating Partnership has no other
governance structure. Secondly, the sole asset of Simon is its interest in the Operating Partnership. As a result, a share of
common stock of Simon, or common stock, if owned by the Operating Partnership, is best characterized as being similar
to a treasury share and thus not an asset of the Operating Partnership.

Limited partners of the Operating Partnership have the right under the Operating Partnership’s partnership
agreement to exchange their units for shares of common stock or cash, as selected by Simon as the sole general partner.
Accordingly, we classify units held by limited partners in permanent equity because Simon may elect to issue shares of
common stock to limited partners exercising their exchange rights rather than using cash. Under the Operating
Partnership’s partnership agreement, the Operating Partnership is required to redeem units held by Simon only when
Simon has repurchased shares of common stock. We classify units held by Simon in permanent equity because the
decision to redeem those units would be made by Simon.

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (which includes nonredeemable and redeemable noncontrolling
interests in consolidated properties) is a component of consolidated net income.
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Simon

The total accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) related to Simon’s currency translation adjustment was
($221.6) million, ($199.5) million and ($175.1) million as of December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

The reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) consisted of the following as of
December 31:

Affected line item where
2023 2022 2021 net income is presented
Loss (gain) on acquisition of
controlling interest, sale or
disposal of, or recovery on,
assets and interests in
unconsolidated entities and
Currency translation adjustments . . . .. $ — 3 — 3 5,660 impairment, net
Net income attributable to
— — (712) noncontrolling interests

$ —  $ —  $ 4,948
Accumulated derivative gains, net. . . . . $ 4,084 $ 1,595 $ 1,625 Interest expense
Net income attributable to
(533) (202) (204) noncontrolling interests
$ 3,551 § 1,393 § 1,421

The Operating Partnership

The total accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) related to the Operating Partnership’s currency
translation adjustment was ($254.9) million, ($228.3) million and ($200.2) million as of December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021,
respectively.

The reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) consisted of the following as of
December 31:

Affected line item where
2023 2022 2021 net income is presented
Loss (gain) on acquisition of
controlling interest, sale or
disposal of, or recovery on,
assets and interests in
unconsolidated entities and
Currency translation adjustments . . . .. $ — 3 — 3 5,660 impairment, net

Accumulated derivative gains, net. . . . . $ 4084 $ 1,595 § 1,625 Interest expense

Revenue Recognition

We, as a lessor, primarily under long-term leases, retain substantially all of the risks and benefits of ownership of
the investment properties and account for our leases as operating leases. We accrue fixed lease income on a straight-line
basis over the terms of the leases when we believe substantially all lease income, including the related straight-line rent
receivable, is probable of collection. Substantially all of our retail tenants are also required to pay overage rents based on
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sales over a stated base amount during the lease year. We recognize this variable lease consideration only when each
tenant’s sales exceed the applicable sales threshold. We amortize any tenant inducements as a reduction of lease income
utilizing the straight-line method over the term of the related lease or occupancy term of the tenant, if shorter.

We structure our leases to allow us to recover a significant portion of our property operating, real estate taxes,
repairs and maintenance, and advertising and promotion expenses from our tenants. A substantial portion of our leases,
other than those for anchor stores, require the tenant to reimburse us for a substantial portion of our operating expenses,
including common area maintenance, or CAM, real estate taxes and insurance. Such property operating expenses typically
include utility, insurance, security, janitorial, landscaping, food court and other administrative expenses. This significantly
reduces our exposure to increases in costs and operating expenses resulting from inflation or otherwise. For substantially
all of our leases in the U.S. mall portfolio, we receive a fixed payment from the tenant for the CAM component which is
recognized as lease income on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease beginning with the adoption of ASC 842.
When not reimbursed by the fixed CAM component, CAM expense reimbursements are based on the tenant’s proportionate
share of the allocable operating expenses and CAM capital expenditures for the property. We accrue all variable
reimbursements from tenants for recoverable portions of all of these expenses as variable lease consideration in the period
the applicable expenditures are incurred. We recognize differences between estimated recoveries and the final billed
amounts in the subsequent year. These differences were not material in any period presented. Our advertising and
promotional costs are expensed as incurred. Provisions for credit losses that are not probable of collection are recognized
as a reduction of lease income.

In April 2020, the FASB staff released guidance focused on treatment of concessions related to the effects of
COVID-19 on the application of lease modification guidance in Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 842, “Leases.”
The guidance provides a practical expedient to forgo the associated reassessments required by ASC 842 when changes
to a lease result in similar or lower future consideration. We have elected to generally account for rent abatements as
negative variable lease consideration in the period granted, or in the period we determine we expect to grant an abatement.
Further abatements granted in the future will reduce lease income in the period we grant, or determine we expect to grant,
an abatement.

In connection with rent deferrals or other accruals of unpaid rent payments, if we determine that rent payments are
probable of collection, we will continue to recognize lease income on a straight-line basis over the lease term along with
associated tenant receivables. However, if we determine that such deferred rent payments or other accrued but unpaid
rent payments are not probable of collection, lease income will be recorded on the cash basis, with the corresponding
tenant receivable and deferred rent receivable balances charged as a direct write-off against lease income in the period of
the change in our collectability determination. Additionally, our assessment of collectability, primarily under long-term
leases, incorporates information regarding a tenant’s financial condition that is obtained from available financial data, the
expected outcome of contractual disputes and other matters, and our communications and negotiations with the tenant.

When a tenant seeks to reorganize its operations through bankruptcy proceedings, we assess the collectability of
receivable balances. Our ongoing assessment incorporates, among other things, the timing of a tenant’s bankruptcy filing
and our expectations of the assumptions by the tenant in bankruptcy proceedings of leases at the Company’s properties
on substantially similar terms. Refer to Note 9 for further disclosure of lease income.

Management Fees and Other Revenues

Management fees and other revenues are generally received from our unconsolidated joint venture properties as
well as third parties. Management fee revenue is earned based on a contractual percentage of joint venture property
revenue. Development fee revenue is earned on a contractual percentage of hard costs to develop a property. Leasing fee
revenue is earned on a contractual per square foot charge based on the square footage of current year leasing activity. We
recognize revenue for these services provided when earned based on the performance criteria.

Revenues from insurance premiums charged to unconsolidated properties are recognized on a pro-rata basis over
the terms of the policies. Insurance losses on these policies and our self-insurance for our consolidated properties are
reflected in property operating expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive
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income and include estimates for losses incurred but not reported as well as losses pending settlement. Estimates for
losses are based on evaluations by third-party actuaries and management’s estimates. Total insurance reserves for our
insurance subsidiaries and other self-insurance programs as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 approximated $96.1 million
and $85.7 million, respectively, and are included in other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. Information related
to the securities included in the investment portfolio of our captive insurance subsidiary is included within the “Equity
Instruments and Debt Securities” section above.

Income Taxes

Simon and certain subsidiaries of the Operating Partnership have elected to be taxed as REITs under Sections 856
through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code and applicable Treasury regulations relating to REIT qualification. In order to
maintain this REIT status, the regulations require the entity to distribute at least 90% of REIT taxable income to its owners
and meet certain other asset and income tests as well as other requirements. We intend to continue to adhere to these
requirements and maintain Simon’s REIT status and that of the REIT subsidiaries. As REITs, these entities will generally
not be liable for U.S. federal corporate income taxes as long as they distribute not less than 100% of their REIT taxable
income. Thus, we made no provision for U.S. federal income taxes for these entities in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements. If Simon or any of the REIT subsidiaries fail to qualify as a REIT, and if available relief provisions do
not apply, Simon or that entity will be subject to tax at regular corporate rates for the years in which it failed to qualify. If
Simon or any of the REIT subsidiaries loses its REIT status it could not elect to be taxed as a REIT for four taxable years
following the year during which qualification was lost unless the failure to qualify was due to reasonable cause and certain
other conditions were satisfied.

We have also elected taxable REIT subsidiary, or TRS, status for some of our subsidiaries. This enables us to
provide services that would otherwise be considered impermissible for REITs and participate in activities that do not qualify
as “rents from real property”. For these entities, deferred tax assets and liabilities are established for temporary differences
between the financial reporting basis and the tax basis of assets and liabilities at the enacted tax rates expected to be in
effect when the temporary differences reverse. A valuation allowance for deferred tax assets is provided if we believe all
or some portion of the deferred tax asset may not be realized. An increase or decrease in the valuation allowance that
results from the change in circumstances that causes a change in our judgment about the realizability of the related deferred
tax asset is included in income.

As a partnership, the allocated share of the Operating Partnership’s income or loss for each year is included in the
income tax returns of the partners; accordingly, no accounting for income taxes is required in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements other than as discussed above for our TRSs.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, we had net deferred tax liabilities of $307.8 million and $278.3 million,
respectively, which primarily relate to the temporary differences between the carrying value of balance sheet assets and
liabilities and their tax bases. These differences were primarily created through the consolidation of various European
assets in 2016. Additionally, we have deferred tax assets related to our TRSs, consisting of operating losses and other
carryforwards for U.S. federal income tax purposes as well as the timing of the deductibility of losses or reserves from
insurance subsidiaries, though these amounts are not material to the financial statements. The deferred tax asset in
included in deferred costs and other assets and the deferred tax liability is included in other liabilities in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets.

We are also subject to certain other taxes, including state and local taxes, franchise taxes, as well as income-based
and withholding taxes on dividends from certain of our international investments, which are included in income and other
taxes in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

Our cash paid for taxes in each period was as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Cashpaidfortaxes ...................... $ 31,187 $ 53,241 $ 102,454
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Corporate Expenses

Home and regional office costs primarily include compensation and personnel related costs, travel, building and
office costs, and other expenses for our corporate home office and regional offices. General and administrative expense
primarily includes executive compensation, benefits and travel expenses as well as costs of being a public company,
including certain legal costs, audit fees, regulatory fees, and certain other professional fees.

Simon Property Group Acquisition Holdings, Inc.

The Company sponsored, through a wholly-owned subsidiary, a special purpose acquisition corporation, or SPAC,
named Simon Property Group Acquisition Holdings, Inc. On February 18, 2021, the SPAC announced the pricing of its
initial public offering, which was consummated on February 23, 2021, and generated gross proceeds of $345.0 million, was
placed in a trust account. The SPAC was a consolidated VIE which was formed for the purpose of effecting a business
combination. The Company accounted for the noncontrolling interest in the SPAC as noncontrolling redeemable interests
as these instruments were redeemable at the option of the holder and were classified as temporary equity at their
redemption value in Simon’s accompanying consolidated balance sheet in Limited partners preferred interest in the
Operating Partnership and noncontrolling redeemable interests and in the Operating Partnership’s accompanying
consolidated balance sheet in Preferred units, various series, at liquidation value, and noncontrolling redeemable interests.

In December 2022, the SPAC was liquidated and dissolved, resulting in the recognition of a $10.2 million loss
recorded in gain on disposal, exchange, or revaluation of equity interests, net in the consolidated statement of operations
and comprehensive income, representing our investment in the SPAC.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update
(ASU) 2020-04, “Reference Rate Reform,” which provides temporary optional expedients and exceptions to the US GAAP
guidance on contract modifications and hedge accounting to ease the financial reporting burdens of the expected market
transition from LIBOR and other interbank offered rates to alternative reference rates. Additional optional expedients,
exceptions, and clarifications were created in ASU 2021-01. The guidance is effective upon issuance and generally can be
applied to any contract modifications or existing and new hedging relationships through December 31, 2024. We elected
the expedients in conjunction with transitioning certain debt instruments, as discussed in note 7, to alternative benchmark
indexes. There was no impact on our consolidated financial statements at adoption.

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, “Segment Reporting,” which provides improvements to
reportable segment disclosures, primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses. The standard
will be effective for us for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023 and interim periods within fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2024. We are currently evaluating the impact that the adoption of the new standard will have on our
consolidated financial statements and footnotes.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, “Income Taxes,” which provides improvements to income tax
disclosures by enhancing the transparency and decision usefulness of the material provided. The standard will be effective
for us for the fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. We are currently evaluating the impact that the adoption of
the new standard will have on our consolidated financial statements and footnotes.

4. Real Estate Acquisitions and Dispositions

We acquire interests in properties to generate both current income and long-term appreciation in value. We acquire
interests in individual properties or portfolios of real estate companies that meet our investment criteria and sell properties
which no longer meet our strategic criteria. Unless otherwise noted below, gains and losses on these transactions are
included in gain (loss) on acquisition of controlling interest, sale or disposal of, or recovery on, assets and interests in
unconsolidated entities and impairment, net in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income. We capitalize asset acquisition costs and expense costs related to business combinations, as well
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as disposition related costs as they are incurred. We incurred a minimal amount of transaction expenses during 2023,
2022, and 2021. Refer to Note 6 for disclosure of unconsolidated joint venture acquisitions and dispositions.

Our acquisition and disposition activity for the periods presented are as follows:
2022 Acquisitions

On June 17, 2022, we acquired an additional interest in Gloucester Premium Outlets from a joint venture partner for
$14.0 million in cash consideration, including a pro-rata share of working capital, resulting in the consolidation of this
property. The property is subject to an $85.7 million 3.29% variable interest rate mortgage loan. We accounted for this
transaction as an asset acquisition and substantially all of our investment has been determined to relate to investment
property.

2022 Dispositions

On June 17,2022, we disposed of our interest in one consolidated retail property. The proceeds from this transaction
were $59.0 million, resulting in a loss of $15.6 million.

2021 Dispositions

During 2021, we recorded net gains of $176.8 million primarily related to disposition activity which included the
foreclosure of three consolidated retail properties in satisfaction of their respective $180.0 million, $120.9 million and $100.0
million non-recourse mortgage loans, and this non-cash investing and financing activity is excluded from our consolidated
statement of cash flows.

5. Per Share and Per Unit Data

We determine basic earnings per share and basic earnings per unit based on the weighted average number of
shares of common stock or units, as applicable, outstanding during the period and we consider any participating securities
for purposes of applying the two-class method. We determine diluted earnings per share and diluted earnings per unit
based on the weighted average number of shares of common stock or units, as applicable, outstanding combined with the
incremental weighted average number of shares or units, as applicable, that would have been outstanding assuming all
potentially dilutive securities were converted into shares of common stock or units, as applicable, at the earliest date
possible. The following tables set forth the components of basic and diluted earnings per share and basic and diluted
earnings per unit.

Simon

For the Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Net Income attributable to Common
Stockholders — Basic and Diluted ........ $ 2,279,789 $ 2,136,198 $ 2,246,294
Weighted Average Shares Outstanding —
Basic and Diluted . ...................... 326,807,326 327,816,695 328,587,137

For the year ended December 31, 2023, potentially dilutive securities include units that are exchangeable for
common stock and long-term incentive performance units, or LTIP units, granted under our long-term incentive
performance programs that are convertible into units and exchangeable for common stock. No securities had a material
dilutive effect for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021. We have not adjusted net income attributable to
common stockholders and weighted average shares outstanding for income allocable to limited partners or units,
respectively, as doing so would have no dilutive impact. We accrue dividends when they are declared.
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The Operating Partnership

For the Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Net Income attributable to Unitholders —
Basic and Diluted ....................... $ 2613117 $ 2,444395 $ 2,569,508
Weighted Average Units Outstanding —
Basic and Diluted ....................... 374,589,788 375,111,997 375,866,759

For the year ended December 31, 2023, potentially dilutive securities include LTIP units. No securities had a material
dilutive effect for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021. We accrue distributions when they are declared.

The taxable nature of the dividends declared and Operating Partnership distributions declared for each of the years
ended as indicated is summarized as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Total dividends/distributions paid per common share/unit. . . . $ 745 $ 6.90 $ 585
Percent taxable as ordinary income ..................... 99.70 % 98.60 % 93.10 %
Percent taxable as long-term capital gains. ... ............ 0.30 % 1.40 % 6.90 %

100.00% 100.00%  100.00%

6. Investments in Unconsolidated Entities and International Investments
Real Estate Joint Ventures and Investments

Joint ventures are common in the real estate industry. We use joint ventures to finance properties, develop new
properties and diversify our risk in a particular property or portfolio of properties. As discussed in Note 2, we held joint
venture interests in 81 properties as of December 31, 2023 and 82 properties as of December 31, 2022.

Certain of our joint venture properties are subject to various rights of first refusal, buy-sell provisions, put and call
rights, or other sale or marketing rights for partners which are customary in real estate joint venture agreements and the
industry. We and our partners in these joint ventures may initiate these provisions (subject to any applicable lock up or
similar restrictions), which may result in either the sale of our interest or the use of available cash or borrowings, or the use
of limited partnership interests in the Operating Partnership, to acquire the joint venture interest from our partner.

We may provide financing to joint ventures primarily in the form of interest bearing construction loans. As of
December 31, 2023 and 2022, we had construction loans and other advances to these related parties totaling $98.0 million
and $112.0 million, respectively, which are included in deferred costs and other assets in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets.

During the third quarter of 2023, we disposed of our interest in one unconsolidated property through foreclosure in
satisfaction of the $114.8 million non-recourse mortgage loan. We recognized no gain or loss in connection with this
disposal.

During 2022, we recorded a non-cash gain of $19.9 million related to the disposition and foreclosure of two
unconsolidated properties in satisfaction of the respective $99.6 million and $83.1 million non-recourse mortgage loans,
which is included in gain (loss) on acquisition of controlling interest, sale or disposal of, or recovery on, assets and interests
in unconsolidated entities and impairment, net in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations and
comprehensive income. This non-cash investing and financing activity is excluded from our consolidated statement of cash
flows.
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During the fourth quarter of 2021, we disposed of our interest in an unconsolidated property resulting in a gain of
$3.4 million which is included in (gain) loss on acquisition of controlling interest, sale or disposal of, or recovery on, assets
and interests in unconsolidated entities and impairment, net in the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income. Our share of the proceeds from this transaction was $3.0 million.

During the second quarter of 2021, we sold our interest in one multi-family residential investment. Our share of the
gross proceeds from this transaction was $27.1 million. The gain of $14.9 million on the sale is included in other income in
the accompanying consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income.

Taubman Realty Group

On September 7, 2023, we acquired an additional 4% ownership in TRG for approximately $199.6 million by issuing
1,725,000 units in the Operating Partnership, bringing our noncontrolling ownership interest in TRG to 84%. Substantially
all our investment has been determined to relate to investment property. Our investment includes 6.38% Series A
Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Units for $362.5 million issued to us.

The tables below represent summary financial information of TRG.

December 31, December 31,

2023 2022
Total @SSetS . . ..ot $ 3,416,630 $ 3,555,686
Total liabilities. . . ... 4,386,131 4,356,406
Noncontrolling interests. .. ........ ... .. 164,720 163,293

For the Year Ended
December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Total reVENUES . . . . o ot $ 695222 $ 693,835 $ 600,426
Operating income before otheritems...................... 281,349 254,395 197,074
Consolidated netincome. ........... ... ... .. ... ........ 42,910 164,072 97,361
Ourshareofnetincome ............ .. .. ... .. .. ......... 32,728 129,065 78,370
Amortization of excess investment. .. ..................... (113,333) (189,629) (196,072)

Other Platform Investments

As of December 31, 2023, we own a 41.67% noncontrolling interest in J.C. Penney, a department store retailer. We
also own a 33.3% noncontrolling interest in SPARC Group. During the first quarter of 2022, SPARC Group acquired certain
assets and operations of Reebok and entered into a long-term strategic partnership agreement with ABG to become the
core licensee and operating partner for Reebok in the United States.

During the third quarter of 2023, SPARC Group issued equity to a third party resulting in the dilution of our ownership
to approximately 33.3% and a deemed disposal of a proportional interest of our investment. As a result, we recognized a
non-cash pre-tax gain on the deemed disposal of $145.8 million, which is included in gain on disposal, exchange, or
revaluation of equity interests, net in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income. This non-cash
investing activity is excluded from our consolidated statement of cash flows. In connection with this transaction, we recorded
deferred taxes of $36.9 million, which is included in income and other tax expense in the consolidated statement of
operations and comprehensive income.

During the fourth quarter of 2023, we sold a portion of our interest in ABG for cash proceeds of $300.2 million,
resulting in a pre-tax gain of $157.1 million, which is included in gain on disposal, exchange, or revaluation of equity
interests, net, in the consolidated statement of operations. In connection with this transaction, we recorded tax expense of
$39.3 million which is included in income and other tax expense in the consolidated statement of operations and
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comprehensive income. Concurrently, ABG completed a capital transaction resulting in the dilution of our ownership to
approximately 9.6% and a deemed disposal of a proportional interest of our investment. As a result, we recognized a non-
cash pre-tax gain on the deemed disposal of $10.3 million, which is included in gain on disposal, exchange, or revaluation
of equity interests, net in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income. This non-cash investing
activity is excluded from our consolidated statement of cash flows. In connection with this transaction, we recorded deferred
taxes of $2.6 million, which is included in income and other tax expense in the consolidated statement of operations and
comprehensive income. The carrying amount of our investment in ABG was $733.2 million and $767.5 million at
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

During the third quarter of 2023, ABG completed a capital transaction resulting in the dilution of our ownership to
approximately 11.7% and a deemed disposal of a proportional interest of our investment. As a result, we recognized a non-
cash pre-tax gain on the deemed disposal of $12.4 million, which is included in gain on disposal, exchange, or revaluation
of equity interests, net in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income. This non-cash investing
activity is excluded from our consolidated statement of cash flows. In connection with this transaction, we recorded deferred
taxes of $3.1 million, which is included in income and other tax expense in the consolidated statement of operations and
comprehensive income.

During the second quarter of 2023, ABG completed a capital transaction resulting in a dilution of our ownership from
approximately 12.3% to approximately 11.8% and a deemed disposal of a proportional interest of our investment. As a
result, we recognized a non-cash pre-tax gain on the deemed disposal of $36.4 million, which is included in gain on disposal,
exchange, or revaluation of equity interests in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income. This
non-cash investing activity is excluded from our consolidated statement of cash flows. In connection with this transaction,
we recorded deferred taxes of $9.1 million, which is included in income and other tax expense in the consolidated statement
of operations and comprehensive income.

During the fourth quarter of 2022, we sold to ABG all of our interests in the licensing venture of Eddie Bauer for
additional interests in ABG. As a result, in the fourth quarter of 2022, we recognized a non-cash pre-tax gain of $159.0
million, which is included in gain on disposal, exchange, or revaluation of equity interests, net, representing the difference
between the fair value of the interests received determined using Level 3 inputs and the $98.8 million carrying value of the
intellectual property licensing venture less costs to sell. This non-cash investing and financing activity is excluded from our
consolidated statement of cash flows. In connection with this transaction, we recorded deferred taxes of $39.7 million.

On July 1, 2021, we sold to ABG all of our interests in both the Forever 21 and Brooks Brothers licensing ventures
for additional interests in ABG. As a result, in the third quarter of 2021, we recognized a non-cash pre-tax gain of $159.8
million, which is included in gain on disposal, exchange, or revaluation of equity interests, net, representing the difference
between the fair value of the interests received determined using Level 3 inputs and the carrying value of $102.7 million of
the intellectual property licensing ventures less costs to sell. This non-cash investing and financing activity is excluded from
our consolidated statement of cash flows. In connection with this transaction, we recorded deferred taxes of $47.9 million.

On December 20, 2021, we sold a portion of our interest in ABG, resulting in a pre-tax gain of $18.8 million, which
is included in gain on disposal, exchange, or revaluation of equity interests, net, in the consolidated statement of operations.
In connection with this transaction, we recorded tax expense of $8.0 million which is included in income and other tax
expense in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income. Subsequently, we acquired additional
interests in ABG for cash consideration of $100.0 million.

As of December 31, 2023, we own a 45% noncontrolling interest in Rue Gilt Groupe.

On December 19, 2022, we completed the acquisition of a 50% noncontrolling legal ownership interest in
Jamestown, a global real estate investment and asset management company, as well as separate interests in certain real
estate and working capital, for total cash consideration of $173.4 million. In connection with this transaction our excess
investment was primarily assigned to intangible assets and goodwill.
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The tables below represents combined summary financial information, after intercompany eliminations, of our other
platform investments.

December 31, December 31,
2023 2022
Total @SSetS . . ..o ot $ 14,921,120 $ 12,897,980
Total liabilities. . . . ... ... 11,406,440 10,521,772
Noncontrollinginterests. . ......... ... . . i 501,224 362,652

For the Year Ended
December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Totalrevenues . . ...t $ 13,865,845 $ 14,895,379 $ 14,454,661
Operating income before otheritems................. 683,723 972,360 1,550,358
Consolidated netincome. .......................... 239,491 738,255 1,400,632
Our share of netincome (loss) ...................... 40,002 238,412 402,658
Amortization of excess investment................... (6,740) (6,659) (7,546)

International Investments

We conduct our international operations primarily through joint venture arrangements and account for the majority
of these international joint venture investments using the equity method of accounting.

European Investments

At December 31, 2023, we owned 63,924,148 shares, or approximately 22.4%, of Klépierre, which had a quoted
market price of $27.24 per share. The tables below represent summary financial information with respect to our investment
in Klépierre. This information is based on applicable Euro:USD exchange rates and after our conversion of Klépierre’'s
results to GAAP.

December 31, December 31,
2023 2022
Totalassets . ... $ 16,114,513 $ 16,016,137
Total liabilities. . . ....... ... 10,282,111 10,074,502
Noncontrolling interests. ... ........ ... ... ... ... ... 1,255,479 1,226,734
For the Year Ended
December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Total FEVENUES. . . o ot e e e e $ 1,359,246 $ 1,308,409 $ 1,240,277
Operating income before otheritems. ... .............. 618,260 590,829 380,470
Consolidated netincome .............. ... .......... 347,311 581,075 848,104
Ourshareofnetincome............................ 64,805 116,084 164,575
Amortization of excess investment. . .................. (17,658) (13,937) (19,444)

During the year ended December 31, 2023 we recorded a net loss of $11.2 million related to Klépierre’s disposition
of certain assets. During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, we recorded net gains of $1.3 million and $1.2
million, respectively, related to Klépierre’s disposition of certain assets. These transactions are included in (loss) gain on
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acquisition of controlling interest, sale or disposal of, or recovery on, assets and interests in unconsolidated entities and
impairment, net in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, Klépierre elected to step-up the tax basis of certain assets in Italy, which
triggered a one-time payment at a significantly reduced tax rate. As a result of the step-up in tax basis, a previously
established deferred tax liability was reversed resulting in a non-cash gain, of which our share was $118.4 million.

We have an interest in a European investee that had interests in 12 Designer Outlet properties as of December 31,
2023, 11 Designer Outlet properties as of December 31, 2022, and 11 Designer Outlet properties as of December 31,
2021. Eight of these Designer Outlets are consolidated by us as of December 31, 2023. As of December 31, 2023, our
legal percentage ownership interests in these properties ranged from 23% to 94%. Due to certain redemption rights held
by our venture partner, which will require us to purchase their interests under certain circumstances, the noncontrolling
interest is presented (i) in the accompanying Simon consolidated balance sheets outside of equity in limited partners’
preferred interest in the Operating Partnership and noncontrolling redeemable interests in properties and (ii) in the
accompanying Operating Partnership consolidated balance sheets within preferred units, various series, at liquidation
value, and noncontrolling redeemable interests in properties.

On January 1, 2021 our European investee gained control of Ochtrup Designer Outlets as a result of the expiration
of certain participating rights held by a venture partner. This resulted in the consolidation of the property and related
mortgage of $47.1 million, requiring a remeasurement of our previously held equity interest, which had a carrying value of
$48.7 million, to fair value and the recognition of a non-cash gain of $3.7 million in earnings during the first quarter of 2021,
which includes amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) related to the currency
translation adjustment previously recorded on our investment. The non-cash gain is included in (loss) gain on acquisition
of controlling interest, sale or disposal of, or recovery on, assets and interests in unconsolidated entities and impairment,
net in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, and this non-cash investing
and financing activity is excluded from our consolidated statement of cash flows. The determination of the fair value
consisted of Level 2 and 3 inputs and was predominately allocated to investment property.

In addition, we have a 50.0% noncontrolling interest in a European property management and development
company that provides services to the Designer Outlet properties.

We also have minority interests in Value Retail PLC and affiliated entities, which own or have interests in and operate
nine luxury outlets located throughout Europe and we also have a direct minority ownership in three of those outlets. At
December 31, 2023 and 2022, the carrying value of these equity instruments without readily determinable fair values was
$140.8 million and is included in deferred costs and other assets.

Asian Joint Ventures

We conduct our international Premium Outlet operations in Japan through a joint venture with Mitsubishi
Estate Co., Ltd. We have a 40% noncontrolling ownership interest in this joint venture. The carrying amount of our
investment in this joint venture was $231.2 million and $206.3 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively,
including all related components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). We conduct our international
Premium Outlet operations in South Korea through a joint venture with Shinsegae International Co. We have a 50%
noncontrolling ownership interest in this joint venture. The carrying amount of our investment in this joint venture was
$200.6 million and $199.5 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, including all related components of
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

Summary Financial Information

The following tables present a summary of the combined balance sheets and statements of operations of our equity
method investments and share of income from such investments, excluding our investments in Klépierre and TRG, as well
as our other platform investments.
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COMBINED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

December 31,

2023 2022
Assets:
Investment properties, atcost. .......... ... .. ... $ 19,315,578 $ 19,256,108
Less - accumulated depreciation .. ...... ... ... . 8,874,745 8,490,990
10,440,833 10,765,118

Cashandcashequivalents. .......... ... ... ... . . . . . .. 1,372,377 1,445,353
Tenant receivables and accrued revenue, net. . ........... ... ... ........ 505,933 546,025
Right-of-use assets, net. . . ... ... . . 126,539 143,526
Deferred costs and otherassets. .. ....... ... ... .. . . .. 537,943 482,375

Total @ssets. . . ... $ 12,983,625 $ 13,382,397
Liabilities and Partners’ Deficit:
MO gagES . . ottt $ 14,282,839 $ 14,569,921
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, intangibles, and deferred revenue . . . .. 1,032,217 961,984
Lease liabilities. . . . ... .. 116,535 133,096
Otherliabilities . . .. ... ... 368,582 446,064

Total liabilities. . . ....... ... ... .. .. . 15,800,173 16,111,065
Preferred units . . . ... ... 67,450 67,450
Partners’ deficit .. ..... ... (2,883,998) (2,796,118)

Total liabilities and partners’ deficit . .. ........................... $ 12,983,625 $ 13,382,397

Our Share of:

Partners’ deficit . ........ .. . .
Add: Excess Investment . . ... .. .
Our net (deficit) Investment in unconsolidated entities, atequity .. ...........

$ (1,258,809)
1,173,852

$ (1,232,086)
1,219,117

$  (84,957)

$  (12,969)

“Excess Investment” represents the unamortized difference of our investment over our share of the equity in the

underlying net assets of the joint ventures or other investments acquired and has been determined to relate to the fair value
of the investment properties, intangible assets, including goodwill, and debt premiums and discounts. We amortize excess
investment over the life of the related depreciable components of assets acquired, typically no greater than 40 years, the
terms of the applicable leases, the estimated useful lives of the finite lived intangibles, and the applicable debt maturity,
respectively. The amortization is included in the reported amount of income from unconsolidated entities.
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As of December 31, 2023, scheduled principal repayments on these joint venture properties’ mortgage
indebtedness, assuming the obligations remain outstanding through the initial maturities, are as follows:

2024 . $ 2,069,780
2025, 2,437,450
2026, . 2,832,212

2027 . 2,288,445
2028, 2,170,056
Thereafter . . ... .. 2,516,281

Total principal maturities . ......... ... ... .. .. ... 14,314,224
Debtissuance costs .. ... ... (31,385)
Total MOrgages ... ... $ 14,282,839

This debt becomes due in installments over various terms extending through 2035 with interest rates ranging from
0.21% to 15.25% and a weighted average interest rate of 4.61% at December 31, 2023.
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COMBINED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

December 31,

2023 2022 2021
REVENUE:
Lease inCoOME. . ...t e $ 2,984,455 $ 2,894611 $ 2,797,221
Otherincome . .. ...t 464,058 341,923 319,956
Totalrevenue .............. . ... 3,448,513 3,236,534 3,117,177
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Property operating. . . ... ... 638,638 605,018 575,584
Depreciation and amortization .............................. 656,089 666,762 686,790
Real estate taxes. . ... 237,809 246,707 263,325
Repairsand maintenance .. ........... ... ... . ... . .. . ... 77,093 81,522 79,300
Advertising and promotion. .. ... L 83,279 74,776 72,441
Other. . o 236,955 205,405 200,899
Total operatingexpenses . .. .......................... 1,929,863 1,880,190 1,878,339

Operating Income Before Otherltems ... ................... 1,518,650 1,356,344 1,238,838
Interest expense . ..... ... ... (685,193) (599,245) (605,591)
Gain on sale or disposal of, or recovery on, assets and interests

in unconsolidated entities, net . .. ......... ... ... ... ... .. ... 20,529 50,336 34,814
Netlncome ......... . ... . . i i $ 853986 $ 807435 $ 668,061
Third-Party Investors’ Share of NetIncome ............. .. .. $ 436,408 $ 423816 $ 333,304
Our Shareof Netlncome ............. ... ... . ... ... ..., $ 417578 $ 383,619 $ 334,757
Amortization of Excess Investment ... ............. ... .. ... (59,707) (60,109) (64,974)
Our Share of Gain on Sale or Disposal of Assets and

Interests in Other Income in the Consolidated Financial

Statements. . ... ... ... ... — — (14,941)
Our Share of Gain on Sale or Disposal of, or Recovery on,

Assets and Interests in Unconsolidated Entities, net. . . . . . .. (454) (2,532) (541)
Income from Unconsolidated Entities . ... .................. $ 357417 $ 320,978 $ 254,301

Our share of income from unconsolidated entities in the above table, aggregated with our share of results from our
investments in Klépierre and TRG, as well as our other platform investments, is presented in income from unconsolidated
entities in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income. Unless otherwise noted,
our share of the gain on sale or disposal of, or recovery on, assets and interests in unconsolidated entities, net is reflected
within gain (loss) on acquisition of controlling interest, sale or disposal of, or recovery on, assets and interests in
unconsolidated entities and impairment, net in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income.
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7. Indebtedness

Our mortgages and unsecured indebtedness, excluding the impact of derivative instruments, consist of the following
as of December 31:

2023 2022

Fixed-Rate Debt:
Mortgage notes, including $1,977 and $2,436 of net premiums and $10,408 and

$11,194 of debt issuance costs, respectively. Weighted average interest and

maturity of 3.83% and 3.1 years at December 31,2023.. .. ................ $ 4,832,884 $ 4,580,799
Unsecured notes and Credit Facilities (see below), including $74,968 and

$32,421 of net discounts and $125,557 and $76,058 of debt issuance costs,

respectively. .. ... . 20,811,917 18,029,459

Total Fixed-Rate Debt ... ...... ... ... .. ... ... ... .. .. L 25,644,801 22,610,258

Variable-Rate Debt:
Mortgage notes, including $4,477 and $5,336 of debt issuance costs,
respectively. Weighted average interest and maturity of 5.91% and 1.5 years

at December 31, 2023, ... ... . 328,027 874,442
Unsecured Notes, including $0 and $15,622 of debt issuance costs, respectively. — 1,412,141
Total Variable-Rate Debt. . . .. ... ... .. . . 328,027 2,286,583
Other Debt Obligations. .. .......... .. ... ... ... ... .. ... ... .. 60,595 63,445
Total Mortgages and Unsecured Indebtedness . ........................ $ 26,033,423 $ 24,960,286

General. Our unsecured debt agreements contain financial covenants and other non-financial covenants. If we
were to fail to comply with these covenants, after the expiration of the applicable cure periods, the debt maturity could be
accelerated or other remedies could be sought by the lender, including adjustments to the applicable interest rate. As of
December 31, 2023, we were in compliance with all covenants of our unsecured debt.

At December 31, 2023, our consolidated subsidiaries were the borrowers under 35 non-recourse mortgage notes
secured by mortgages on 38 properties and other assets, including two separate pools of cross-defaulted and
cross-collateralized mortgages encumbering a total of five properties. Under these cross-default provisions, a default under
any mortgage included in the cross-defaulted pool may constitute a default under all mortgages within that pool and may
lead to acceleration of the indebtedness due on each property within the pool. Certain of our secured debt instruments
contain financial and other non-financial covenants which are specific to the properties that serve as collateral for that debt.
If the applicable borrower under these non-recourse mortgage notes were to fail to comply with these covenants, the lender
could accelerate the debt and enforce its rights against their collateral. At December 31, 2023, the applicable borrowers
under these non-recourse mortgage notes were in compliance with all covenants where non-compliance could individually
or in the aggregate, giving effect to applicable cross-default provisions, have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition, liquidity or results of operations.

Unsecured Debt

At December 31, 2023, our unsecured debt consisted of $20.7 billion of senior unsecured notes of the Operating
Partnership, $305.0 million outstanding under the Operating Partnership’s $5.0 billion unsecured revolving credit facility, or
Credit Facility.

The Credit Facility can be increased in the form of additional commitments in an aggregate not to exceed $1.0
billion, for a total aggregate size of $6.0 billion, subject to obtaining additional lender commitments and satisfying certain
customary conditions precedent. Borrowings may be denominated in U.S. dollars, Euro, Yen, Pounds, Sterling, Canadian
dollars and Australian dollars. Borrowings in currencies other than the U.S. dollar are limited to 97% of the maximum
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revolving credit amount, as defined. The initial maturity date of the Credit Facility is June 30, 2027. The Credit Facility can
be extended for two additional six-month periods to June 30, 2028, at our sole option, subject to satisfying certain customary
conditions precedent.

Borrowings under the Credit Facility bear interest, at our election, at either (i) (x) for Term Benchmark Loans, the
Adjusted Term SOFR Rate, the applicable Local Rate, the Adjusted EURIBOR Rate, or the Adjusted TIBOR Rate, (y) for
RFR Loans, if denominated in Sterling, SONIA plus a benchmark adjustment and if denominated in Dollars, Daily Simple
SOFR plus a benchmark adjustment, or (z) for Daily SOFR Loans, the Adjusted Floating Overnight Daily SOFR Rate, in
each case of clauses (x) through (z) above, plus a margin determined by our corporate credit rating of between 0.650%
and 1.400% or (ii) for loans denominated in U.S. Dollars only, the base rate (which rate is equal to the greatest of the prime
rate, the federal funds effective rate plus 0.500% or Adjusted Term SOFR Rate for one month plus 1.000%) (the “Base
Rate”), plus a margin determined by our corporate credit rating of between 0.000% and 0.400%. The Credit Facility includes
a facility fee determined by our corporate credit rating of between 0.100% and 0.300% on the aggregate revolving
commitments under the Credit Facility. Based upon our current credit ratings, the interest rate on the Credit Facility is
SOFR plus 72.5 basis points, plus a spread adjustment to account for the transition from LIBOR to SOFR.

The Operating Partnership’s $3.5 billion unsecured revolving credit facility, or Supplemental Facility, and together
with the Credit Facility, the Credit Facilities, has a borrowing capacity of $3.5 to $4.5 billion during its term and provides for
borrowings denominated in U.S. dollars, Euro, Yen, Pounds, Sterling, Canadian dollars and Australian dollars. Borrowings
in currencies other than the U.S. dollar are limited to 100% of the maximum revolving credit amount, as defined. The initial
maturity date of the Supplemental Facility is January 31, 2026 and can be extended for an additional year to January 31,
2027 at our sole option, subject to satisfying certain customary conditions precedent.

Borrowings under the Supplemental Facility bear interest, at our election, at either (i) (x) for Term Benchmark Loans,
the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate, the applicable Local Rate, the Adjusted EURIBOR Rate, or the Adjusted TIBOR Rate,
(y) for RFR Loans, if denominated in Sterling, SONIA plus a benchmark adjustment and if denominated in Dollars, Daily
Simple SOFR plus a benchmark adjustment, or (z) for Daily SOFR Loans, the Adjusted Floating Overnight Daily SOFR
Rate, in each case of clauses (x) through (z) above, plus a margin determined by our corporate credit rating of between
0.650% and 1.400% or (ii) for loans denominated in U.S. Dollars only, the base rate (which rate is equal to the greatest of
the prime rate, the federal funds effective rate plus 0.500% or Adjusted Term SOFR Rate for one month plus 1.000%) (the
“Base Rate”), plus a margin determined by our corporate credit rating of between 0.000% and 0.400%. The Supplemental
Facility includes a facility fee determined by our corporate credit rating of between 0.100% and 0.300% on the aggregate
revolving commitments under the Supplemental Facility. Based upon our current credit ratings, the interest rate on the
Supplemental Facility is SOFR plus 72.5 basis points, plus a spread adjustment to account for the transition from LIBOR
to SOFR.

On December 31, 2023 we had an aggregate available borrowing capacity of $8.1 billion under the Credit Facilities.
The maximum aggregate outstanding balance under the Facilities during the year ended December 31, 2023 was $1.1
billion and the weighted average outstanding balance was $962.6 million. Letters of credit of $58.6 million were outstanding
under the Facilities as of December 31, 2023.

The Operating Partnership also has available a Commercial Paper program of $2.0 billion, or the non-U.S. dollar
equivalent thereof. The Operating Partnership may issue unsecured commercial paper notes, denominated in U.S. dollars,
Euro and other currencies. Notes issued in non-U.S. currencies may be issued by one or more subsidiaries of the Operating
Partnership and are guaranteed by the Operating Partnership. Notes will be sold under customary terms in the U.S. and
Euro commercial paper note markets and rank (either by themselves or as a result of the guarantee described above) pari
passu with the Operating Partnership's other unsecured senior indebtedness. The Commercial Paper program is supported
by the Credit Facilities, and if necessary or appropriate, we may make one or more draws under either of the Credit Facilities
to pay amounts outstanding from time to time on the Commercial Paper program. On December 31, 2023, we had no
outstanding balance under the Commercial Paper program. Borrowings under the Commercial Paper program reduce
amounts otherwise available under the Credit Facilities.

On January 11, 2022, the Operating Partnership completed the issuance of the following senior unsecured notes:
$500 million with a floating interest rate of SOFR plus 43 basis points, and $700 million with a fixed interest rate of 2.650%,
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with maturity dates of January 11, 2024 and February 1, 2032, respectively. The proceeds were used to repay $1.05 billion
outstanding under the Supplemental Facility on January 12, 2022.

On November 16, 2022, the Operating Partnership drew €750.0 million ($779.0 million U.S. dollar equivalent) under
the Supplemental Facility and used the proceeds on November 17, 2022 to repay €750.0 million ($777.1 million U.S. dollar
equivalent) of senior unsecured notes at maturity.

On January 10, 2023, the Operating Partnership completed interest rate swap agreements with a combined notional
value at €750.0 million to swap the interest rate of the Euro denominated borrowings outstanding under the Supplemental
Facility to an all-in fixed rate of 3.81%. These interest rate swaps were terminated in connection with the repayment of
these borrowings on November 14, 2023.

On March 8, 2023, the Operating Partnership completed the issuance of the following senior unsecured notes:
$650 million with a fixed interest rate 5.50%, and $650 million with a fixed interest rate of 5.85%, with maturity dates of
March 8, 2033 and March 8, 2053, respectively. The Operating Partnership used a portion of the net proceeds of the
offering to fund the optional redemption of its $500 million floating rate notes due January 2024 on March 13, 2023.

On April 28, 2023 the Operating Partnership completed a borrowing of $180.0 million under the Credit Facility and
subsequently unencumbered two properties.

On June 1, 2023, the Operating Partnership completed the redemption, at par, of its $600 million 2.75% notes at
maturity.

On November 9, 2023, the Operating Partnership completed the issuance of the following senior unsecured notes:
$500 million with a fixed interest rate of 6.25% and $500 million with a fixed interest rate of 6.65%, with maturity dates of
January 15, 2034 and January 15, 2054, respectively. The proceeds were used to redeem, at par, its $600 million 3.75%
notes at maturity on February 1, 2024.

On November 14, 2023, the Operating Partnership completed the issuance of €750.0 million senior unsecured
bonds ($808.0 million U.S. dollar equivalent) with a maturity date of November 14, 2026 and a fixed interest rate of 3.50%.
The bonds are exchangeable into shares of Klépierre at the option of the holder of the bond at an initial common price of
€27.2092. We may elect to settle the exchange with cash instead of shares. The proceeds were used to repay €750.0
million ($815.4 million U.S. dollar equivalent) outstanding under the Supplemental Facility on November 17, 2023. The
exchangeable option within the bonds has been determined to meet the criteria for bifurcation as previously discussed in
Note 3.

Mortgage Debt
Total mortgage indebtedness was $5.2 billion and $5.5 billion at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
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Debt Maturity and Other

Our scheduled principal repayments on indebtedness as of December 31, 2023, assuming the obligations remain
outstanding through the initial maturities, are as follows:

2024 . $ 2,946,165
202D 2,639,816
2026 . 4,759,916
2027 o 2,466,364
2028 . 1,153,921
Thereafter. . ... .. 12,220,079
Total principal maturities .. ... ... . . . 26,186,261
Net unamortized debt premium . .. ... ... .. . . 13,635
Net unamortized debt discount .. ........ ... ... (86,626)
Debtissuance costs, net . ... (140,442)
Other Debt Obligations ... ...... .. .. . 60,595
Total mortgages and unsecured indebtedness ................. ... ... ... ... $ 26,033,423

Our cash paid for interest in each period, net of any amounts capitalized, was as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Cash paid forinterest. .. ........................ $ 856,110 $ 763,203 $ 822,182

Debt Issuance Costs

Our debt issuance costs consist primarily of financing fees we incurred in order to obtain long-term financing. We
record amortization of debt issuance costs on a straight-line basis over the terms of the respective loans or agreements.
Details of those debt issuance costs as of December 31 are as follows:

2023 2022
Debt iSSUANCE COSES . . . . oottt e e e $ 253,178 $ 210,893
Accumulated amortization . . ... .. (112,736) (102,683)
Debt issuance costs, Net . ... . ..ot $ 140,442 $ 108,210

We report amortization of debt issuance costs, amortization of premiums, and accretion of discounts as part of
interest expense. We amortize debt premiums and discounts, which are included in mortgages and unsecured
indebtedness, over the remaining terms of the related debt instruments. These debt premiums or discounts arise either at
the time of the debt issuance or as part of purchase accounting for the fair value of debt assumed in acquisitions. The
accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income include amortization as follows:

2023 2022 2021
Amortization of debt issuancecosts ............... $28,660 $ 26,113 $ 24,794
Amortization of debt discounts/(premiums).......... 433 7 168

Fair Value of Debt

The carrying value of our variable-rate mortgages and other loans approximates their fair values. We estimate the
fair values of consolidated fixed-rate mortgages using cash flows discounted at current borrowing rates and other
indebtedness using cash flows discounted at current market rates. We estimate the fair values of consolidated fixed-rate
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unsecured notes using quoted market prices, or, if no quoted market prices are available, we use quoted market prices for
securities with similar terms and maturities. The book value of our consolidated fixed-rate mortgages and unsecured
indebtedness including commercial paper was $25.6 billion and $22.6 billion as of December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively. The fair values of these financial instruments and the related discount rate assumptions as of December 31
are summarized as follows:

2023 2022
Fair value of consolidated fixed rate mortgages and
unsecured indebtedness (in millions) .. .................. $ 24,248 $ 20,020
Weighted average discount rates assumed in calculation of
fair value for fixed rate mortgages . ..................... 6.10 % 6.10 %
Weighted average discount rates assumed in calculation of
fair value for unsecured indebtedness .. ................. 6.10 % 5.87 %

8. Equity

Simon’s Board of Directors is authorized to reclassify excess common stock into one or more additional classes and
series of capital stock, to establish the number of shares in each class or series and to fix the preferences, conversion and
other rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to dividends, and qualifications and terms and conditions of
redemption of such class or series, without any further vote or action by the stockholders. The issuance of additional classes
or series of capital stock may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of us without further
action of the stockholders. The ability to issue additional classes or series of capital stock, while providing flexibility in
connection with possible acquisitions and other corporate purposes, could have the effect of making it more difficult for a
third party to acquire, or of discouraging a third party from acquiring, a majority of Simon’s outstanding voting stock.

Holders of common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held of record on all matters submitted to a vote of
stockholders, other than for the election of directors. The holders of Simon’s Class B common stock have the right to elect
up to four members of Simon’s Board of Directors. All 8,000 outstanding shares of the Class B common stock are subject
to two voting trusts as to which Herbert Simon and David Simon are the trustees. Shares of Class B common stock convert
automatically into an equal number of shares of common stock upon the occurrence of certain events and can be converted
into shares of common stock at the option of the holders.

Common Stock and Unit Issuances and Repurchases

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Operating Partnership redeemed 114,241 units from eleven limited
partners for $13.5 million. In 2022, Simon issued 2,680 shares of common stock to two limited partners of the Operating
Partnership in exchange for an equal number of units pursuant to the partnership agreement of the Operating Partnership.
During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Operating Partnership redeemed 14,740 units from three limited partners
for $1.9 million. These transactions increased Simon’s ownership interest in the Operating Partnership.

On September 7, 2023, the Operating Partnership issued 1,725,000 units in connection with the acquisition of an
additional 4% ownership interest in TRG, as discussed in Note 6.

On May 9, 2022, Simon’s Board of Directors authorized a common stock repurchase plan commencing on May 16,
2022, or the Repurchase Program. Under the program, the Company may purchase up to $2.0 billion of its common stock
during the two-year period ending May 16, 2024 in open market or privately negotiated transactions, at prices that the
Company deems appropriate and subject to market conditions, applicable law, and other factors deemed relevant in the
Company’s sole discretion. On February 8, 2024, Simon’s Board of Directors authorized a new common stock repurchase
program which replaces the existing Repurchase Program immediately, where the Company may purchase up to $2.0
billion of its common stock over the next 24 months. During the year ended December 31, 2023, Simon purchased
1,273,733 shares at an average price of $110.38 per share. During the year ended December 31, 2022, Simon purchased
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1,830,022 shares at an average price of $98.57 per share. As Simon repurchases shares under this program, the Operating
Partnership repurchases an equal number of units from Simon.

Temporary Equity
Simon

Simon classifies as temporary equity those securities for which there is the possibility that Simon could be required
to redeem the security for cash irrespective of the probability of such a possibility. As a result, Simon classifies one series
of preferred units in the Operating Partnership and noncontrolling redeemable interests in properties in temporary equity.
Each of these securities is discussed further below.

Limited Partners’ Preferred Interest in the Operating Partnership and Noncontrolling Redeemable Interests
in Properties. The redemption features of the preferred units in the Operating Partnership contain provisions which could
require the Operating Partnership to settle the redemption in cash. As a result, this series of preferred units in the Operating
Partnership remains classified outside permanent equity.

The remaining noncontrolling interests in a property or portfolio of properties which are redeemable at the option of
the holder or in circumstances that may be outside Simon’s control, are accounted for as temporary equity. The carrying
amount of the noncontrolling interest is adjusted to the redemption amount assuming the instrument is redeemable at the
balance sheet date. Changes in the redemption value of the underlying noncontrolling interest are recorded and presented
within accumulated deficit in the consolidated statements of equity in the line issuance of unit equivalents and other. There
were no noncontrolling interests redeemable at amounts in excess of fair value as of December 31, 2023 and 2022. The
following table summarizes the preferred units in the Operating Partnership and the amount of the noncontrolling
redeemable interests in properties as of December 31.

2023 2022
7.50% Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Units, 260,000 units authorized, 230,373
issued and outstanding. . .. ... $ 23,037 $ 25537
Other noncontrolling redeemable interests ......... ... ... ... ... ... ... .. ... .. 172,912 186,702
Limited partners’ preferred interest in the Operating Partnership and noncontrolling
redeemable interests in properties ......... ... . $ 195949 $ 212,239

7.50% Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Units. This series of preferred units accrues cumulative quarterly
distributions at a rate of $7.50 annually. The preferred units are redeemable by the Operating Partnership upon the death
of the survivor of the original holders, or the transfer of any preferred units to any person or entity other than the persons
or entities entitled to the benefits of the original holder. The redemption price is the liquidation value ($100.00 per preferred
unit) plus accrued and unpaid distributions, payable either in cash or fully registered shares of common stock at our election.
In the event of the death of a holder of the preferred units, the occurrence of certain tax triggering events applicable to the
holder, or on or after November 10, 2006, the holder may require the Operating Partnership to redeem the preferred units
at the same redemption price payable at the option of the Operating Partnership in either cash or shares of common stock.
During 2023, the Operating Partnership redeemed 25,000 preferred units for $2.5 million. As of December 31, 2023 and
2022, these preferred units have a carrying value of $23.0 million and $25.5 million, respectively, and are included in limited
partners’ preferred interest in the Operating Partnership in the consolidated balance sheets.

The Operating Partnership

The Operating Partnership classifies as temporary equity those securities for which there is the possibility that the
Operating Partnership could be required to redeem the security for cash, irrespective of the probability of such a possibility.
As a result, the Operating Partnership classifies one series of preferred units and noncontrolling redeemable interests in
properties in temporary equity. Each of these securities is discussed further below.
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Noncontrolling Redeemable Interests in Properties Redeemable instruments, which typically represent the
remaining noncontrolling interests in a property or portfolio of properties, and which are redeemable at the option of the
holder or in circumstances that may be outside our control, are accounted for as temporary equity. The carrying amount
of the noncontrolling interest is adjusted to the redemption amount assuming the instrument is redeemable at the balance
sheet date. Changes in the redemption value of the underlying noncontrolling interest are recorded within equity and are
presented in the consolidated statements of equity in the line issuance of unit equivalents and other. There are no
noncontrolling interests redeemable at amounts in excess of fair value as of December 31, 2023 and 2022. The following
table summarizes the preferred units and the amount of the noncontrolling redeemable interests in properties as of
December 31.

2023 2022
7.50% Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Units, 260,000 units authorized,

230,373 issued and outstanding ... ......... .. $ 23,037 $ 25537
Other noncontrolling redeemableinterests ............ ... ... ... ... .. ... ..... 172,912 186,702
Total preferred units, at liquidation value, and noncontrolling redeemable interests

N PrOPEItIES . . ot $ 195,949 $ 212,239

7.50% Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Units The 7.50% preferred units accrue cumulative quarterly
distributions at a rate of $7.50 annually. We may redeem the preferred units upon the death of the survivor of the original
holders, or the transfer of any preferred units to any person or entity other than the persons or entities entitled to the benefits
of the original holder. The redemption price is the liquidation value ($100.00 per preferred unit) plus accrued and unpaid
distributions, payable either in cash or fully registered shares of common stock of Simon at our election. In the event of
the death of a holder of the 7.5% preferred units, the occurrence of certain tax triggering events applicable to the holder,
or on or after November 10, 2006, the holder may require the Operating Partnership to redeem the preferred units at the
same redemption price payable at the Operating Partnership’s option in either cash or fully registered shares of common
stock of Simon. During 2023, the Operating Partnership redeemed 25,000 preferred units for $2.5 million. As of
December 31, 2023 and 2022, these preferred units have a carrying value of $23.0 million and $25.5 million, respectively,
and are included in limited partners’ preferred interest in the Operating Partnership in the consolidated balance sheets.

Permanent Equity
Simon

Preferred Stock. Dividends on all series of preferred stock are calculated based upon the preferred stock’s
preferred return multiplied by the preferred stock’s corresponding liquidation value. The Operating Partnership pays
preferred distributions to Simon equal to the dividends Simon pays on the preferred stock issued.

Series J 8%/s% Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock. Dividends accrue quarterly at an annual rate of 8%s%
per share. Simon can redeem this series, in whole or in part, on or after October 15, 2027 at a redemption price of $50.00
per share, plus accumulated and unpaid dividends. This preferred stock was issued at a premium of $7.5 million. The
unamortized premium included in the carrying value of the preferred stock at December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $1.3 million
and $1.6 million, respectively.

The Operating Partnership

Series J 8%/3% Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Units.  Distributions accrue quarterly at an annual rate of
8%/s% per unit on the Series J 8%5% preferred units, or Series J preferred units. Simon owns all of the Series J preferred
units which have the same economic rights and preferences of an outstanding series of Simon preferred stock. The
Operating Partnership can redeem this series, in whole or in part, when Simon can redeem the related preferred stock, on
and after October 15, 2027 at a redemption price of $50.00 per unit, plus accumulated and unpaid distributions. The Series
J preferred units were issued at a premium of $7.5 million. The unamortized premium included in the carrying value of the
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preferred units at December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $1.3 million and $1.6 million, respectively. There are 1,000,000 Series
J preferred units authorized and 796,948 Series J preferred units issued and outstanding.

Other Equity Activity

The Simon Property Group, L.P. 2019 Stock Incentive Plan. This plan, or the 2019 Plan, provides for the grant
of equity-based awards with respect to the equity of Simon in the form of incentive and nonqualified stock options to
purchase shares, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock grants and performance-based awards. Options may be
granted which are qualified as “incentive stock options” within the meaning of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code
and options which are not so qualified. An aggregate of 8,000,000 shares of common stock have been reserved under the
2019 plan.

The 2019 Plan is administered by the Compensation and Human Capital Committee. The Compensation and
Human Capital Committee determines which eligible individuals may participate and the type, extent and terms of the
awards to be granted to them. In addition, the Compensation and Human Capital Committee interprets the 2019 Plan and
makes all other determinations deemed advisable for its administration. Options granted to employees become exercisable
over the period determined by the Compensation and Human Capital Committee. The exercise price of an employee
option may not be less than the fair market value of the shares on the date of grant. Employee options generally vest over
a three-year period and expire ten years from the date of grant.

Directors who are not also our employees or employees of our affiliates are eligible to receive awards under the
2019 plan. Each independent director receives an annual cash retainer of $110,000, and an annual restricted stock award
with a grant date value of $175,000. Committee chairs receive annual retainers for the Company’s Audit, Compensation
and Human Capital, and Governance and Nominating Committee of $35,000, $35,000 and $25,000, respectively. Directors
receive fixed annual retainers for service on the Audit, Compensation and Human Capital, and Governance and Nominating
Committees, of $15,000, $15,000, and $10,000, respectively. The Lead Director receives an annual retainer of $50,000.
These retainers are paid 50% in cash and 50% in restricted stock.

Restricted stock awards vest in full after one year. Once vested, the delivery of the shares of restricted stock
(including reinvested dividends) is deferred under our Director Deferred Compensation Plan until the director retires, dies
or becomes disabled or otherwise no longer serves as a director. The directors may vote and are entitled to receive
dividends on the underlying shares; however, any dividends on the shares of restricted stock must be reinvested in shares
of common stock and held in the Director Deferred Compensation Plan until the shares of restricted stock are delivered to
the former director.

Stock Based Compensation

Our long-term incentive compensation awards under our stock-based compensation plans primarily take the form
of LTIP units, restricted stock units, and restricted stock. The substantial majority of these awards are market condition or
performance-based, and are based on various market, corporate and business unit performance measures as further
described below. The expense related to these programs, net of amounts capitalized, is included within home and regional
office costs and general and administrative costs in the accompanying statements of operations and comprehensive
income. LTIP units are a form of limited partnership interest issued by the Operating Partnership, which are subject to the
participant maintaining employment with us through certain dates and other conditions as described in the applicable award
agreements. Awarded LTIP units not earned in accordance with the conditions set forth in the applicable award agreements
are forfeited. Earned and fully vested LTIP units are equivalent to units of the Operating Partnership. Participants are
entitled to receive distributions on the awarded LTIP units, as defined, equal to 10% of the regular quarterly distributions
paid on a unit of the Operating Partnership. As a result, we account for these LTIP units as participating securities under
the two class method of computing earnings per share. These are granted under The Simon Property Group, L.P. 2019
Stock Incentive Plan, or the 2019 Plan.

The grant date fair values of any LTIP units that are market-based awards are estimated using a Monte Carlo model,
and the resulting fixed expense is recorded regardless of whether the market condition criteria are achieved if the participant
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performs the required service period. The grant date fair values of the market-based awards are being amortized into
expense over the performance period, which is the grant date through the date at which the awards, if earned, become
vested. The expense of the performance-based award is recorded over the performance period, which is the grant date
through the date at which the awards, if earned, become vested, based on our assessment as to whether it is probable that
the performance criteria will be achieved during the applicable performance periods. The grant date fair values of any
restricted stock unit awards are recognized as expense over the vesting period.

2019 LTIP Program. In 2019, the Compensation and Human Capital Committee established and granted awards
under the 2019 LTIP Program. Awards under the 2019 LTIP Program will be considered earned if the respective
performance conditions (based upon Funds From Operations, or FFO, per share, and Objective Criteria Goals) and market
condition (based on Relative TSR performance), as defined in the applicable award agreements, are achieved during the
applicable three-year measurement period. All of the earned LTIP units under the 2019 LTIP Program vested on January 1,
2023. The 2019 LTIP Program provides that the amount earned of the performance-based portion of the awards is
dependent on Simon’s performance compared to certain criteria and in March 2022, the Compensation and Human Capital
Committee determined 72,442 performance based LTIP units under this program were earned.

2020 LTI Program. In 2020, the Compensation and Human Capital Committee established and granted awards
under the 2020 LTI Program, which consisted of a one-time grant of 312,263 time-based restricted stock units under the
2019 Plan at a grant date fair market value of $84.37 per share. One-third of these awards vested on each of January 1,
2022 and 2023, and the remaining awards vested on January 1, 2024. The grant date fair value of the awards of $26.3
million is being recognized as expense over the three-year vesting period.

2021 LTI Program. In 2021, the Compensation and Human Capital Committee established and granted awards
under the 2021 LTI Program. Awards under the 2021 LTI Program took the form of LTIP units and restricted stock units.
Awards of LTIP units under this program will be considered earned if the respective performance conditions (based on FFO
and Objective Criteria Goals) and market conditions (based on Absolute TSR performance), as defined in the applicable
award agreements, are achieved during the applicable three-year measurement period. Any units determined to be earned
LTIP units under the 2021 LTI Program will vest on January 1, 2025. The 2021 LTI Program provides that the amount
earned related to the performance-based portion of the awards is dependent on the Compensation and Human Capital
Committee’s determination that Simon’s FFO performance and achievement of certain objective criteria goals and has a
maximum potential fair value at grant date of $18.4 million. As part of the 2021 LTI Program, the Compensation and Human
Capital Committee also established a grant of 37,976 time-based restricted stock units under the 2019 Plan at a grant date
fair market value of $112.92 per share. These awards will vest, subject to the grantee's continued service, on March 1,
2024. The $4.3 million grant date fair value of these awards is being recognized as expense over the three-year vesting
period.

2022 LTI Program. In the first quarter of 2022, the Compensation and Human Capital Committee established and
granted awards under a 2022 Long-Term Incentive Program, or 2022 LTI Program. Awards under the 2022 LTI Program,
took the form of LTIP units and restricted stock units. Awards of LTIP units under this program will be considered earned
if the respective performance conditions (based on FFO and Objective Criteria Goals), subject to adjustment based upon
a TSR modifier, with respect to the FFO performance condition, as defined in the applicable award agreements, are
achieved during the applicable three-year measurement period. Any units determined to be earned LTIP units under the
2022 LTI Program will vest on January 1, 2026. The 2022 LTI Program provides that the amount earned related to the
performance-based portion of the awards is dependent on the Compensation and Human Capital Committee’s
determination that Simon’s FFO performance and achievement of certain objective criteria goals and has a maximum
potential fair value at grant date of $20.6 million. As part of the 2022 LTI Program, on March 11, 2022 and March 18, 2022,
the Compensation and Human Capital Committee also established grants of 52,673 time-based restricted stock units under
the 2019 Plan at a grant date fair market value of $130.05 and $130.84 per share. These awards will vest on March 11,
2025 and March 18, 2025. The $6.9 million grant date fair value of these awards is being recognized as expense over the
three-year vesting period.
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2023 LTI Program. In the first quarter of 2023, the Compensation and Human Capital Committee established and
granted awards under a 2023 Long-Term Incentive Program, or 2023 LTI Program. Awards under the 2023 LTI Program,
took the form of LTIP units and restricted stock units. Awards of LTIP units under this program will be considered earned
if the respective performance conditions (based on FFO and Objective Criteria Goals), subject to adjustment based upon
a TSR modifier, with respect to the FFO performance condition, as defined in the applicable award agreements, are
achieved during the applicable three-year measurement period. Any units determined to be earned LTIP units under the
2023 LTI Program will vest on January 1, 2027. The 2023 LTI Program provides that the amount earned related to the
performance-based portion of the awards is dependent on the Compensation and Human Capital Committee’s
determination that Simon’s FFO performance and achievement of certain objective criteria goals and has a maximum
potential fair value at grant date of $42.5 million. As part of the 2023 LTI Program, on March 1, 2023, the Compensation
and Human Capital Committee also established a grant of 64,852 time-based restricted stock units under the 2019 Plan at
a grant date fair market value of $121.25 per share. These awards will vest on March 1, 2026. The $7.9 million grant date
fair value of these awards is being recognized as expense over the three-year vesting period.

The Compensation and Human Capital Committee approved LTIP unit grants as shown in the table below. The
extent to which LTIP units were determined by the Compensation and Human Capital Committee to have been earned,
and the aggregate grant date fair value, are as follows:

Grant Date Target
Grant Date Fair Value  Value of Performance-

LTIP Awards LTIP Units Earned of TSR Award Based Awards
2021 LTIPAwards . .............. To be determined in 2024 $5.7 million $12.2 million
2022 LTIPAwards . .............. To be determined in 2025 — $13.7 million
2023 LTIPAwards . .............. To be determined in 2026 — $23.6 million

We recorded compensation expense, net of capitalization and forfeitures, related to LTIP programs of approximately
$26.7 million, $24.7 million, and $24.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units. The 2019 plan also provides for shares of restricted stock to be
granted to certain employees at no cost to those employees, subject to achievement of individual performance and certain
financial and return-based performance measures established by the Compensation and Human Capital Committee related
to the most recent year’s performance. Once granted, the shares of restricted stock then vest annually over a three-year
or a four-year period (as defined in the award). The cost of restricted stock grants, which is based upon the stock’s fair
market value on the grant date, is recognized as expense ratably over the vesting period. Through December 31, 2023 a
total of 5,858,453 shares of restricted stock, net of forfeitures, have been awarded under the 1998 plan, and 1,061,034
shares of restricted stock and RSUs have been awarded under the 2019 plan.

Information regarding restricted stock awards is summarized in the following table for each of the years presented:

For the Year Ended
December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Shares of restricted stock awarded during the year, net of forfeitures. . . . .. 227,232 160,259 42,036
Weighted average fair value of shares granted during theyear........... $ 11137 $ 12962 $117.52
Compensation expense, net of capitalization. . ........................ $ 16,356 $ 9,583 $ 8,817

We also maintain a tax-qualified retirement 401(k) savings plan and offer no other post-retirement or
post-employment benefits to our employees.
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Exchange Rights
Simon

Limited partners in the Operating Partnership have the right to exchange all or any portion of their units for shares
of common stock on a one-for-one basis or cash, as determined by Simon’s Board of Directors. The amount of cash to be
paid if the exchange right is exercised and the cash option is selected will be based on the trading price of Simon’s common
stock at that time. At December 31, 2023, Simon had reserved 55,235,238 shares of common stock for possible issuance
upon the exchange of units, stock options and Class B common stock.

The Operating Partnership

Limited partners have the right under the partnership agreement to exchange all or any portion of their units for
shares of Simon common stock on a one-for-one basis or cash, as determined by Simon in its sole discretion. If Simon
selects cash, Simon cannot cause the Operating Partnership to redeem the exchanged units for cash without contributing
cash to the Operating Partnership as partners’ equity sufficient to effect the redemption. If sufficient cash is not contributed,
Simon will be deemed to have elected to exchange the units for shares of Simon common stock. The amount of cash to
be paid if the exchange right is exercised and the cash option is selected will be based on the trading price of Simon’s
common stock at that time. The number of shares of Simon’s common stock issued pursuant to the exercise of the
exchange right will be the same as the number of units exchanged.

9. Lease Income

Fixed lease income under our operating leases includes fixed minimum lease consideration and fixed CAM
reimbursements recorded on a straight-line basis. Variable lease income includes consideration based on sales, as well
as reimbursements for real estate taxes, utilities, marketing, and certain other items including negative variable lease
income as discussed in Note 3.

For the Year Ended
December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Fixed leaseincome .......... ... ... $ 4,145,288 $ 3,858,592 $ 3,701,991
Variable leaseincome.......................... 1,019,047 1,046,583 1,034,728
Total leaseincome. .. ........ ... $ 5,164,335 $ 4,905,175 $ 4,736,719

Tenant receivables and accrued revenue in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets includes straight-line
receivables of $535.8 million and $546.5 million at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Minimum fixed lease consideration under non-cancelable tenant operating leases for each of the next five years
and thereafter, excluding variable lease consideration, as of December 31, 2023, is as follows:

2024 . $ 3,098,818
2025, 2,596,359
2026, . 2,065,777
2027 . 1,637,514
2028, 1,185,063
Thereafter . . ... 3,828,659

$ 14,412,190
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10. Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation

We are involved from time-to-time in various legal and regulatory proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of
our business, including, but not limited to, commercial disputes, environmental matters, and litigation in connection with
transactions such as acquisitions and divestitures. We believe that current proceedings will not have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations. We record a liability when a loss is considered probable
and the amount can be reasonably estimated.

Lease Commitments

As of December 31, 2023, we are subject to ground leases that cover all or a portion of 23 of our consolidated
properties with termination dates extending through 2090, including periods for which exercising an extension option is
reasonably assured. These ground leases generally require us to make fixed annual rental payments, or a fixed annual
rental payment plus a percentage rent component based upon the revenues or total sales of the property. In addition, we
have several regional office locations that are subject to leases with termination dates ranging from 2024 to 2034. These
office leases generally require us to make fixed annual rental payments plus pay our share of common area, real estate,
and utility expenses. Some of our ground and office leases include escalation clauses. All of our lease arrangements are
classified as operating leases. We incurred ground lease expense and office lease expense, which are included in other
expense and home office and regional expense, respectively, as follows:

For the Year Ended
December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Operating Lease Cost
Fixed 18aSe COSt. . . . oottt $ 34112 $ 30,257 $ 32,492
Variable lease cost . ......... ... . i 16,930 17,593 15,454
Subleaseincome . ... ... ... . — — (705)
Total operatingleasecost ............... ... ... .. .. ... .. ...... $ 51,042 $ 47,850 $ 47,241
For the Year Ended
December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Other Information
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities
Operating cash flows from operatingleases. ................... $ 50967 $ 47,754 $ 47,824
Weighted-average remaining lease term - operating leases. .. ....... 32.3years 32.7years 33.6 years
Weighted-average discount rate - operatingleases ................ 4.93% 4.87% 4.87%
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Future minimum lease payments due under these leases for years ending December 31, excluding applicable
extension options and renewal options unless reasonably certain of exercise and any sublease income, are as follows:

2024 . $ 33,822
2025 L 36,358
2026 . . 36,372
2027 . 36,401
2028 . e 36,427
Thereafter. . . ... 959,496
$ 1,138,876
Impactof discounting. . ......... ... . (654,015)
Operating lease liabilities. . . ... .. ... ... . $ 484,861

Insurance

We maintain insurance coverage with third-party carriers who provide a portion of the coverage for specific layers
of potential losses, including commercial general liability, fire, flood, extended coverage and rental loss insurance on all of
our properties in the United States as well as cyber coverage. The initial portion of coverage not provided by third-party
carriers may be insured through our wholly-owned captive insurance company, or other financial arrangements controlled
by us. If required, a third-party carrier has, in turn, agreed to provide evidence of coverage for this layer of losses under the
terms and conditions of the carrier’s insurance policy with us. A similar insurance policy written either through our captive
insurance company or other financial arrangements controlled by us also provides initial coverage for property insurance
and certain windstorm risks.

We currently maintain insurance coverage against acts of terrorism on all of our properties in the United States on
an “all risk” basis in the amount of up to $1 billion. Despite the existence of this insurance coverage, any threatened or
actual terrorist attacks where we operate could adversely affect our property values, revenues, consumer traffic and tenant
sales.

Hurricane Impacts

During the year ended December 31, 2021, we recorded $2.1 million as business interruption income, which was
recorded in other income in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income. During
the year ended December 31, 2021, we also recorded a $21.0 million gain related to property insurance recovery of
previously depreciated assets. This amount was recorded in (loss) gain on acquisition of controlling interest, sale or
disposal of, or recovery on, assets and interests in unconsolidated entities and impairment, net, in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

Guarantees of Indebtedness

Joint venture debt is the liability of the joint venture and is typically secured by the joint venture property, which is
non-recourse to us. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Operating Partnership guaranteed joint venture related
mortgage indebtedness of $139.2 million and $128.0 million, respectively. Mortgages guaranteed by the Operating
Partnership are secured by the property of the joint venture which could be sold in order to satisfy the outstanding obligation
and which have estimated fair values in excess of the guaranteed amount.
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Concentration of Credit Risk

Our U.S. Malls, Premium Outlets, and The Mills rely upon anchor tenants to attract customers; however, anchors
do not contribute materially to our financial results as many anchors own their spaces. All material operations are within
the United States and no customer or tenant accounts for 5% or more of our consolidated revenues.

11. Related Party Transactions
Transactions with Affiliates

Our management company provides office space and legal, human resource administration, property specific
financing and other support services to Melvin Simon & Associates, Inc., or MSA, a related party, for which we received a
fee of $0.6 million in each of 2023, 2022 and 2021. In addition, pursuant to management agreements that provide for our
receipt of a management fee and reimbursement of our direct and indirect costs, we have managed since 1993 two
shopping centers owned by entities in which David Simon and Herbert Simon have ownership interests, for which we
received a fee of $3.9 million, $3.8 million, and $3.5 million in 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

Transactions with Unconsolidated Joint Ventures

As described in Note 2, our management company provides management, insurance, and other services to certain
unconsolidated joint ventures. Amounts received for such services were $121.2 million, $112.1 million, and $102.1 million
in 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. During 2023, 2022, and 2021, we recorded development, royalty, and other fee
income, net of elimination, related to our unconsolidated international joint ventures of $13.3 million, $12.1 million, and
$12.4 million, respectively. The fees related to our international investments are included in other income in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income. Neither MSA, David Simon, or Herb
Simon have an ownership interest in any of our unconsolidated joint ventures, except through their ownership interests in
the Company or the Operating Partnership.

We have investments in retailers including J.C. Penney and SPARC Group, and these retailers are lessees at certain
of our operating properties. Lease income from the date of our investments in our consolidated statements of operations
and comprehensive income related to these retailers was $101.8 million, $83.8 million, and $82.5 million for the years
ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively, net of elimination.
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12. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Quarterly 2023 and 2022 data is summarized in the table below. Quarterly amounts may not sum to annual amounts
due to rounding.

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

2023
Totalrevenue. . ....................... $ 1,350,849 $ 1,369,601 $ 1,410,948 $ 1,527,438
Operating income before other items . . . . .. 662,723 657,925 694,234 792,139
Consolidated netincome................ 519,255 557,505 680,762 859,496
Simon Property Group, Inc.
Net income attributable to common

stockholders ........................ $ 451,827 $ 486,343 $ 594,139 $ 747,480
Net income per share — Basic and Diluted.. $ 138 $ 149 §$ 182 $ 2.29
Weighted average shares outstanding —

Basicand Diluted .................... 326,954,294 327,189,785 327,158,743 325,933,832
Simon Property Group, L.P.
Net income attributable to unitholders . . . .. $ 517,180 $ 556,556 $ 680,598 $ 858,783
Net income per unit — Basic and Diluted. .. $ 138 $ 149 § 182 § 2.29
Weighted average units outstanding —

Basicand Diluted .................... 374,245,604 374,423,175 374,816,882 374,864,197
2022
Totalrevenue......................... $ 1,295922 $ 1,279,842 $ 1,315,786 $ 1,399,898
Operating income before other items . . . . .. 620,391 626,761 652,196 684,205
Consolidated netincome................ 488,310 569,480 621,847 772,748
Simon Property Group, Inc.
Net income attributable to common

stockholders ........................ $ 426,630 $ 496,743 $ 539,038 $ 673,786
Net income per share — Basic and Diluted.. $ 130 $ 151 § 165 § 2.06
Weighted average shares outstanding —

Basicand Diluted .................... 328,606,352 328,444,627 327,286,003 326,953,791
Simon Property Group, L.P.
Net income attributable to unitholders . . ... $ 487,993 $ 568,289 $ 616,918 $ 771,195
Net income per unit — Basic and Diluted. .. $ 130 $ 151 § 165 § 2.06
Weighted average units outstanding —

Basicand Diluted . ................... 375,870,183 375,754,363 374,589,771 374,257,136
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Simon
Management's Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Simon maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act")) that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required
to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and
communicated to Simon’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures. Because of inherent limitations, disclosure controls and procedures,
no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance that the objectives
of disclosure controls and procedures are met.

Our management, with the participation of Simon’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated
the effectiveness of the design and operation of Simon’s disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2023.
Based on that evaluation, Simon’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of December 31,
2023, Simon’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective at a reasonable assurance level.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Simon is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal
control over financial reporting is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act as a process designed by, or under the
supervision of, Simon’s principal executive and principal financial officers and effected by Simon’s Board of Directors,
management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
and includes those policies and procedures that:

e Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect our transactions and
disposition of assets;

e Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and
expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and

e Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

We assessed the effectiveness of Simon’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023. In
making this assessment, we used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013). Based on that assessment and criteria, we believe
that, as of December 31, 2023, Simon’s internal control over financial reporting was effective.

Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm

The audit report of Ernst & Young LLP on their assessment of Simon's internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2023 is set forth within Iltem 8 of this Form 10-K.
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

During the year ended December 31, 2023, we implemented a new lease management application and a new
financial reporting consolidation software application, both of which are intended to increase the efficiency and
effectiveness of certain financial and business transaction processes. Neither implementation was a result of any identified
deficiencies in the previous processes. With respect to internal controls over financial reporting, we have updated our
controls, as necessary, to reflect the changes to our business processes and system environment.

There have been no other changes in Simon’s internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule
13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during the year ended December 31, 2023 that have materially affected,
or are reasonably likely to materially affect, Simon’s internal control over financial reporting.

The Operating Partnership
Management's Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Operating Partnership maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the
Exchange Act) that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in the reports
that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods
specified in the SEC's rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management,
including Simon’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosures. Because of inherent limitations, disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance that the objectives of disclosure controls and
procedures are met.

Our management, with the participation of Simon’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated
the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Operating Partnership’s disclosure controls and procedures as of
December 31, 2023. Based on that evaluation, Simon’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that,
as of December 31, 2023, the Operating Partnership’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective at a reasonable
assurance level.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Operating Partnership is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act as a process
designed by, or under the supervision of, Simon’s principal executive and principal financial officers and effected by Simon’s
Board of Directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that:

e  Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect our transactions and
disposition of assets;

e  Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and
expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and

e Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

We assessed the effectiveness of the Operating Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2023. In making this assessment, we used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013). Based on that
assessment and criteria, we believe that, as of December 31, 2023, the Operating Partnership’s internal control over
financial reporting was effective.
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Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm

The audit report of Ernst & Young LLP on their assessment of the Operating Partnership’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2023 is set forth within ltem 8 of this Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

During the year ended December 31, 2023, we implemented a new lease management application and a new
financial reporting consolidation software application, both of which are intended to increase the efficiency and
effectiveness of certain financial and business transaction processes. Neither implementation was a result of any identified
deficiencies in the previous processes. With respect to internal controls over financial reporting, we have updated our
controls, as necessary, to reflect the changes to our business processes and system environment.

There have been no other changes in the Operating Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting (as defined
in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during the year ended December 31, 2023 that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Operating Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting.
Item 9B. Other Information

During the fourth quarter of the year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Audit Committee of Simon’s
Board of Directors approved certain audit, audit-related and non-audit tax compliance and tax consulting services to be
provided by Ernst & Young LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm. This disclosure is made pursuant to
Section 10A(i)(2) of the Exchange Act as added by Section 202 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not Applicable.

Part lll

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive proxy statement for Simon’s
2024 annual meeting of stockholders to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A and the information included
under the caption "Information about our Executive Officers" in Part | hereof.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive proxy statement for Simon’s
2024 annual meeting of stockholders to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive proxy statement for Simon’s
2024 annual meeting of stockholders to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive proxy statement for Simon’s
2024 annual meeting of stockholders to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive proxy statement for Simon’s
2024 annual meeting of stockholders to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A.

The Audit Committee of Simon's Board of Directors pre-approves all audit and permissible non-audit services to be
provided by Ernst & Young LLP (PCAOB ID: 42), or Ernst & Young, Simon’s and the Operating Partnership’s independent
registered public accounting firm, prior to commencement of services. The Audit Committee has delegated to the Chairman
of the Audit Committee the authority to pre-approve specific services up to specified individual and aggregate fee amounts.
These pre-approval decisions are presented to the full Audit Committee at the next scheduled meeting after such approvals
are made. We have incurred fees as shown below for services from Ernst & Young as Simon’s and the Operating
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Partnership’s independent registered public accounting firm and for services provided to our managed consolidated and
joint venture properties and our consolidated non-managed properties. Ernst & Young has advised us that it has billed or
will bill these indicated amounts for the following categories of services for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively:

2023 2022
Audit Fees (1) . ... $ 5,506,000 $ 4,716,000
AuditRelated Fees (2) . ... ... 5,517,000 5,280,000
Tax Fees (3) ..o 283,000 464,000

All Other Fees — —

(1) Audit Fees include fees for the audits of the financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting and quarterly reviews for Simon and the Operating Partnership and services associated with the related SEC
registration statements, periodic reports, and other documents issued in connection with securities offerings. This
category may vary year-over-year and is directly tied to the level of capital market and transaction related activities in
any given year.

(2) Audit-Related Fees include audits of individual or portfolios of properties and schedules to comply with lender, joint
venture partner or contract requirements, services related to pre-implementation reviews of certain information
technology applications, audit services related to our employee benefit plan, and due diligence services for our
managed consolidated and joint venture entities and our consolidated non-managed entities. Our share of these
Audit-Related Fees was approximately 59% and 60% for the years ended 2023 and 2022, respectively.

(3) Tax Fees include fees for international and other tax consulting services, tax due diligence and tax return compliance
services associated with the tax returns for certain managed joint ventures as well as other miscellaneous tax
compliance services. Our share of these Tax Fees was approximately 59% and 81% for 2023 and 2022, respectively.
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Part IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) (1) Financial Statements

The following consolidated financial statements of Simon Property Group, Inc. and
Simon Property Group, L.P. are set forth in Part Il, item 8.

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Financial Statements of Simon Property Group, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income for the
years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2023,
2022 and 2021

Consolidated Statements of Equity for the years ended December 31, 2023,
2022 and 2021

Consolidated Financial Statements of Simon Property Group, L.P.

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income for the years
ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2023,
2022 and 2021

Consolidated Statements of Equity for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022
and 2021

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(2) Financial Statement Schedule

Simon Property Group, Inc. and Simon Property Group, L.P. Schedule Ill — Schedule
of Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation
Notes to Schedule Il

Other financial statement schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or
the required information is shown in the financial statements or notes thereto.

3) Exhibits
The Exhibit Index attached hereto is hereby incorporated by reference to this ltem.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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Exhibits
2.1

22

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

3.9

EXHIBIT INDEX

Separation and Distribution Agreement by and among Simon Property Group, Inc., Simon Property Group, L.P.,
Washington Prime Group Inc. and Washington Prime Group, L.P., dated as of May 27, 2014 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 29, 2014).

Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of November 14, 2020, by and among the
Taubman Parties and the Simon Parties (incorporated by reference to exhibit 2.1 of Simon Property Group Inc.’s
and Simon Property Group L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 16, 2020).

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Simon Property Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Appendix A of
Simon Property Group, Inc.’s Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed March 27, 2009).

Amended and Restated By-Laws of Simon Property Group, Inc. as adopted on March 20, 2017 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 24, 2017).

Certificate of Powers, Designations, Preferences and Rights of the 8%3% Series J Cumulative Redeemable
Preferred Stock, $0.0001 Par Value (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 20, 2004).

Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Participating Redeemable Preferred Stock (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 3.1 of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 15, 2014).

Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Limited Partnership of the Limited Partnership (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 of Simon Property Group, L.P.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed March 31, 2003).

Eighth Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of Simon Property Group, L.P. dated as of May 8,
2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
May 9, 2008).

Certificate of Designation of Series B Junior Participating Redeemable Preferred Units of Simon Property
Group, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of Simon Property Group, L.P.'s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q filed August 8, 2014).

Agreement between Simon Property Group, Inc. and Simon Property Group, L.P. dated March 7, 2007, but effective
as of August 27, 1999, regarding a prior agreement filed under an exhibit 99.1 to Form S-3/A of Simon Property
Group, L.P. on November 20, 1996 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 of Simon Property Group, L.P.'s Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed March 16, 2007).

Agreement between Simon Property Group, Inc. and Simon Property Group, L.P. dated April 29, 2009, but effective
as of October 14, 2004, regarding redemption of the Registrant's Series | Preferred Units (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 3.2 of Simon Property Group, L.P.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed May 8, 2009).

4.1(a) Indenture, dated as of November 26, 1996, by and among Simon Property Group, L.P. and The Chase Manhattan

4.2

9.1

9.2

Bank, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Simon Property Group, L.P.'s Registration Statement
on Form S-3 filed October 21, 1996 (Reg. No. 333-11491)).

Description of Each Registrant’'s Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934.

Second Amended and Restated Voting Trust Agreement, Voting Agreement and Proxy dated as of March 1, 2004
between Melvin Simon & Associates, Inc., on the one hand and Melvin Simon, Herbert Simon and David Simon on
the other hand (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 9.1 of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q filed May 10, 2004).

Voting Trust Agreement, Voting Agreement and Proxy dated as of March 1, 2004 between David Simon, Melvin

Simon and Herbert Simon (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 9.2 of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q filed May 10, 2004).
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Exhibits

101

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5*

10.6*

10.7*

10.8*

10.9*

10.10*

10.11*

10.12*

10.13*

10.14*

10.15*

10.16*

Form of the Indemnity Agreement between Simon Property Group, Inc. and its directors and officers (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s Form S-4 filed August 13, 1998 (Reg. No. 333-61399)).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of September 24, 1998, by and among Simon Property Group, Inc. and
the persons named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed October 9, 1998).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of August 27, 1999, by and among Simon Property Group, Inc. and the
persons named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 of the Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed
March 24, 2004 (Reg. No. 333-113884)).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of November 14, 1997, by and between O’Connor Retail Partners, L.P.
and Simon DeBartolo Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 of the Registration Statement on
Form S-3 filed December 7, 2001 (Reg. No. 333-74722)).

Simon Property Group, L.P. Amended and Restated 1998 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 10, 2014).

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Award Agreement under the Simon Property Group, L.P. 1998 Stock Incentive
Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
March 16, 2005).

Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the Simon Property Group, L.P. 1998 Stock
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed February 28, 2007).

Form of Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the Simon Property Group, L.P. 1998
Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed March 16, 2005).

Employment Agreement between Simon Property Group, Inc. and David Simon effective as of July 6, 2011
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 7,
2011).

First Amendment to Employment Agreement between Simon Property Group, Inc. and David Simon, dated as of
March 29, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed April 4, 2013).

Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Plan dated as of December 31, 2008 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed November 5, 2009).

Amendment — 2008 Performance Based-Restricted Stock Agreement dated as of March 6, 2009 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed November 5, 2009).

Certificate of Designation of Series 2010 LTIP Units of Simon Property Group, L.P. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.4 of Simon Property Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 19, 2010).

Form of Series 2010 LTIP Unit (Three Year Program) Award Agreement under the Simon Property Group, L.P. 1998
Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed March 19, 2010).

Form of Series 2010 LTIP Unit (Two Year Program) Award Agreement under the Simon Property Group, L.P. 1998
Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed March 19, 2010).

Form of Series 2010 LTIP Unit (One Year Program) Award Agreement under the Simon Property Group, L.P. 1998

Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed March 19, 2010).
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Exhibits
10.17*

10.18*

10.19*

10.20*

10.21*

10.22*

10.23*

10.24*

10.25*

10.26*

10.27*

10.28*

10.29*

10.30"

10.31*

10.32*

10.33*

10.34*

Certificate of Designation of Series CEO LTIP Units of Simon Property Group, L.P. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 of Simon Property Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 7, 2011).

Simon Property Group Series CEO LTIP Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of Simon
Property Group, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 7, 2011).

First Amendment to Simon Property Group Series CEO LTIP Unit Award Agreement dated as of December 22,
2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
February 28, 2012).

Second Amendment to Simon Property Group Series CEO LTIP Unit Award Agreement, dated as of March 29, 2013
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 4,
2013).

Simon Property Group Amended and Restated Series CEO LTIP Unit Award Agreement, dated as of December 31,
2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
January 2, 2014).

Certificate of Designation of Series 2011 LTIP Units of Simon Property Group, L.P. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.5 of Simon Property Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 7, 2011).

Form of Simon Property Group Series 2011 LTIP Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6
of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 7, 2011).

Certificate of Designation of Series 2012 LTIP Units of Simon Property Group, L.P. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 of Simon Property Group, L.P.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed May 11, 2012).

Amended and Restated Certificate of Designation of Series 2012 LTIP Units of Simon Property Group, L.P.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of Simon Property Group, L.P.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed
May 7, 2014).

Form of Simon Property Group Series 2012 LTIP Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed May 8, 2012).

Simon Property Group Amended and Restated Series 2012 LTIP Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 28, 2014).

Certificate of Designation of Series 2013 LTIP Units of Simon Property Group, L.P. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 of Simon Property Group, L.P.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed May 10, 2013).

Form of Simon Property Group Series 2013 LTIP Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3
of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 4, 2013).

Form of Simon Property Group Executive Officer LTIP Waiver, dated April 18, 2014 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 28, 2014).

Simon Property Group CEO LTIP Unit Adjustment Waiver, dated April 18, 2014 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 28, 2014).

Form of Simon Property Group Series 2014 LTIP Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed May 7, 2014).

Certificate of Designation of Series 2014 LTIP Units of Simon Property Group, L.P. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 of Simon Property Group, L.P.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed May 7, 2014).

Form of Simon Property Group Series 2015 LTIP Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3

of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A for the quarter ended March 31, 2015 filed on
January 13, 2016).
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Exhibits
10.35*

10.36"

10.37*

10.38*

10.39*

10.40*

10.41*

10.42*

10.43*

10.44*

10.45*

10.46

10.47*

10.48*

10.49*

Certificate of Designation of Series 2015 LTIP Units of Simon Property Group, L.P. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.4 of Simon Property Group, L.P.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A for the quarter ended March 31,
2015 filed on January 13, 2016).

Form of Simon Property Group Series 2016 LTIP Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s and Simon Property Group, L.P.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 2016 filed on May 5, 2016).

Form of Certificate of Designation of Series 2016 LTIP Units of Simon Property Group, L.P. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s and Simon Property Group, L.P.’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2016 filed on May 5, 2016).

Form of Simon Property Group Series 2018 LTIP Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s and Simon Property Group, L.P.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 2018 filed on May 3, 2018).

Form of Certificate of Designation of Series 2018 LTIP Units of Simon Property Group, L.P. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s and Simon Property Group, L.P.’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2018 filed on May 3, 2018).

Simon Property Group, L.P. 2019 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Simon Property
Group, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 8, 2019).

Form of Simon Property Group Series 2019 LTIP Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s and Simon Property Group, L.P.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended June 30, 2019 filed on August 7, 2019).

Form of Certificate of Designation of Series 2019 LTIP Units of Simon Property Group, L.P. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s and Simon Property Group, L.P.’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2019 filed on August 7, 2019).

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under Simon Property Group, L.P. 2019 Stock Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.48 of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
February 25, 2021).

Form of Simon Property Group Series 2021 LTIP Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s and Simon Property Group, L.P.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 2021 filed on May 10, 2021).

Form of Certificate of Designation of Series 2021 LTIP Units of Simon Property Group, L.P. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s and Simon Property Group, L.P.’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2021 filed on May 10, 2021).

Second Amended and Restated $3,500,000,000 Credit Agreement dated as of October 26, 2021 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 99.2 of Simon Property Group, L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 28, 2021).

Simon Property Group, Inc., 2022 Incentive Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Simon
Property Group, Inc.’s and Simon Property Group, L.P.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2022 filed on May 9, 2022).

Form of Simon Property Group Series 2022 LTIP Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s and Simon Property Group, L.P.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 2022 filed on May 9, 2022).

Form of Certificate of Designation of Series 2022 LTIP Units of Simon Property Group, L.P. (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s and Simon Property Group, L.P.’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2022 filed on May 9, 2022).
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Exhibits
10.50*

10.51

10.52*

10.53*

10.54*

10.55*

10.56*

21.1

231

23.2

31.1

31.2

31.3

31.4

32.1

32.2

97

101.INS

101.SCH

101.CAL

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of Simon Property
Group, Inc.’s and Simon Property Group, L.P.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,
2022 filed on May 9, 2022).

Third Amended and Restated $5,000,000,000 Credit Agreement, dated as of March 14, 2023 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 99.2 of Simon Property Group, Inc. and L.P.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 15,
2023).

Simon Property Group, Inc., 2023 Incentive Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Simon
Property Group, Inc.’s and Simon Property Group, L.P.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2023 filed on May 4, 2023).

Form of Simon Property Group Series 2023 LTIP Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3
of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s and Simon Property Group, L.P.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 2023 filed on May 4, 2023).

Form of Certificate of Designation of Series 2023 LTIP Units of Simon Property Group, L.P. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s and Simon Property Group, L.P.’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2023 filed on May 4, 2023).

Form of Simon Property Group 2023 Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.5 of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s and Simon Property Group, L.P.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended March 31, 2023 filed on May 4, 2023).

Amended and Restated Other Platform Investment Incentive Program (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of
Simon Property Group, Inc.’s Form 8-K/A filed on November 9, 2023).

List of Subsidiaries of Simon Property Group Inc. and Simon Property Group, L.P.
Simon Property Group, Inc. — Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.
Simon Property Group, L.P. — Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.

Simon Property Group, Inc. — Certification by the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Simon Property Group, Inc. — Certification by the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Simon Property Group, L.P. — Certification by the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Simon Property Group, L.P. — Certification by the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Simon Property Group, Inc. — Certification by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Simon Property Group, L.P. — Certification by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Simon Property Group, Inc. — Policy For Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation.

XBRL Instance Document — the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL
tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
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Exhibits

101.LAB

101.PRE

101.DEF

104

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

Cover Page Interactive File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

Does not include supplemental indentures that authorize the issuance of debt securities series, none of which
exceeds 10% of the total assets of Simon Property Group, L.P. on a consolidated basis. Simon Property Group, L.P.
agrees to file copies of any such supplemental indentures upon the request of the Commission.

Represents a management contract, or compensatory plan, contract or arrangement required to be filed pursuant to
Regulation S-K.

145



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, each Registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

SIMON PROPERTY GROUP, INC.

By /s/ DAVID SIMON

David Simon
Chairman of the Board of Directors, Chief
Executive Officer and President

Date: February 22, 2024

SIMON PROPERTY GROUP, L.P.

/s/ DAVID SIMON

David Simon

Chairman of the Board of Directors, Chief Executive
Officer and President of Simon Property Group, Inc.,
General Partner

Date: February 22, 2024

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of Simon Property Group, Inc., for itself and in its capacity as General Partner of Simon Property
Group, L.P., and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature

Capacity

Date

/s/ DAVID SIMON

David Simon

/sl HERBERT SIMON

Herbert Simon

/s/ RICHARD S. SOKOLOV

Richard S. Sokolov

/s/ LARRY C. GLASSCOCK

Larry C. Glasscock

/s/ REUBEN S. LEIBOWITZ

Reuben S. Leibowitz

/s/ RANDALL J. LEWIS

Randall J. Lewis

/s/ NINA P. JONES

Nina P. Jones

/s/ ALLAN HUBBARD

Allan Hubbard

/s/ DANIEL C. SMITH

Daniel C. Smith

Chairman of the Board of Directors, Chief

Executive Officer (Principal Executive

February 22, 2024

Officer) and President

Chairman Emeritus and Director

Vice Chairman and Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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February 22, 2024

February 22, 2024

February 22, 2024

February 22, 2024

February 22, 2024

February 22, 2024

February 22, 2024



Signature Capacity Date

EQSASYRIZI&ESDKIN Director February 22, 2024
/Gsfycril-p\_”i;sefppﬂ Director February 22, 2024
/Sst/;;nEl\:ége'\l?éSEUG Director February 22, 2024
ﬁ;x: :Tgt;.v:rr — Director February 22, 2024
/s/ PEGGY F. ROE Director February 22, 2024

Peggy F. Roe

/s/ BRIAN J. MCDADE

Brian J. McDade

/s/ ADAM J. REUILLE

Adam J. Reuille

Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

Senior Vice President and Chief Accounting
Officer (Principal Accounting Officer)
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Simon Property Group, Inc.
Simon Property Group, L.P.
Notes to Schedule lll as of December 31, 2023
(Dollars in thousands)

(1) Reconciliation of Real Estate Properties:

The changes in real estate assets for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 are as follows:

2023 2022 2021
Balance, beginningof year............ $ 37,879,778 $ 37,497,216 $ 37,608,638
Acquisitions and consolidations (7) . . 78,410 122,074 121,250
Improvements ................... 823,705 688,173 569,483
Disposals and deconsolidations . . . . . (55,593) (308,030) (655,482)
Currency Translation Adjustment . .. 58,618 (119,655) (146,673)
Balance, close ofyear ............... $ 38,784,918 $ 37,879,778 $ 37,497,216

The unaudited aggregate cost of domestic consolidated real estate assets for U.S. federal income tax purposes as
of December 31, 2023 was $23,409,301.

(2) Reconciliation of Accumulated Depreciation:

The changes in accumulated depreciation for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 are as follows:

2023 2022 2021
Balance, beginningofyear ............. $ 16,224,050 $ 15,304,461 $ 14,592,867
Depreciation expense (7)............ 1,193,391 1,075,391 1,083,705
Disposals and deconsolidations. . . . . .. (53,489) (180,091) (403,582)
Currency Translation Adjustment . .. .. (12,632) 24,289 31,471
Balance, closeofyear................. $17,351,320 $ 16,224,050 $ 15,304,461

Depreciation of our investment in buildings and improvements reflected in the consolidated statements of operations
and comprehensive income is calculated over the estimated original lives of the assets as noted below.

¢ Buildings and Improvements — typically 10-35 years for the structure, 15 years for landscaping and parking lot,
and 10 years for HVAC equipment.

¢ Tenant Allowances and Improvements — shorter of lease term or useful life.

(3) Initial cost generally represents net book value at December 20, 1993, except for acquired properties and new
developments after December 20, 1993. Initial cost also includes any new developments that are opened during
the current year. Costs of disposals and impairments of property are first reflected as a reduction to cost capitalized
subsequent to acquisition.

(4) Not developed/constructed by us or our predecessors. The date of construction represents the initial acquisition
date for assets in which we have acquired multiple interests.

(5) Initial cost for these properties is the cost at the date of consolidation for properties previously accounted for under
the equity method of accounting.

(6) Encumbrances represent face amount of mortgage debt and exclude any premiums or discounts and deferred
financing costs.

(7) Represents the original cost and does not include subsequent currency translation adjustments.
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INVESTOR INFORMATION

CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS

Simon Property Group, Inc.
225 West Washington Street
Indianapolis, IN 46204
317-636-1600

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

Computershare, our transfer agent,
maintains the records for our registered
shareholders and can assist you with

a variety of shareholder services
including address changes, certificate
replacement/transfer and dividends.

Shareholder correspondence:
Computershare

P.O. Box 43007

Providence, RI 02940-3007

Overnight correspondence:
Computershare

150 Royall St. Suite 101
Canton, MA 02021

800-454-9768 or
201-680-6578 (Outside the U.S.)
www.computershare.com/investor

DIRECT STOCK PURCHASE/
DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT
PROGRAM

Computershare administers a direct stock
purchase and dividend reinvestment plan
that allows interested investors to purchase
Simon Property Group stock directly,
rather than through a broker, and become
a registered shareholder. The program
offers many features including dividend
reinvestment. For detailed information,
contact Computershare at 800-454-9768 or
www.computershare.com/investor

WEBSITE

Information such as financial results,
corporate announcements, dividend news
and corporate governance is available on
Simon’s website: investors.simon.com

SHAREHOLDER INQUIRIES

800-461-3439
IRcontact@simon.com

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
Ernst & Young LLP

Indianapolis, IN

ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K

A copy of the Simon Property Group, Inc.
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with

the United States Securities and Exchange
Commission can be obtained free of
charge by:

Contacting the Investor Relations

Department at 800-461-3439 or
|IRcontact@simon.com; or

Accessing the Financials page of the
website at investors.simon.com

ANNUAL MEETING

The Annual Meeting of Shareholders

of Simon Property Group, Inc. will

be held on Wednesday, May 8, 2024 at
225 W. Washington St., Indianapolis, IN,
at 8:30 a.m. local time.

COMPANY SECURITIES

Simon Property Group, Inc. common stock and one issue of
preferred stock are traded on the New York Stock Exchange

(“NYSE”) under the following symbols:

Common Stock
8.375% Series J Cumulative Preferred

The quarterly price range on the NYSE for the common stock
and the dividends declared per share for each quarter in the last

two fiscal years are shown to the right.

DECLARED
2022 HIGH LOW CLOSE DIVIDENDS
First Quarter $165.83 $126.76 $131.56 $1.65
Second Quarter 135.63 93.20 94.92 1.70
Third Quarter 115.99 86.02 89.75 175
Fourth Quarter 121.98 89.11 1748 1.80
SPG
SPGPrJ DECLARED
2023 HIGH LOW CLOSE DIVIDENDS
First Quarter $133.08 $100.32 $ 111.97 $ 1.80
Second Quarter 116.86 10017 115.48 1.85
Third Quarter 125.68 10710 108.03 1.90
Fourth Quarter 146.91 10211 142.64 1.90

TOTAL RETURN PERFORMANCE

The line graph shown compares the percentage change in the cumulative

200 500 e $ 207.21 total shareholder return on our common stock compared to the
oot ®ees ..-" cumulative total return of the S&P 500 Index and the FTSE NAREIT
o0t "-.. L Equity Retail Index for the period December 31, 2018 through December
500C ° ° 31, 2023. The graph assumes an investment of $100 on December 31,
150 Leecc® ° 2018, a reinvestment of dividends and actual increase in the market
5000° ° - $ 120.56 value of the common stock relative to an initial investment of $100. The
° Pasmnbl TN _—mmm—— comparisons in this table are required by the Securities and Exchange
o = - Sm- $ 113.16 e . R f
100 ehs=T Seag g Commission and are not intended to forecast or be indicative of possible
pl TPt g future performance.
50 E E For more information
L i about Simon Investor
. Relations, scan the
" QR code.
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Simon Property Group, Inc.
=mm=  FTSE NAREIT Equity Retail Index
eeee* S&P 500 Index
2023
ANNUAL
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 RETURN
Simon Property Group, Inc. $ 100.00 $ 93.25 $ 5725 $ 112.09 $ 8753 $ 113.16 29.3%
S&P 500 Index $ 100.00 $ 13149 $ 155.68 $ 200.37 $ 164.08 $ 207.21 26.3%
FTSE NAREIT Equity Retail Index $ 100.00 $ 110.65 $ 8278 $ 12575 $ 109.04 $120.56 10.6%
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